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A WORD 
FROM Mauro	Ricci

Chairman	of	the	board	&	Group	CEO

THIS IS NOT THE FIRST 
CRISIS AKKA HAS 
EXPERIENCED. COPING 
WITH CHANGE IS IN OUR 
DNA, AS INNOVATION IS  
A NEVER-ENDING JOURNEY.
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Mauro	Ricci
Chairman	of	the	board	&	Group	CEO

Since its inception more than 35 years ago, AKKA’s 
expansion has been based on anticipating and 
adopting the many technological breakthroughs 
required to fuel the innovation cycle of our 
customers, by capitalizing on our in-depth expertise 
in the automotive, aeronautics and, more generally, 

mobility sectors. This organic growth has been reinforced over 
the last fifteen years by a selective acquisition strategy aimed at 
strengthening the Group's sectoral, technological and geographical 
positions. 

MOBILITY SECTORS STRONGLY IMPACTED 
This deliberate strategy has established the Group as an undis-
puted leader in the R&D market for the mobility sectors. AKKA 
enjoys a unique positioning, recognized as a specialist by the major 
players in these sectors, thanks to the unparalleled understanding 
that AKKA engineers have of their requirements and challenges, 
enabling us to accelerate innovation and the engineering of their 
products. 

During this unprecedented year of 2020, the various mobility sec-
tors have been strongly impacted by the severe restrictions on 
travel worldwide, and the Group's results have been significantly 
affected. The sectoral diversification that has been initiated in 
recent years through acquisitions or through cross-sectoral tech-
nological advancements, mainly digital, remains insufficient to 
compensate for the sharp reduction in activity in the Group's main 
sectors of activity, notably in civil aeronautics and automotive. 

PROTECTING OUR EMPLOYEES AND PARTNERS 
As soon as COVID-19 occurred, we took all necessary actions to 
protect all our employees and partners, while continuing to serve 
our customers efficiently, implementing the necessary measures to 
continue working from home where circumstances of the project 
allowed. I know that some of our staff and partners have been 
personally affected, directly or indirectly, and I would like to assure 
them of our support. 

This is not the first crisis AKKA has experienced. Coping with change is 
in our DNA, as innovation is a never-ending journey, and the Group's 
historical financial performance has always been solid through 
cycles. Although the COVID-19 crisis has not changed our strategy 
or our ambitions, it has nevertheless enabled us to face up to new 
realities, undoubtedly forcing us to rethink AKKA in an accelerated 
manner, and to address the crucial need for transformation and 
further consolidation of the Group after many years of steady growth. 

ACCELERATING OUR TRANSFORMATION 
This is why in 2020 we focused our efforts on accelerating our 
transformation in order to strengthen the Group's fundamentals, 
to restore its agility, leaving AKKA in the best possible position to 
take advantage of post-crisis opportunities. While we have had 
to adjust our capacities in certain business segments which are 
unlikely to return to normal levels of activity for several years, we 
have also endeavored to preserve the maximum number of skills. 

We have therefore launched a number of internal research pro-
grams through AKKA Research to ensure that the women and 
men who constitute the wealth of the Group continue to innovate 
to create solutions based on new technologies, upstream of our 
customers' innovation cycle, but also now with a view towards 
creating and developing intellectual property. 

The commercial repositioning towards new diversification sectors 
has also been strengthened and supported by our reinforced 
expertise in digital technologies, which are essentially transversal 
to the different sectors of activity. 

A STRUCTURED AND STRENGTHENED DIGITAL 
OFFERING 
The completion of the acquisition of Data Respons has strength-
ened and structured the digital positioning of the Group, which 
now benefits from more than 40% of its workforce specializing 
in these technologies. In order to further strengthen its expertise, 
continue to enhance its offerings and increase the added value 
of its consultants, AKKA has designed a comprehensive learning 
strategy to better meet the digital needs of our clients. An ambitious 
reskilling program has been created, and nearly 1000 engineers in 
France and Germany have already completed or are in the process 
of completing these in-depth training programs. Our ambition is 
to increase this number to up to 3,000 reskilled consultants by the 
end of 2022. Two other programs have been designed to enable 
business managers to better identify digital project opportunities 
with our clients and to train the Group's recruiters on the specificities 
of digital and IT talent acquisition. 

In addition, as the engineering talent pool is now a global one, 
AKKA wishes to increase its development in certain countries such 
as the Czech Republic, Turkey, Romania, Morocco and India, as 
part of an Extended Teams approach. Access to this broader pool 
of highly skilled engineering talent, will enable us to better support 
our clients in their global needs. 

Our determination to implement our transformation plan, simplify 
the organization and strictly control its cost base has enabled 
the Group to return to profitability in the second half of the year 
(operating profit (adjusted). 

To prepare for the future and the next cycle, AKKA has also 
taken the appropriate measures to strengthen its balance sheet 
by implementing a reserved capital increase. The Ricci family 
has demonstrated its confidence and commitment to the Group 
by reinvesting 50 million euros alongside its new strategic inves-
tor, who has invested 150 million euros. Compagnie Nationale à 
Portefeuille (CNP), a long-term investor with family capital, has 
become a long-term partner of AKKA and its management and 
has the necessary assets to support the Group's operational and 
financial development. 

Our solid fundamentals, combined with the wealth of our know-
how and skills, puts us in a very good position to benefit from the 
recovery in global demand that is sure to materialize. 
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Presentation of the Group
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AKKA 
in brief

AKKA is a European leader in engineering consulting and R&D 
services. Our comprehensive portfolio of digital solutions combined 
with our expertise in engineering, uniquely positions us to support 
our clients by leveraging the power of connected data, to accelerate 
innovation and drive the future of smart industry. 

AKKA accompanies leading industry players across a wide range of 
sectors throughout the life cycle of their products with cutting edge 
digital technologies (AI, ADAS, IoT, Big Data, robotics, embedded 
computing, machine learning, etc.) to help them rethink their 
products and business processes. 

Founded in 1984, AKKA has a strong entrepreneurial culture and a 
wide global footprint. 

Our 21,000 employees around the world are all passionate about 
technology and share the AKKA values of respect, courage and 
ambition. The Group recorded revenues of €1.5 billion in 2020. 

AKKA Technologies (AKA) is listed on Euronext Paris and Brussels – 
segment B – ISIN code: FR0004180537.

For more information, please visit:  
https://www.akka-technologies.com/



9	 - Annual report 2020

REVENUE OPERATING PROFIT
(AJUSTED)*

FREE CASH  
FLOW

REVENUE  
BY GEOGRAPHY 

NUMBER  
OF EMPLOYEES

21,080

€1,503 M
-16.5%�vs.	2019 -86.4% vs.	2019 +8.4%�vs.	2019

€20 M €142 M

29 
COUNTRIES
120 CITIES

A WORLDWIDE 
PRESENCE

2020 key figures

* Operating profit (adjusted): Income from operations increased by comparability adjustments (expenses and income related to significant 
acquisitions, reorganizations, litigation, transformation, amortization of intangible assets identified in business combinations, stock options and 
bonus shares, costs related to the COVID crisis)

 France 32%

  Germany 26%

  North America 18%

 Europe 15%

  Rest of world 2%

  Scandinavian 
countries 7%

REVENUE  
BY BUSINESS SEGMENT 

 Automotive 35%

  Aerospace 33%

 Railways 5%

 Energy 5%

  Services 5%

 Life Sciences 6%

  Telecom 5%

 Others 6%

Mobility
73%



10  - Annual report 2020

Presentation of the Group01

Our talent

80% 
of engineers with  
a master’s degree

After the success of its first 
AKKAdemy in Geneva, AKKA 

has opened a new AKKAdemy in 
Leipzig in 2019 with the ambition 
to increase the number of digital 

experts in the Group by 450. These 
new competencies are key in 

supporting our strategic clients.

60%  
"Generations Y and Z"

* on the total number of employees in the scope of the non-financial report

Recognized 
as a TOP 

Employer in 
France and 

Belgium

* *
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Governance

1   MAURO RICCI, Chairman of the board & Group CEO

After	a	career	at	Renault	Automation,	Mauro	Ricci	founded	HYSYS	in	1984	in	order	to	
tackle	the	problems	of	recruiting	engineers	in	the	automotive	sector. 
This	company	provided	manufacturers	with	technological	support	in	industrialization	
and	production,	as	well	as	consulting	services	aimed	at	improving	productivity.	Mauro	
went	on	to	found	three	more	companies	between	1984	and	1999	to	supplement	HYSYS’	
offering.	In	anticipation	of	market	developments,	he	merged	those	four	companies	
into	one:	AKKA,	and	introduced	a	Group	strategy	in	1999	to	provide	a	comprehensive	
research	and	development	service	to	its	clients.	As	Chairman	and	CEO	of	AKKA,	Mauro	
Ricci	drives	the	Group’s	strategic	direction	to	diversify	its	sectoral	exposure	and	pursue	
international	development,	in	order	to	accompany	the	world’s	major	global	groups	
throughout	their	complete	innovation	and	R&D	cycle.

2   JEAN-FRANCK RICCI, Group Managing Director

Jean-Franck	Ricci	joined	HYSYS	as	Technical	Director	in	1988,	four	years	after	the	Group	
was	founded.	He	subsequently	became	Managing	Director	of	AKKA	Ingénierie	Produit,	
the	Group’s	primary	business	unit	at	the	time	and	successfully	oversaw	the	international	
development	of	the	Group	at	AKKA	Development.	Jean-Franck	now	holds	the	position	
of	Group	Managing	Director	and	is	most	notably	in	charge	of	Business	Development	
and	Sales.

3  NATHALIE BÜHNEMANN, Group CFO

Nathalie	Bühnemann	joined	AKKA	in	late	2013,	having	worked	with	the	Group	as	an	
external	consultant	during	the	acquisition	of	MBtech	in	2012.	Prior	to	this,	she	worked	at	
PricewaterhouseCoopers	for	nearly	13	years,	where	she	carried	out	audit,	consulting	and	
transaction	(M&A)	assignments	for	companies	of	all	sizes,	across	multiple	industries	and	
geographical	regions.	Nathalie	first	held	the	position	of	Group	Finance	Director	before	
becoming	Group	CFO	in	2018.	She	has	been	in	charge	of	all	Group	support	functions	
since	late	2020.

4  PAOLO DEL NOCE, CEO BU France 

Paolo	del	Noce	joined	the	AKKA	Group	in	2014.	He	was	previously	Director	of	Program	
Management	at	COMAU,	an	Italian	engineering	company,	Purchasing	Director	and	
Citybus	Platform	Director	at	Irisbus	(France),	and	General	Manager	of	Defense,	Bus	and	
Firefighting	at	Iveco	(Latin	America).	Since	joining	AKKA,	Paolo	DEL	NOCE	has	held	
the	role	of	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	French	business	unit,	where	he	is	now	driving	
transformation	and	diversification.	

5  DERRICK ZECHMAIR, CEO BU Germany

Derrick	ZECHMAIR	has	held	various	management	positions	in	the	automotive	industry,	
both	in	Germany	and	internationally	in	leading	companies	such	as	Siemens	and	
Continental.	In	2012	he	joined	Valeo	Germany,	where	his	responsibilities	included	the	
market	launch	of	innovative	products.	He	became	President	of	the	company	in	June	2016.	
Derrick	joined	AKKA	in	October	2019	as	Deputy	Managing	Director	of	AKKA	Germany	
before	becoming	Chief	Executive	Officer	of	the	BU	in	January	2020.	

EXECUTIVE BOARD

6   KENNETH RAGNVALDSEN, CEO of Data Respons & Northern 
Europe

Kenneth	Ragnvaldsen	is	an	economist	by	training	and	holds	an	MBA	from	the	BI	Norwegian	
School	of	Management.	After	three	years	in	finance,	sales,	and	marketing,	Kenneth	joined	
Data	Respons	in	1995	as	the	Director	of	Sales	and	Marketing,	before	being	appointed	CEO	in	
2003.	Since	the	acquisition	of	Data	Respons	by	AKKA	in	March	2020,	Kenneth	has	continued	
as	CEO	of	Data	Respons	and	is	now	also	CEO	of	AKKA	Northern	Europe.

7  DHARAM SHEROAN, CEO AKKA North America

Dharamveer	Sheroan	has	over	15	years	of	leadership	experience	in	the	United	States,	
Europe,	and	India	at	Wipro	Limited	–	a	global	information	technology,	consultancy,	and	
engineering	services	company.	His	most	recent	position	there	was	Global	Head	of	the	
automotive	vertical.	Prior	to	that,	Dharam	led	the	aerospace	and	defense	vertical	and	
headed	the	strategy	and	large	transaction	functions	for	the	Manufacturing	&	HiTech	
business	unit.	As	CEO	of	AKKA	North	America	since	March	2021,	Dharam	is	responsible	for	
leading	the	teams	in	the	US	and	Canada,	as	well	as	developing	AKKA’s	presence	in	India.

8  PRIMO MEREGALLI, CEO of International BU

Primo	Meregalli	has	over	30	years	of	experience	in	the	consulting	industry.	In	1990,	 
Primo	founded	a	software	company,	which	merged	with	Cedati	S.p.A	in	1995.	 
He	became	CEO	of	Cedati	S.p.A.	in	2006	and	following	the	merger	of	Cedati	with	Altran	
Italy	in	2008,	Primo	joined	the	Board	of	Directors	of	Altran	and	was	appointed	Director	
of	the	Automotive,	Infrastructure,	and	Transport	division.	At	the	end	of	2012,	he	was	
appointed	COO	of	the	company	and	was	also	responsible	for	business	development	in	
Turkey	and	Romania.	Primo	joined	AKKA	in	July	2016	as	CEO	Southern	Europe	before	
becoming	CEO	of	the	International	BU.	

9   STÉPHANIE BIA, Group Director of Communications  
and Investor Relations

Stephanie	Bia	joined	AKKA	in	May	2020	as	Director	of	Communications	and	Investor	
Relations,	having	held	the	same	position	at	Altran,	a	group	she	joined	in	2017.	 
Stephanie	had	previously	spent	nearly	15	years	in	the	stock	market	sector	and	more	
than	four	years	at	FTI	Consulting,	where	she	was	heavily	involved	in	corporate,	financial,	
and	crisis	communications.	At	AKKA,	Stephanie	is	responsible	for	all	the	Group’s	
communications	and	marketing,	promoting	AKKA’s	image	and	highlighting	its	expertise	
and	ambitions	whilst	asserting	its	identity	and	communicating	its	values	to	a	range	of	
internal	and	external	audiences.

64 75 8 9

1 32
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History and growth 

AKKA Technologies was 
founded in 1984 and in just over 
30 years it has grown from a 
French automotive engineering 
company to Europe’s leading 
global technology consultancy, 
operating in a range of business 
sectors: automotive, aerospace, 
rail, life sciences, energy and 
defence.

The Group now employs over 
21,000 employees, spread across 
Europe, America, Asia and the 
Middle East.

In recent years, the Group 
has stepped up its targeted 
acquisition strategy while 
expanding its global reach and 
strengthening its position in the 
European and North American 
markets.

1984 1995

DESIGN OFFICE,
PROCESS

DESIGN, 
POWERTRAIN, 

VEHICLE 
ARCHITECTURE
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2001 2007 2009 2012-2015 2018…

ADVANCED DRIVER 
ASSISTANCE SYSTEMS 

(ADAS)

EMBEDDED IT DIGITALIZATION

DOWNSTREAM 
AEROSPACE

MECHATRONIC, 
ELECTRIC & HYBRIDS
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AKKA Services SASAKKA GmbH & Co AKKA International AKKA DEVELOPMENT DATA Respons ASAKKA Dev USAKKA Group USA Inc. 

AKKA SlovakiaAKKA Slovakia

AEROCONSEIL

AKKA I&S

AKKA Ingénierie Produit

EKIS

MATIS

AKKA Concept

AKKA CONSULTING

AKKA Czech Republic

AKKA EMC

AKKA Hungary Enginneering
 and Consulting Llc

ATP Automotive Testing 
Papenbourg

MBTECH MUHENDISLIK VE 
DANISMANLIK Ltd Sirketi

MB SIM TECHNOLOGY

AKKA BELGIUM

AKKA DEUTSCHLAND

AKKA Development UK Limited

AKKA Italia

AKKA Netherlands

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SPAIN

AKKA ROMSERV

AKKA SWITZERLAND

BERTONE Digital Mobility SRL

THE AKKADEMY SWITZERLAND

AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU 
NORD

AKKA MIDDLE EAST DMCC

AKKA MIDDLE EAST LLC

AKKA SINGAPORE

AKKA Technologies Mühendislik Ve 
Danismanliklimited sirketi

GLOBAL SUPPORT SUPPLIER

Data Respons Solutions AS

Data Respons R&D Services AS

Data Respons Solutions AB

Sylog Sverige AB

inContext AB

Data Respons Solutions Gmbh

Tech People A/S

Data Respons Solutions A/S

EPOS CAT Gmbh

IT SONIX Custom Development 
Gmbh

XPURE Gmbh

DONAT Group Gmbh

PDS TECH

AKKA AUSTRIA

AKKA DCE

AKKA EMV

AKKA GERMANY

AKKA Management Services

AKKA Services GmbH

AKKA GROUP NORTH 
AMERICA

EKIS France

AKKA High Tech

AKKA Transafrica

AKKA DNO

AKKA DSO

AKKA DSW

ERLKONIG Management 
Consulting Beijing

AKKA GEC Singapore

AKKA Japan

AKKA Technologies Beijing

Elektronische 
Fahrwerksysteme

B.U. France

Legend

B.U. Germany

B.U. North America

DATA Respons

B.U. International

Autres

71,67%

51%

60%

83%

100%

AKKA Automotive Engineering

AKKA Verwaltungsgesellschaft

Others

Presentation of the Group01

The Group’s simplified 
structure as at December 31st, 2020

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE
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AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE
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At the forefront of the digital world and Industry 4.0, 
AKKA is an innovation accelerator for the world’s 
largest industry players. 
Digital transformation is radically altering the design and the very nature of products and 
services, and driving constant change in user behavior and technologies. 

AKKA supports its clients in addressing this challenge throughout the life cycle of their 
products, by providing its expertise in the technological environment of the product,  
competencies in systems integration and mastery of digital technologies, to help them 
rethink their products and services.

Presentation of the Group01

Group Strategy 
PURSUING ADVANCEMENTS IN DIGITAL AND TECHNOLOGIES OF THE FUTURE

LARGE INDUSTRY 
PLAYERSINNOVATION

DIGITAL

INDUSTRIE 4.0
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The Group now generates 75% of its revenue 
in digital and embedded computing, whereas 
this represented 20% of the Group’s revenue less 

than 15 years ago.

Through its unique transversal approach and its multidisciplinary and technology skills,  
AKKA boosts innovation across all the industrial sectors it serves by exploiting the best solutions 

and state-of-the-art technologies. 

The acquisition of Data Respons in March 2020 
marked a key stage in the investment AKKA is  
making to acquire deep expertise in the technol-
ogies of the future in order to capitalize on the 
opportunities offered by the need for digital con-
tinuity in the mobility sector. Digital technologies, 
automation, the Internet of Things and mecha-
tronics are cross-sectoral competencies that are 
highly sought-after by players in the automotive, 
aeronautic, and rail sectors but are just as crucial 
to the development of many other industrial and 
service sectors. 

ACQUISITION OF DATA 
RESPONS FINALIZED

€240M

2007 2020

€1.5 B

 Mechanical & Design 80%

  Embedded IT 20%

 Digtal  40%

  Embedded IT 35%

 Mechanical & Design 25%

MECHATRONICSINTERNET  
OF THINGS

DIGITAL 
TECHNOLOGIES

AUTOMATION
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Over the past 15 years, the Group has 
pursued a strategy of both sectoral and 
geographical diversification, which today 
allows it to benefit from a much more bal-
anced distribution of the areas of activity in 
its business model. While AKKA has estab-
lished itself as the leading European con-
sultancy group for engineering and R&D 
services in the field of mobility, non-mo-
bility sectors now account for 26% of the 
Group’s revenue. Its external growth policy 
has also enabled AKKA to greatly diversify 
its geographical footprint, since France – 
the Group’s original seat of activity – now 
accounts for less than a third of its business.

The Group’s 26 centers of excellence focus  
on international work packages, offering unique 
expertise in eight key business areas: 

A DIVERSIFICATION STRATEGY

A COMPREHENSIVE OFFERING FOR THE COMPLETE LIFE CYCLE

THE GROUP HAS PURSUED 
A STRATEGY OF BOTH 
SECTORAL AND GEOGRAPHICAL 
DIVERSIFICATION, WHICH TODAY 
ALLOWS IT TO BENEFIT FROM 
A MUCH MORE BALANCED 
DISTRIBUTION OF THE AREAS OF 
ACTIVITY IN ITS BUSINESS MODEL. 

SYSTEMS ENGINEERING
Our teams develop complex systems (needs 
analysis and functional specifications) – from 
design to integration – covering major key 
developments including complexity, certifi-
cation, flexibility, and cost-efficiency.

CONSULTING
Our organizational experts support our 
clients in three main areas: the manage-
ment of large projects, outsourcing, and 
performance management.

INFORMATION SYSTEMS
Our consultants are involved from the blue-
print creation stage, through assistance 
with project contracting and management, 
to third-party application maintenance in 
service centers. Our centers of excellence, 
supported by our AKKA Research R&D 
center, offer strong skills in cutting-edge 
technologies such as mobile solutions, web 
portals, the cloud and analytics.

DIGITALIZATION
Our experts in connectivity (Internet of 
Things), Big Data and AI, visualization tech-
nologies (augmented and virtual reality, 
3D), additive printing and cyber security 
support the digital transformation of com-
panies, products, processes and tools to 
make them more efficient.

MECHANICAL ENGINEERING
Our teams are engaged in the product 
design and development phases, provid-
ing high added-value support in studies, 
calculations, simulations, materials, test-
ing, and quality.

PROCESS ENGINEERING
Our consultants are also involved in three 
areas of the industrialization phase, as-
sisting with:

 ■  Project contracting and manage-
ment, providing support in workshops 
and factories and related means of 
production

 ■ Supply chain management
 ■  Production, in manufacturing engi-

neering and industrialization support.

EMBEDDED SOFTWARE & 
ELECTRONICS
Our teams develop embedded and elec-
tronic systems, scientific data processing 
applications and test benches. The Group’s 
expertise in embedded systems also allows 
us to be part of the production life cycle, 
through software maintenance, develop-
ment, and re-engineering.

SUPPORT ENGINEERING
We offer both documentation services 
(creating technical documents, managing 
technical data, structuring, processing, and 
visualization) and support for operations to 
optimize product maintenance or to de-
velop products during their production life 
cycle, for example with our aircraft modifi-
cation offering.
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The Group’s expertise provides AKKA with a solid foundation that is further strengthened by its 
policy of growth, both organically and through acquisitions. AKKA has now entered a phase of 
consolidation and optimization of its organizations and modes of operation, with the purpose 
of�restoring�its�agility,�increasing�its�operating�efficiency,�and�better�adapting�to�changing�
demand in terms of sectors and skills. 

A TRANSFORMATION PLAN

FIT-2-CLEAR
At the end of 2019, AKKA set out an ambitious transformation plan: Fit 2 Clear. Implementation 
of the plan has since been accelerated, and its objectives have been made even more proac-
tive due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The aim is to lower the Group’s profitability threshold and 
increase its operating leverage ahead of the relaunch of major programs by key customers.

A COMPREHENSIVE TRAINING PROGRAM
In order to better meet the digital needs of its clients and continue to optimize its offerings, 
AKKA has designed, and is implementing, a comprehensive training program to provide 
consultants and managers with the tools and knowledge they need to drive digital trans-
formation for AKKA and its clients.

A�UNIQUE�RESKILLING�PROGRAM
Designed to capitalize on the expertise of the Group’s engineers and offer them new pro-
fessional opportunities in the digital world. Nearly 1,000 engineers in France and Germany 
have already completed or are in the process of completing these programs, which include 
in-depth training sessions on IT and digital skills and competencies, such as software devel-
opment, cloud computing, cybersecurity, data, and agility. 

TWO FURTHER PROGRAMS, DESIGNED FOR BUSINESS MANAGERS  
AND RECRUITERS
Their objectives is to enable business managers to better identify opportunities for digital 
projects for clients and train the Group’s recruiters on the specifics of digital and IT talent 
acquisition.

EXTENDED TEAMS
As AKKA counts some of the world’s largest industry players as its clients, the Group must be 
present in all the countries in which its clients are present.

GIVEN�THAT�THE�ENGINEERING�TALENT�POOL�IS�NOW�A�GLOBAL�ONE, a growing proportion of 
engineers are now trained outside the Group's historical geographical areas, particularly in 
India. This is why, as part of its transformation plan, AKKA wishes to step up its development 
in certain countries such as the Czech Republic, Turkey, Romania, Morocco and India, as part 
of an Extended Teams approach. 

THESE�RESOURCES,�WITH�SOLID�ENGINEERING�BACKGROUNDS�AND�TRAINED�IN�SIGNIFICANT�
NUMBERS�IN�COUNTRIES�WHERE�WAGE�COSTS�ARE�LOWER, will complement the resources of 
the group's various business units, under the responsibility of their respective CEOs. The 
CEOs will thus have a global overview of their resources and will ensure that the quality of 
the projects delivered to clients is maintained, while controlling the cost of these projects.

The costs associated with implementing the Fit 2 Clear transformation plan are 
estimated at approximately €100 million, spread over the 2020 and 2021 financial 
years. The return on investment of this project which began to bear fruit in 2020, 
is estimated at 18 months.

The Group’s 
far-reaching 

transformation 
will enable AKKA 

to emerge from 
the crisis with 

restored agility 
and a complete 

repositioning 
of its skills. The 

Group will share 
its new ambitions 

for the medium 
term at the end 

of 2021.
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Share history and ownership 02

1. SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE

SHAREHOLDING  
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020

 RICCI family  38.90%
  Compagnie Nationale 21.36% 
à Portefeuille 
(via Swilux SA)

 Other shareholders  37.64%
  Treasury shares 2.10%

MARKET CAPITALIZATION
AS	AT	DECEMBER	31,	2020

NUMBER OF EXISTING 
SHARES

€574 M

31,210,078

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE: SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE AS OF 31 12 2020

Shareholders Shares Percentage of Shares Voting Rights Percentage of Voting Rights

Mauro RICCI(1) 9,448,284 30.27 16,225,531 41.46

Jean-Franck RICCI(2) 986,715 3.16 1,921,599 4.91

Nicolas VALTILLE(3) 246,491 0.79 461,847 1.18

Nathalie BÜHNEMANN (4) 96,515 0.31 96,515 0.25

Cécile MONNOT 476,286 1.53 476,286 1.22

Benjamin RICCI 464,875 1.49 464,875 1.19

Charlotte RICCI 420,324 1.35 420,324 1.07

Total family Group Ricci 12,139,490 38.90 20,066,977 51.27

SWILUX�SA�(CNP) 6,666,667 21.36 6,666,667 17.03

Other shareholders 12,403,921 39.74 12,403,921 31.7

(1)  Shares/voting rights held by Mauro Ricci, BMC Management and Investment SRL, Caloumat Invest SRL, Ideactive Events Sàrl and Campus 
Rocquencourt SAS.

(2) Shares/voting rights held by Jean-Franck Ricci and HR Management and Investment SRL.
(3) Shares/voting rights held by Nicolas Valtille and Valvest Management SRL.
(4) Shares/voting rights held by Nathalie Buhnemann and Esta Management SRL.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN EUROS)DIVIDENDS

SHARE DATA

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

2020-8.26

3.38

2.37

2019

2018

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
need to concentrate the Group’s resources 
on managing the crisis, the Board of 
Directors decided that no dividend would be 
paid for the 2019 financial year. The Board 
of Directors will ask the General Meeting 
in June 2021 to approve its proposal not to 
pay a dividend for the 2020 financial year, 
so as to protect employees’ jobs and skills, 
and to finance AKKA’s transformation in 
order to support its clients when they step 
up their R&D investments again.

YEAR High�(€) Low�(€) Year-end�(€) Average daily trading volume

2016 35.00 23.76 34.63 28,987

2017 51.80 34.76 46.30 24,694

2018 69.20 42.35 44.20 42,607

2019 70.50 42.20 65.50 48,307

2020 62.27 14.54 25.75 93,139

MAY 2021 JUNE 2021 JULY 2021 AUGUST 2021 SEPTEMBER 2021 OCTOBER 2021 NOVEMBER 2021

THURSDAY, MAY 6, 2021
Revenue for Q1 2021

WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 8, 2021
Half-year results for 2021

TUESDAY, JUNE 15, 2021 
Annual General Meeting

THURSDAY, 
NOVEMBER 4, 
2021
Revenue for Q3 
2021

AKKA Technologies SE shares are listed on 
the Eurolist market (segment B) of Euronext 
Paris and Brussels and are part of the CAC 
Mid&Small, CAC Industrials, and Family 
Business indices.

ISIN code: FR0004180537

FOR UPDATED FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION, VISIT:

www.akka-technologies.com
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2. CORPORATE FORM AND PURPOSE

Share history and ownership 02

ARTICLE 1 – FORM - DENOMINATION
The company has the legal form of a European public limited 
company, or “Societas Europaea”, which makes or has made a 
public call on savings. 

Its name is “AKKA TECHNOLOGIES”. 

This name is always preceded or followed by “Societas Europaea” 
or the abbreviation “SE”. 

ARTICLE 2 - REGISTERED OFFICE 
The company’s registered office is in the Brussels Region. 

The registered office may be transferred to any other location in 
the French-speaking Region of Belgium or the Brussels-Capital 
Region by simple decision of the Board of Directors published 
in the Annexes to the Moniteur Belge (Belgian Official Gazette). 
The Board of Directors has full powers to amend the Articles of 
Association following a decision to transfer the registered office, in 
accordance with Article 2:4(2) of the Belgian Code on Companies 
and Associations. The registered office may also be transferred 
to another Member State of the European Union in accordance 
with Articles 15:24 et seq. of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations. 

By simple decision of the Board of Directors, the company may set 
up administrative offices, branches, agencies, depots and outlets 
in Belgium or abroad. 

The company’s email address is as follows: shareholders@akka.eu 
In accordance with Article 2:31 of the Belgian Code on Companies 
and Associations, any communication sent to that address by 
holders of shares issued by the company is deemed to have been 
validly made. 

ARTICLE 3 - CORPORATE PURPOSE 
In any country, the company’s purpose is: 

 ■  the acquisition, administration and management of a port-
folio of investment and company securities, 

 ■  the acquisition of interests in any industrial, commercial and/
or services company, the creation and/or acquisition of any 
business interests or branches of businesses involved in the 
field of workflow management, including the design, study and 
production of industrial automation equipment and systems, 

 ■  the management and coordination of any company, notably 
for the performance of all management and control offices, 
and the provision of any commercial, administrative, infor-
mation technology or other services, as well as employee 
training, and management and financial advisory services, 

 ■  the trading and supply of all products and items useful or 
necessary to the operation of companies with which it has a 
business relationship, 

 ■  the acquisition, filing and exploitation of patents and 
trademarks, 

 ■  the contribution of technology and the development of tech-
nical expertise, 

 ■  the provision of services of all types, especially engineering, 
consulting, support, and organization for industrial, com-
mercial and service companies, 

 ■ the training of all people in all areas, 

 ■  the organization of events of all kinds, the participation 
by the company, by any means, directly or indirectly, in all 
operations related to its purpose by way of the creation of 
new companies, the contribution, subscription or purchase 
of securities or rights, by merger or otherwise, by the cre-
ation, acquisition, rental or leasing of all businesses assets 
or premises, and the creation, acquisition, operation or sale 
of any processes and patents concerning these activities. 

And generally, all industrial, commercial, financial, civil, fixed or 
movable property transactions related directly or indirectly to the 
corporate purpose or any similar or related purpose
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3. COMPANY CAPITAL

4. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS ATTACHED TO THE SHARES

SITUATION AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 
Baseline�data�

 ■ Total capital: €47,751,419.34 

 ■ Total number of shares: 31,210,078 

 ■ Number of profit shares: 7,927,487

 ■ Total number of shares conferring voting rights 
(denominator): 39,137,565 

Additional data

On September 4, 2019, the Board of Directors took the formal de-
cision to issue 100,000 Company subscription rights, each entitling 
its beneficiary to one ordinary share in the Company, eliminating 
the preferential subscription right for members of the company’s 
personnel, in line with the express authorization granted to the 
Board of Directors by the General Meeting held on 13 June 2019 
in accordance with Articles 7:198 et seq. of the Belgian Code on 
Companies and Associations. .

On November 27, 2019, AKKA Technologies SE issued 1,750 per-
petual subordinated unsecured bonds convertible into new and/
or existing shares for the issuer (ODIRNANE bonds) for a principal 
amount of €100,000. These bonds are recorded as quasi-equity 
according to the IFRS standard, and their details are as follows:

 ■ Issue amount: €175 million 

 ■ Maturity: perpetual, NC3.1@130%, hard call January 2025

 ■ Initial conversion premium: 35%

 ■ Initial conversion price: €77.2582

 ■ Fixed coupon until January 2025: 3.5%

 ■   Variable coupon after January 2025: Euribor 6 months + 
900bps

 ■ Conversion period: from issue date to January 2025

 ■ Full dividend protection 

On May 5, 2020, the Board of Directors decided to issue 2,029,199 
new shares through a capital increase by incorporating reserves 
of €3,104,647.47, allocating those shares to existing shareholders 
in the ratio of one new share to every ten existing shares. The 
number of subscription rights issued was adjusted to 110,000 and 
the conversion price of perpetual convertible bonds was adjusted 
to €70.2347.

Apart from the 110,000 stock options and 1,750 perpetual convert-
ible bonds, there are currently no stock options or other securities 
providing access to capital via the issue of new shares.

ARTICLE 9 - NATURE OF SECURITIES 
Shares that are not fully paid up shall be in registered form. Shares 
that are fully paid up and other securities issued by the company 
shall be in either registered or dematerialized form, within the 
limits stipulated by law. 

Once the shares have been fully paid up, holders of registered 
securities may, at their own expense, elect to have their securities 
converted into dematerialized form. Holders of dematerialized 
securities may elect, at any time and at their own expense, to 
have their securities converted into registered form. 

Only an entry in the share register or an entry on an account, in 
the name of the owner or holder, with a certified account holder 
or with a settlement institution will prove ownership of registered 
or dematerialized shares. Ownership of registered shares may also 
be established by an indication of the name of the holder in the 
deed of issue in accordance with Article 7:27 of the Belgian Code 
on Companies and Associations.

ARTICLE 10 - INDIVISIBILITY OF SECURITIES 
All securities shall be held in undivided ownership vis-à-vis the 
company. 

When a security is held by more than one person, the company 
may suspend all rights attaching to such security until such time 

as one person has been identified to the company as the holder 
of the security. 

Unless otherwise agreed by the different owners of a security, the 
voting right belongs to the usufructuary in ordinary shareholders’ 
meetings and to the bare owner in Extraordinary, Particular and 
Special General Meetings.

However, bare owners are entitled to attend shareholders’ meet-
ings at all times.

ARTICLE 11 - SUCCESSORS IN TITLE
The rights and obligations attached to a security remain attached 
regardless of to whom it is transferred.

Neither the heirs nor the creditors of a shareholder may, on any 
grounds whatsoever, cause the Company’s assets to be put under 
seal or require the division or auction of those assets, or interfere 
in any way whatsoever in the management of the Company.

In exercising their rights, they must abide by the annual financial 
statements and decisions of the General Meeting.
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ARTICLE 12 – TRANSFER OF SHARES, 
CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND SUBSCRIPTION 
RIGHTS
The transfer of shares is not subject to any restriction, notwith-
standing the legal provisions. 

With regard to the Company, registered shares are transferred 
by means of a transfer declaration recorded in the share regis-
ter, dated and signed by the assignor and assignee or by their 
proxies, as well as an assignment of claim or any other method 
permitted in law.

These regulations apply to all Company registered shares, as well 
as all convertible bonds and any registered subscription rights 
issued by the Company.

ARTICLE 13 - PROFIT SHARES 
The company may issue profit shares not representing the share 
capital as remuneration for contributions in kind made by any 
person who is also a shareholder of the company. 

Only the General Meeting is competent to decide to issue profit 
shares, subject to the conditions required for amendment of the 
articles of association. It determines the valuation of the contri-
butions made and the number of profit shares issued in return. 
It may instruct the Board of Directors to implement a decision to 
issue profit shares. 

Without prejudice to paragraph 4, profit shares may confer 
on their holders the right to participate in and vote at Annual 
General Meetings. In accordance with Articles 7:58 and 7:59(2) of 
the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations, these securities 
may not, under any circumstances, give entitlement to more than 
one vote for each security, be allocated a number of votes greater 
than half of the votes allocated to all shares, or be counted in the 
vote for a number of votes greater than two-thirds of the number 
of votes cast by the shares. 

Profit shares may confer a dividend entitlement and a right to share 
in the surplus upon liquidation, limited to 5% of the total profit 

distributable at the time of allocation. This allocation is covered 
by a separate item on the agenda of the General Meeting. 

Profit shareholders may not vote on the allocation of a dividend 
and/or a share in the liquidation proceeds to profit shareholders. 
Profit shares are and will remain in registered form and will be 
entered in the register of profit shares held at the company’s 
registered office. The company must be notified in writing of any 
transfer of such shares, which shall be entered in the register of 
profit shares. Only entry in that register is authoritative. 

Profit�shares�are�transferable�upon�death.�They�are�not�trans-
ferable inter vivos, except in the following cases: 

 ■  the donation of profit shares to a spouse, legal cohabitant 
or any person heir to the donor; 

 ■  the allocation of profit shares to a spouse as part of the profit 
shareholder’s divorce settlement; 

 ■  the contribution or transfer of profit shares to a company 
controlled by the profit shareholder; 

 ■  the transfer of profit shares resulting from the merger or 
division by acquisition of the company holding the profit 
shares by another company, provided that the companies 
taken over or split and the acquiring company have the same 
controlling shareholder within the meaning of Article 1:14 of 
the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations. 

 

On June 19, 2018, the Company issued 7,927,487 profit shares 
not representing the Company capital, in accordance with the 
provisions of this article. Each profit share confers the right to 
attend, and to exercise one vote at the General Meeting, as well 
as a dividend entitlement and a right to share in the liquidation 
surplus, limited to 5% of the total profit distributable at the time of 
allocation and only by a specific decision of the General Meeting, 
with the profit shareholders not being able to take part in this 
decision. The term of validity of these profit shares expires on the 
date on which a double voting rights mechanism attached to the 
Company shares is put in place.

Share history and ownership 02
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5. CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Shareholders’ rights may only be modified, as provided by law, by an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting, under the quorum and 
majority conditions set by the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations. 

The Articles of Associationdo not contain any more restrictive provisions. 

Convening�a�meeting�(Article�30�of�the�Articles�of�Incorporation)

The General Meeting is held by default at 4pm on the third Tuesday 
in June.

If that day is a statutory public holiday, the meeting is held on 
the next working day.

The meeting is held at the registered office of the Company or any 
other location indicated in the notice of convocation. 

A General Meeting may be called whenever it is in the interests 
of the Company. 

This must be held when requested by the Chair of the Board of 
Directors, by an executive member of the Board or by an auditor, 

if there is one, or by shareholders jointly representing at least one 
tenth of the share capital.

General Meetings are convened by the Board of Directors or the 
auditors.

Notices of convocation must contain the information stipulated 
in the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations and any 
other regulations, including the place, date, time, and agenda 
for the meeting, and must be drawn up in the forms and within 
the timeframes stipulated in said Code.

One or more shareholders jointly holding at least three percent 
(3%) of the share capital may ask for one or more items to be 
entered on the agenda of any General Meeting.

ARTICLE 31 - ADMISSION TO THE MEETING
The right of a shareholder or holder of profit shares to attend a 
General Meeting and exercise the voting right attached to the 
shares or profit shares is subject to these shares or profit shares 
being entered in the accounting records in the name of said share-
holder or holder of profit shares on the date of registration, which 
is the 14th day before the General Meeting, at midnight (Belgian 
time), or being entered in the Company’s share register for regis-
tered shares or profit shares, or being entered in the accounts of 
an approved intermediary or settlement institution, regardless of 
the number of shares held by the shareholder on the day of the 
General Meeting. The day and time specified in this paragraph 
determine the date of registration.

Shareholders and holders of profit shares must inform the Company 
(or the person appointed for such purpose) if they wish to attend the 
General Meeting, no later than the sixth day before the date of the 
meeting, in accordance with the condition set out in the notice of 
convocation and presenting the certificate of registration issued 
to them by the approved intermediary or settlement institution.

Holders of bonds or subscription rights are entitled to attend any 
General Meeting, but only in an advisory capacity, in accordance 
with the conditions of admission laid down for shareholders.

ARTICLE 32 - REPRESENTATION
Owners of securities may be represented at a General Meeting 
by a proxy, who is not required to be a shareholder, pursuant to 
the provisions of Articles 7:142 to 7:145 of the Belgian Code on 
Companies and Associations.

Minors, persons without legal capacity, and legal entities may be 
represented by their legal or statutory bodies.

The Board of Directors may decide on the form of proxies. Powers of 
attorney must be received by the Company no later than the sixth 
day before the Meeting. Any power of attorney that reaches the 
Company before the agenda is fully published in accordance with 
Article 7:130 of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations 
is valid for the matters on the agenda concerned.

Co-owners, usufructuaries and bare owners, creditors, and secured 
debtors must be represented by one and the same person.

5.1. General Meetings

5.2. Participation in meetings
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5.3. Delaying, deferring, or preventing a change of control 

5.4. Thresholds 

ARTICLE 7 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION(EXTRACT)
If a public offer is made to buy the Company’s shares, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to increase the capital under the 
conditions stipulated in Article 7:202 of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations. This authorization is granted for a term of 
three (3) years with effect from the date of the decision by the Extraordinary General Meeting of June 13, 2019. Any share capital in-
creases carried out pursuant to this authorization are charged against the residual outstanding authorized capital as indicated above. 

ARTICLE 16 OF THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
In application of the legal regulations on disclosing major holdings in issuers whose shares are admitted to trading on a regulated 
market, the Company applies thresholds - in addition to the statutory thresholds - of two percent (2%), four percent (4%) and seven-
and-a-half percent (7.5%). 

Share history and ownership 02

6. PROVISIONS GOVERNING CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL 
ARTICLES 6, 6A, AND 7 OF THE ARTICLES 
OF INCORPORATION
Following discussions with the FSMA, the Board of Directors de-
cided to submit a proposal to the 2021 General Meeting to delete 
Article 6A of the Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE 6 - CHANGES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
The capital may be increased or reduced by a decision of the 
General Meeting in accordance with the conditions required for 
amending the Articles of Incorporation.

For capital increases approved by the General Meeting, the price 
and conditions for issuing new shares are determined at the same 
meeting, based on recommendations from the Board of Directors.

Existing shareholders have a pre-emptive right to subscribe to the 
new shares in cash, in proportion to the number of shares they 
hold, within a time period determined at the General Meeting, 
which may not be any less than 15 days from the opening of the 
subscription, and in accordance with the conditions determined 
by the Board of Directors.

Shares with no stated nominal value below the carrying amount of 
the par value of existing shares may only be issued in accordance 
with the legal requirements.

However, if it is in the best interests of the Company, pre-emptive 
rights may be limited or eliminated by decision of the General 
Meeting ruling - in accordance with the conditions required for 
amending the Articles of Association- in favor of one or more 
designated persons who are not employees of the Company or 
its subsidiaries, in accordance with the legal provisions.

The right to allocate new shares following the incorporation of 
reserves, profits, or share premiums into the share capital, is vested 
in the bare owner, notwithstanding the rights of the usufructuary. 

The Board of Directors is authorized to sign agreements, containing 
the clauses and conditions it deems appropriate, with any third 
party in order to ensure that all or part of the shares to be issued 

are subscribed.

A reduction in share capital may be authorized or decided by 
an Extraordinary General Meeting, but may not under any cir-
cumstances derogate from the principle of equality between 
shareholders.

Capital may only be reduced below the legal minimum under the 
condition precedent of a capital increase aimed at restoring the 
legal minimum, unless the Company is converted into another 
form for which no greater amount of capital that exceeds the 
share capital subsequently reduced is required. 

Otherwise, any interested party may petition the court to dissolve 
the Company, unless the matter has been resolved by the date 
on which the court rules on the merits of the matter. 

The share capital may be redeemed without being reduced by 
repaying a portion of the distributable profits to securities repre-
senting this share capital.

ARTICLE 6A – CAPITAL INCREASE THROUGH THE 
INCORPORATION OF RESERVES OR THE ISSUE 
OF SHARE PREMIUMS ACCOMPANIED BY AN 
ISSUE OF LOYALTY SHARES

1.  In accordance with point 4 of this article and with article 7 
below, the General Meeting or the Board of Directors may 
increase the capital, within the authorized capital limit, by 
incorporating reserves or issuing share premiums by issuing 
new shares to existing shareholders in proportion to the 
number of fully paid-up shares held by them that have been 
continuously registered for at least two years in their name 
in the share register on the ex-date of the right of allocation.

2.  The period of two years referred to in point 1 of this article 
begins on the date on which the shares are registered in the 
name of the holder, even though the shares would have been 
registered before the day on which this article is adopted.

If shares are transferred as a result of inheritance, dissolution 
of marriage, or assignment to a successor for a fee or free 
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of charge, this does not affect the two-year period referred 
to in paragraph 1 of this article. The same applies if shares 
are transferred between companies that are controlled by 
the same controlling shareholder(s) or natural or legal per-
son(s), or between one of those companies and controlling 
shareholders.

If the shares are held by a company, the change in control 
of that company is deemed to involve a transfer of those 
shares, unless the change in control is to the benefit of the 
spouse or one or more estates of the shareholder(s) con-
trolling that company.

The two-year period referred to in point 1 of this article is 
also unaffected by any transfer of shares to a legal entity 
in return for the issue of certificates as referred to in Article 
7:61(1)(1) of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations, 
accompanied by a commitment by that entity to reserve 
any product or income for the holder of the certificates, or 
by any exchange of certificates for shares as referred to in 
Article 7:61(1)(6) or (2)(2) of said Code, provided that this is for 
the benefit of the entity that has issued the certificates or of 
one of its assignees which fulfils the conditions of paragraph 
2 or 3 of point 2 of this article.

3.  New shares issued pursuant to this article do not constitute 
a class of shares within the meaning of Article 7:155 of the 
Belgian Code of Companies and Associations.

4.  In the event that the capital is increased within the au-
thorized capital limit by the incorporation of reserves or 
the issue of share premiums following a decision of the 
Board of Directors, the issue of new shares in accordance 
with this article is limited to once a year and the number of 
new shares issued on this occasion is limited to 10% of the 
number of fully paid-up shares which have been registered 
for at least two years in the same shareholder's name in 
the share register on the ex-date of the right of allocation.

ARTICLE 7 - AUTHORIZED CAPITAL
The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share capi-
tal, on one or more occasions, under conditions it deems fit, by 
an amount of up to thirty-one million, forty-six thousand, seven 
hundred, forty-four euros and seventy cents (€31,046,744.70).

The Board of Directors may use this authorization to issue shares 
with or without voting rights, convertible bonds, equity notes, 
subscription rights payable in cash or in kind, and other financial 
instruments giving the right to future shares or to which other 
Company securities are attached.

Any capital increase effected under this authorization may be 
carried out:

 ■  either by means of contributions in cash or in kind, including 
any restricted share premium, the amount of which is fixed 
by the Board of Directors, or by creating new shares carrying 
rights determined by the Board;

 ■  or by converting reserves – including restricted reserves – 
or share premiums into capital, whether by creating new 
shares or not.

This authorization is granted to the Board of Directors for a period 
of five (5) years from the date of publication in Belgium of the 
amendments to the Articles of Associationfollowing the decision 

of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on June 13, 2019. It 
may be renewed on one or more occasions, in accordance with 
the applicable legal provisions.

In the event that a capital increase is carried out within the au-
thorized capital, the Board of Directors will allocate any share 
premium to a restricted account. This account will form part of 
shareholders’ equity in the same way as the share capital, and, 
unless it is converted into capital by the Board of Directors, may 
only be reduced or eliminated by the General Meeting, as provided 
for above, under the conditions required by Article 7:208 of the 
Belgian Code of Companies and Associations.

The Board of Directors may limit or eliminate pre-emptive sub-
scription rights of existing shareholders if it is in the interests of the 
Company, in accordance with the conditions laid down in Articles 
7:190 et seq. of the Belgian Code of Companies and Associations; 
it may even do so for one or more specific parties other than 
employees of the Company, except as provided in Article 7:201(1) 
of said Code.

The Board of Directors is authorized, with the option of substitu-
tion, to amend the Articles of Associationin line with changes to 
the capital and shares following each capital increase within the 
authorized capital.

If a public offer is made to buy the Company’s shares, the Board 
of Directors is expressly authorized to increase the capital under 
the conditions stipulated in Article 7:202 of the Belgian Code of 
Companies and Associations. This authorization is granted for a 
term of three (3) years with effect from the date of the decision 
by the Extraordinary General Meeting of June 13, 2019. Any share 
capital increases carried out pursuant to this authorization are 
charged against the residual outstanding authorized capital as 
indicated above.
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1. FINANCIAL POSITION 

1.1. Key events

1.2. Group results

2020 was an unprecedented year, with AKKA being hit by the im-
pact of the COVID-19 pandemic. AKKA took all the steps necessary 
to protect its employees and partners, whilst continuing to serve 
its clients effectively. 

In early 2020, AKKA acquired Norwegian group Data Respons 
through a public takeover bid at a price of NOK 48 per share, 
and Data Respons was delisted from the Oslo Stock Exchange 
on May 19, 2020.

Data Respons was acquired as part of AKKA’s desire to strengthen 
its digital activities. Innovation driven by digital technology, mo-
bility, electrification, and advanced driver-assistance systems 
(ADAS) will continue to support demand, and the accelerated 
deployment of its digital strategy will enable the Group to emerge 
as a leading player in the digital sector. The success of this ap-
proach means the Group has the broadest and deepest portfolio 
of digital offerings in Europe to meet the needs of the growing 
mobility market. The AKKA and Data Respons teams are working 
together to establish strong commercial and operational synergies 
as quickly as possible.

Following the first two quarters wherein the pandemic had a severe 
impact, each of the Groups’ business units has returned to profit1, 
and the growth in revenue seen in Q3 and Q4 is a testament to 
the gradual recovery of the business. 

Moreover, the Group greatly accelerated its transformation in 
2020, notably its commercial repositioning with a range of initia-
tives aimed at leveraging its core business by diversifying its digital 
skills. AKKA simplified its organization and strictly controlled its 
costs in order to preserve its cash position.

Finally, AKKA has also taken all appropriate measures to prepare 
for the future and the next cycle by strengthening its balance 
sheet, working closely with Compagnie Nationale à Portefeuille, 
the Group’s new strategic investor. 

The table below contains a summary of the main indicators of the consolidated income statement, prepared in accordance with IFRS 
standards, for the financial years ending December 31, 2020 and 2019. The Group also uses a number of alternative performance 
measures, all of which are defined and reconciled with the IFRS indicators in Part 10 of this chapter.

1.2.1. Income statement review

(in thousands of euros) Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Revenue 1,503,454 1,801,486

Operating profit (170,474) 121,223

Income before tax (197,878) 103,716

Consolidated net income (167,907) 73,270

Group share of net income (168,761) 73,041

Consolidated comprehensive income (177,036) 74,412

Group share of comprehensive income (177,982) 74,183

1 Operating profit (adjusted)
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Note 1.1 - Revenue

France Germany International North America Data Respons

Value % Value % Value % Value % Value %

2020 
financial 
year

488,079 32.5% 349,165 23.2% 248,341 16.5% 264,788 17.6% 153,082 10.2%

2019 
financial 
year

661,349 36.7% 516,576 28.7% 318,594 17.7% 304,967 16.9% - 0.0%

AKKA’s revenue decreased by 16.5% to €1,503.5 million in 2020 as 
a direct result of the global pandemic and subsequent lockdown 
measures. Faced with a sharp slowdown in the overall business and 
loss of visibility in the first half of the year, AKKA took immediate 
action to protect the health of its employees and partners alike, 
to step up its R&D efforts with the support of AKKA Research and 
to continue to effectively respond to the needs of its clients. 

After the crisis peaked in May, AKKA’s business and financial per-
formance gradually began to recover in most segments, except 
for civil aviation, while automotive saw mixed recovery trends 
from the summer onwards. 

 ■  Revenue for the French business unit fell by 26.2% to €488.1 
million, marked by the decrease in revenue from the aviation 
business, which has now stabilized after hitting a low point 
in the second half of the year. 

 ■  The German business unit was the most affected by COVID-19 
lockdown measures throughout the year, especially in spring 

and December, with sales down by 32.4% to €349.2 million. 
The steep decline in automotive activity in the first half of 
the year was only partially offset by its recovery in Q3 and 
the stabilization that followed.

 ■  The decline in business in 2020 experienced by AKKA North 
America was limited to -13.2%, resulting in a decrease to 
€264.8 million. This was due to a more balanced revenue mix 
and the strong resilience of activity in the defense segment. 

 ■  Revenue for the International business unit reached €248.3 
million in the 2020 financial year, down from €318.6 million in 
2019, as some countries suffered greatly from the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

 ■  Data Respons contributed €153.1 million to the Group’s 2020 
revenue, representing growth of 6.4% over 2019 sales on a 
continuous proforma basis2, benefiting from its positioning 
as a pure player in digital engineering. Data Respons has 
been consolidated from 1 May 2020. 

Note 1.2 - Operating profit
AKKA's operating profit decreased to -€170.5 million in 2020, in 
particular for France and Germany, as a result of COVID-19 and 
its associated costs. This figure includes all expenses that were 
recorded as non-current expenses in previous years.

In order to provide clarity in its financial communications and 
ensure full compliance with IFRS, the Group no longer publishes 
its recurring operating profit and non-current expenses. Instead, 

AKKA now publishes operating profit that includes costs previously 
reported as non-operating expenses. However, for reasons of 
comparability, the Group also publishes operating profit (adjusted) 
so as to highlight operating performance regardless of certain 
events that may occur during a particular year. The calculation 
of operating profit (adjusted) for 2019 and 2020 is detailed below:

2020 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Adjustment for 
comparability

Adjusted Published Adjustment for 
comparability

Adjusted

Revenue 1,503.5 1,503.5 1,801.5 1,801.5

Operating expenses before net depreciation, 
amortization, and provisions (1,501.8) 82.7 (1,419.1) (1,621.7) 18.7 (1,603.0)

Net depreciation, amortization, and provisions (172.8) 106.3 (66.4) (57.2) (57.2)

Income from equity-accounted affiliates 1.6 1.6 2.5 2.5

Free shares and stock options (1.0) 1.0 0.0 (3.8) 3.8 0.0

Operating�profit (170.5) 190.0 19.5 121.2 22.5 143.7

2 Organic growth based on proforma figures as though Data Respons had been consolidated from 1 January
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The adjustments for comparability in 2020 are strongly linked to the economic and health situation in 2020 and are presented as follows:

As a reminder, the adjustments for comparability in 2019 were as follows:
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(In millions of euros) 2020

Operating�profit (170.5)

Costs related to COVID-19 59.2

Costs of implementing the FIT 2 CLEAR plan 41.9

Costs related to the restructuring program 79.6

Data respons - depreciation of intangible assets from ppp 9.0

Free shares and stock options 1.0

Other products and charges* (0.7)

Operating�profit�(adjusted) 19.5

(In millions of euros) 2019

Operating�profit 121.2

Transformation and strategy programs 9.6

Acquisitions / incoporations 1.4

Launch of new activities 7.1

Free shares and stock options 3.8

Other* 0.6

Operating�profit�(adjusted) 143.7

*includes €10 million of research tax credits for the 2008-13 financial years and other individually non-material items.

As a result, the Group’s operating profit (adjusted) remained posi-
tive at €19.5 million for the 2020 financial year compared to €143.7 
million for 2019, thanks to the adoption and rapid implementation 
of significant cost reduction measures. The Group decided to 
accelerate its transformation and took major steps to ensure it 
emerged from the crisis with a streamlined organization, more 
agile business units, and a significantly simplified structure. The 
transformation plan is already bearing fruit, with the Group’s cost 
base reduced by €30 million. 

In analyzing the sequential dynamics of 2020, it is important to 
note that all of the Group’s business units returned to profit in 
the second half of 2020. The profit margin for the International 
business unit in the second half of 2020 was even higher than in 
2019, while Data Respons performed as expected, with a margin 
of 12.8% in the same period. Details of the profitability of each 
business unit are set out below.

Operating�profit

*includes €13.3 million of research tax credits for the 2008-09 financial years and other individually non-material items.

(In millions  
of euros)

France Germany International North America Data Respons Other Total 

2020 
financial year (98.804) (73.971) 16.511 6.271 9.784 (30.264) (170.473) 

2019 financial 
year 54.109 36.724 34.760 11.771 - (16.141) 121.223 
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Note 1.3 - Net borrowing costs
Net borrowing costs amounted to -€19.1 million as at December 31, 2020 (-€16.2 million as at December 31, 2019). This increase is mainly 
due to the consolidation of Data Respons. This includes €14.5 million in interest on loans (compared to €11.5 million in 2019).

Note 1.4 - Income tax
The Group recorded an income tax expense of €29.972 million for 2020, i.e. -15.2% of income before tax (compared to 29.4% in 
2019). This amount includes €5.659 million for the business tax on added value (CVAE). It also includes deferred taxes on deficits 
of €39.633 million.

Note 1.5 - Consolidated net income

The Group’s share of consolidated net income amounted to -€168,761 million in 2020 (compared to €73,041 million in 2019) and  
represents -€8.26 per share compared to €3.38 in 2019.

Operating�profit�adjusted

(In millions  
of euros)

France Germany International North America Data Respons Other Total 

2020 
financial year (3.792) (5.934) 25.559 6.507 19.312 (22.132) 19.520 

2019 financial 
year 74.145 47.784 39.851 13.188 - (31.244) 143.724 
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The following table summarizes the consolidated balance sheet prepared according to IFRS standards:

1.2.2. Balance sheet review
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 (in millions of euros) 2020 2019 Change (m€) Change (%)

Goodwill 691.4 367.7 323.7 88%

Intangible assets 112.5 24.7 87.7 355%

Tangilble assets 75.7 91.9 -16.3 -18%

Rights of use - IFRS 16 141.8 149.7 -7.9 -5%

Non-current financial assets 49.9 44.9 5.0 11%

Securities of affiliated companies and joint 
ventures 48.2 47.9 0.3 1%

Deferred tax assets 80.0 32.8 47.2 144%

Other non current assets 30.1 27.2 2.8 10%

Total Non Current Assets 1,229.5 786.9 442.6 56%

Trade receivables 192.0 224.8 -32.8 -15%

Other current assets 85.7 124.4 -38.7 -31%

Cash and cash equivalents 468.0 469.2 -1.3 0%

Total Current Assets 745.6 818.4 -72.7 -9%

TOTAL�ASSETS 1,975.2 1,605.3 369.9 23%

 (in millions of euros) 2020 2019 Change (m€) Change (%)

Group Share of Equity before equity 
instruments 314.2 304.7 9.5 3%

Odirnane bonds 176.0 172.9 3.1 2%

Non controlling interests 2.4 0.4 2.0 490%

Shareholders’ equity 492.6 478.0 14.6 3%

Non-current provisions 36.9 29.0 7.9 27%

Non-current financial liabilities 635.5 467.7 167.8 36%

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 114.7 123.4 -8.7 -7%

Non-current earn-out liabilities 10.8 0.0 10.8 ns

Non-current tax and social security liabilities 31.6 12.9 18.6 144%

Deferred tax liabilities 67.0 0.0 67.0 ns

Total�Non�current�Liabilities 896.5 633.0 263.5 42%

Current provisions 65.1 2.5 62.6 2484%

Current financial liabilities 10.1 74.8 -64.7 -86%

Current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 33.6 29.7 3.9 13%

Trade payables 125.4 114.6 10.8 9%

Tax and social security liabilities -current 285.7 228.7 57.0 25%

Current earn-out liabilities 11.6 2.3 9.3 401%

Other current liabilities 54.5 41.7 12.9 31%

Total�Current�Liabilties 586.0 494.2 91.8 19%

TOTAL�LIABILITIES 1,975.2 1,605.3 369.9 23%
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Note 2.1 - Goodwill
Goodwill, which consists of differences in the prices paid for the capital of businesses and the value of their net assets, amounted 
to €691.390 million as at December 31, 2020 , compared to €367.689 million during the previous year, the increase being almost ex-
clusively due to the acquisition of Data Respons. The allocation of the purchase price of Data Respons is detailed in Note 1.7.1 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Note 2.2 - Change in cash position

Note 2.3 - Shareholders’ equity

Statement of cash flows - in thousands of euros Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at the start of the year 469,231 271,785

Net cash flow from operating activities 169,639 161,044

Net cash flow from investment activities (404,090) (56,235)

Net cash flow from financing activities 234,300 89,914

Impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (1,110) 2,722

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts at year-end 467,970 469,231

Group share of comprehensive income (177,982) 74,183

Details of the Group’s financing are provided in the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Annual Report.

Shareholders’ equity amounted to €492.618 million as at December 31, 2020, compared to €478.237 million as at December 31, 2019 
– an increase of 3%. As at December 31, 2020, equity represented 24.9% of the balance sheet total.

The main changes in shareholders’ equity are as follows:

 ■ consolidated net income for 2020 of -€168.761 million

 ■ capital increase of +€196.668 million

 ■ equity instruments (ODIRNANE bonds, net of charges) of -€2.999 million

 ■ changes in other comprehensive income items of -€9.129 million

 ■ repurchase of own shares of -€2.374 million

 ■ performance share plan of +€924,000

Note 2.4 - Debt

AKKA's balance sheet structure is robust. The Group’s (covenant) net debt after IFRS 16 amounted to €309 million as at December 31, 
2020. The Group’s capital increased from €478 million to €493 million, corresponding to a 63% gearing and a 3.44-fold leverage (net 
debt/EBITDA), below the covenant set at 4.5x. This net debt position does not take into account the €175 million of ODIRNANE bonds, 
which are recognized as shareholders’ equity. 

Since the crisis began, AKKA has intensified discussions with its lenders on the terms of its financing instruments. As a result, the banks 
that had granted a revolving credit facility agreed to: (i) a covenant holiday for the financial leverage covenant on December 31, 
2020, and (ii) a six-fold repositioning for the financial leverage covenant, which will be tested on June 30, 2021. In addition, 80% of 
Schuldschein investors agreed to a covenant holiday for the financial leverage covenant on December 31, 2020. As a reminder, the 
test for the Schuldschein takes place at the end of each year.
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Note 2.5 - Interest rate hedging

Details of hedging of the Group’s interest rates are provided in the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report (Chapter 6).

This does not include ODIRNANE bonds, which are recognized as shareholders’ equity under IFRS (first repayment date in 2025).

The calculation of net financial debt is as follows:

All contractual debt ratios have been met as at December 31, 2020 and are calculated as detailed below:

LEVERAGE

GEARING

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Before�IFRS�16 Published Before�IFRS�16

Non-current financial liabilities 635.5 635.5 467.7 467.7

Current financial liabilities 10.1 10.1 74.8 74.8

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 114.7 0.0 123.4 0.0

Current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 33.6 0.0 29.7 0.0

Cash and cash equivalents (468.0) (468.0) (469.2) (469.2)

Net debt 325.9 177.7 226.4 73.3

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Before�IFRS�16 Published Before�IFRS�16

Net debt 325.9 177.7 226.4 73.3

Own shares (16.5) (16.5) (29.1) (29.1)

Net�debt�(covenants) 309.4 161.1 197.3 44.2

Dec 31. 2020 Dec 31. 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Before�IFRS�16 Published Before�IFRS�16

Net debt (covenants) 309.4 161.1 197.3 44.2

Shareholders’ equity 492.6 498.1 478.2 481.5

Gearing 0.63 0.32 0.41 0.09

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Before�IFRS�16 Published Before�IFRS�16

Net debt (covenants) 309.4 161.1 197.3 44.2

Adjusted EBITDA 90.0 51.4 200.9 169.4

Leverage 3.44 3.13 0.98 0.26

Management report 03
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Research and development costs incurred in 2020 amounted to 
€63.474 million and are recorded under expenses for the financial 
year, i.e. 4.2% of revenues (5.0% in 2019).

AKKA Research, the in-house technology centre created in 2010, 
is the driving force behind the group's transformation towards 
Digital, bringing people together around innovative technologies 
to create tomorrow's business successes.

 ■  By developing innovative and forward-looking technology 
lines, AKKA Research enables AKKA to deploy the offers it 
will need to master its digital evolution. 

 ■  By supporting its employees, AKKA Research enables them 
to learn new skills with the aim to help them evolve and 
flourish within AKKA.

 ■  By proposing new solutions to our partners, AKKA Research 
creates technologies that respond to the problems faced by 
our clients and help them imagine their future.

 ■  AKKA Research unites the company around technology and 
creates pride among its employees by involving them in 
innovative projects that convey a positive image.

AKKA Research is the link between technology, people and 
business.

AKKA Research is a matrix structure that is agile in its management 
of technology and people. To ensure the successful completion of 
its missions, the department relies on a dual mode of operation: 

 ■  The management of innovative projects is led by AKKA 
Research, making maximum use of human and material 
resources from the Group's centers of expertise.

 ■  The management of disruptive technology lines relies on 
some forty experts developing skills that do not exist within 
the group. Once honed, these skills will be reintegrated into 
the centers of expertise.

In this context, an AKKA Research employee can be both a point 
of contact for a technology line and be responsible for project 
management.

In close collaboration with the Group's operational teams, AKKA 
Research's work is focused around three main technological lines, in 
line with the Group's overall strategy and the needs of its customers:

 ■ Digital 

 ■ Green Energy

 ■ Automation

The technologies included in these technological lines are val-
idated and challenged by a scientific committee which brings 
together scientific and industrial representatives. AKKA's first scien-
tific committee took place in June 2020 with the theme "Long-term, 
short-term and innovation". The second committee took place in 
December 2020, with the themes "Precautionary principle, reg-
ulations: How to integrate it into the innovative approach? "and 
"Quantum Computing: On the road to industrial application".

AKKA Research works simultaneously on subsidized collabora-
tive projects, enabling it to anticipate long-term technological 
developments (European [H2020, EUREKA, etc.], National [ANR, 
FUI, etc.] and Regional funding instruments), and on projects in 
partnership with particular customers, which it supports in the de-
velopment of a technological component or an innovative project. 

The center is part of an ecosystem of national and international 
R&D partners, consisting of universities, research laboratories and 
private companies, some of which are customers of the Group. In 
2020, it hosted 21 interns and 6 dissertations on subjects related 
to autonomous driving, mobile robotics, signal processing and 
quantum computing. The Group continues to strengthen its ex-
pertise by recruiting young doctoral graduates to spearhead its 
technology lines, particularly in the field of digital transformation 
(autonomous robotics, artificial intelligence and cybersecurity).

In 2020, AKKA Research worked on 27 projects, including 8 col-
laborative projects:

 ■  Versatile�Trapped�Ion�Control�System�(VERTICONS)�main ob-
jective is to provide a complete, coherent, documented and 
tested quantum control architecture. This includes a flexible 
real-time control system and the corresponding software 
design for automated control strategies.

2. SCOPE 

3. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 

Entities included in the scope of consolidation are detailed in the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report (Chapter 6.1). 

The main changes over the last three years are as follows:

Acquisitions in the last 3 years Entities acquired Date of incorporation 
for consolidation

Geographic distribution 
of activity on date of 

acquisition

AKKA GmbH & Co. KGaA (formerly MBtech Group) 35% of shares 2018 N/A*

PDS Tech Inc. 100% of shares 2018 United States

GLOBAL SUPPORT SUPPLIER 72% of shares 2019 France

Data Respons 100% of shares 2020 Norway/Sweden/Denmark/
Germany

* The Group already had control of the Mbtech Group in the past and therefore its companies were already consolidated.
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 ■  DoRIoT develops a secure and robust dynamic architecture 
and tools for emergent systems with organic computing 
methods for IoT. AKKA delivers the use-cases focusing on 
the field of Automotive/Car2X and SmartHome.

 ■  EU-SysFlex stands for “Pan-European system with an efficient 
coordinated use of flexibilities for the integration of a large 
share of RES “. EU-SysFlex comes up with new types of services 
that will meet the needs of the system with more than 50% 
of renewable energy sources. It will find the right blend of 
flexibility and system services to support secure and resilient 
transmission system operation.

 ■  ELVITEN�demonstrates how electric light vehicles (EL-Vs) can 
be used in urban areas and be integrated into the existing 
transport network of six European cities. Focus is on EL-Vs 
such as electric bicycles, tricycles, scooters and quads.

 ■  5G-MOBIX�develops and tests automated vehicle functional-
ities using 5G core technological innovations along multiple 
cross-border corridors and urban trial sites, under conditions 
of vehicular traffic, network coverage, service demand, as 
well as considering the inherently distinct legal, business and 
social local aspects.

 ■  AQTION is a major research project funded by the European 
Quantum Technology Flagship, which aims to develop and 
exploit a robust, compact ion-trap quantum computer based 
on scalable quantum hardware and widespread industry 
standards.

 ■  5G-LOGINNOV’s main objective is to design an innova-
tive framework addressing integration and validation of 
Cooperative and Connected Automated Mobility (CCAM) 
technologies related to industry 4.0 and (sea-) ports domains.

 ■  COVR-SESAMS objective is to leverage the COVR set of 
tools to break down the barriers of penetration of collabo-
rative mobile robots (or advanced AGVs, Automated Guided 
Vehicles) into the manufacturing industry.

 ■  PORTAGE is a collaborative platform which aims to robot-
ize and automate the transportation of large and heavy 
pieces of equipment in industrial sites. Our solution will help in  
reducing strenuous and dangerous tasks for operators and 
will also optimize logistics operations.

In addition to this list, 10 new collaborative projects were won:

 ■ R�oad�Markings�and�Signs�for�the�Future�(RMSF) advises and 
supports the Commission on how to improve the readability 
and detectability of road markings and signs, both for human 
drivers and ADAS systems.

 ■  VorSAFe project proposes to study an active automotive safety 
system to avoid obstacles with collision risk by merging differ-
ent inputs and solutions from embedded systems and infra-
structure-based solutions.

 ■  GEARBODIES�will develop an innovative modular platform to 
reduce the inspection time of lightweight train carbody shells.

 ■  PRECINCT aims to connect private and public EU stakeholders 
in a geographical area to a common cyber-physical security 
management approach which will yield a protected territory 
for citizens and infrastructures, a ‘PRECINCT’ that can be 
replicated efficiently for a safer Europe.

 ■  DIGIECOQUARRY will develop systems, technology and pro-
cesses for integrated digitization and automation real-time 
process control, to be piloted in 5 EU quarries with the target 
of improving health and safety conditions for workers.

 ■  MobiDataLab�consists of proposing a methodology and technical 
solutions to mobility stakeholders (transport authorities, opera-
tors, industry, innovators) to facilitate large-scale data sharing.

 ■  5G-META open platform aims to leverage car-captured data 
to stimulate, facilitate and feed new innovative products and 
services. The access to data coming from relevant geograph-
ical regions will catalyze the generation of new opportunities 
and business models.

 ■ �5G-LOGINNOV’s main objective is to design an innova-
tive framework addressing integration and validation of 
Cooperative and Connected Automated Mobility (CCAM) 
technologies related to industry 4.0 and (sea-) ports domains.

 ■  RECET4Rail will focus on the following new technologies for 
the Traction Drive sub-system: development of design ap-
proaches, end-to-end conception time evaluation and feasi-
bility/performance study of 3D printing technologies for new 
traction components use cases.

 ■ �PALOMA will design and test a passively actuated opening 
system that will allow a volume of secondary air flow to be di-
verted into the aircraft engine core area for cooling purposes.

This inter-site and interdisciplinary collaboration for innovation 
is becoming more international with a stronger involvement of 
Germany and for the first time a technical support provided by 
Romanian teams in collaboration with the French teams.

TECH�LINE�SPLIT�ON�2020�PROJECTS TECH�LINE�SPLIT� 
ON�NEW�COLLABORATIVE�PROJECTS

 Digital 44%
  Green energy  30%
 Automation 26%

 Digital 79%
  Green energy 17%
 Automation 4%
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4.   DESCRIPTION OF THE MAJOR RISKS AND 
UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE GROUP

Set out below is a description of certain risks relating to the 
Company, the Group and the Shares. The description of risks set 
out below does not purport to be exhaustive. Additional risks and 
uncertainties that, as of the date of this Report are unknown to, 
cannot be foreseen by, or are not considered significant by the 
Company may also exist.

The risk factors presented herein have been divided into categories 
based on their nature. Within each category, the risk factors esti-
mated to be the most material according to the assessment made 
by the Company about the materiality of the risk are presented 
first. Additionally, the order of the categories does not represent 

any evaluation of the materiality of categories themselves or of 
the relative materiality of the risk factors within any particular 
category when compared to the risk factors in another category.

References to the “Group” are to the Company and its subsidiaries 
from time to time. Any reference to any law, decree, regulation, 
directive or any implementing or other legislative measure shall 
be construed as a reference to such law, decree, regulation, di-
rective or implementing or other legislative measure as the same 
may be amended, supplemented, restated and/or replaced from 
time to time.

(a)��The�demand�for�outsourced�engineering�consulting�and�R&D�
services is contingent upon the international economic cli-
mate�and�can�be�adversely�affected�in�times�of�crisis�and�
the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on the economy and the 
Group’s�customers�(particularly�on�the�mobility�sector�where�
the�Group�achieved�approximately�74%�of�its�revenue�as�at�
31�December�2020)�has�negatively�affected�and�may�in�the�
future�negatively�affect�the�Group

The demand for outsourced engineering consulting and R&D 
services is generally linked to the international economic climate 
insofar as it is based on outsourced R&D expenditure by ordering 
customers correlated to changes in global industrial production. 
The sensitivities to the economic cycles vary according to the 
industrial sector of the Group’s customers.

In periods of recession or crisis, financial difficulties that could 
be encountered by the Group’s customers as well as a possible 
reduction of their R&D investment, could have an adverse effect 
on prices and, more rarely, lead customers to re-internalise engi-
neering consulting and R&D services.

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared 
COVID-19 (novel coronavirus) a global pandemic, which resulted 
in the implementation of travel and other restrictions across the 
world to reduce the spread of the disease. As a result of these 
developments, local lockdown orders, government-imposed quar-
antines, travel restrictions, business closures and work-from-home 
policies have been implemented. This has negatively impacted 
the demand and the Group’s performance during the first half of 
2020. Please also refer to the risk factor 4.1.2(a) below titled “The 
COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected the Group’s opera-
tions and financial results and may negatively impact the Group’s 
liquidity and its ability to comply with financial covenants under 
its material financing arrangements”.

In addition, the COVID-19 related measures and impact on the 
economy has affected and may continue to affect a number of 
the Group’s customers. In particular, revenues from the automo-
tive and aeronautic sectors have decreased with 26% and 13%, 
respectively, during the first half of 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group achieved 74% of its revenue in 
the mobility sector, which comprises the automotive, aeronautic, 
railway and defence sector. This means that the Group is exposed 
to crises that particularly affect the mobility sector. Moreover, the 
COVID-19 pandemic may result in in-depth changes in the global 
demand for the services rendered to businesses in those sectors, 
which may result in a decrease in revenue for the Group. However, 
thanks to a positive trend in the defence and railway sectors, the 
decrease in the aggregate mobility sector was limited to 24% in 
2020. In addition, the Group has accelerated diversification into 
the non-mobility sectors.

The Group is closely monitoring and responding to the unprec-
edented and rapidly developing global health and economic 
crisis associated with COVID-19. To that effect, it has established 
a crisis unit which meets as often as needed and accelerated 
the implementation of the Fit-2-Clear initiative to streamline its 
organisation and reposition its portfolio of offerings toward higher 
value-added ones. Please also refer to the first chapter of this 
report for more information.

At this stage and given the uncertainty as to how the situation 
will evolve and for how long, it is not possible to determine the 
full impacts that could potentially result from this crisis in terms 
of the Group’s results. The Group is currently analysing potential 
scenarios and the resulting impact. Important is to note that the 
business trends might evolve faster-than-expected with some 
industries reaching their inflection point more quickly than others 
and returning to growth in a shorter time frame than expected, 
as was the case for the automotive sector during the 2008 crisis.

Moreover, changes in the demand for engineering consulting and 
R&D services may occur with some delay in relation to changes 
in economic activity as ordering customers may not reduce or 
suspend their R&D investments immediately. Volatile or uncertain 
economic conditions could therefore make it difficult for the Group 
to make any business forecasts.

4.1 Risks relating to the Company and the Group 

4.1.1. Risks related to the Group’s business activities and industry
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(b)��Given�that�the�Group�is�active�in�the�consultancy�and�R&D�
sector, its performance and ability to satisfactorily meet the 
demands of its customers particularly depends on it being 
able�to�attract�and�retain�qualified�and�competent�personnel

Given that the Group is active in the consultancy and R&D sector, 
it’s performance and ability to satisfactorily meet the demands of 
its customers particularly depends on the men and women who 
work in the Group. Given the qualifications meet the needs of 
customers, they are well sought after in the labour market in their 
respective areas of expertise. The Group has entered into employ-
ment agreements with key personnel based on what it deems to 
be market conditions. However, the Group’s ability to recruit and 
retain its staff depends on a number of factors, including salary 
and benefits, workplace placement and work environment and 
recruitment procedures at competitors. 

If a significant number of qualified employees discontinues their 
employment, the Group may not be able to replace them with 
ease and its business may be disrupted. In addition, if a signifi-
cant number of qualified employees were to join a competitor or 
a customer with whom they performed assignments on behalf of 
the Group, the Group may lose major contracts or customers and 
know-how (please also refer to risk factor 4.1.1(d) below titled “The 
Group is subject to risks of concentration of services and client 
groups and to risks of loss of one or several markets (geographical 
area or industry), clients or contracts generating a significant part 
of the Group’s total revenue”). Although the Group put measures 
in place to be able to retain personnel, such as an incentive pro-
gram for key managers, these may still prove to be insufficient.

The Group’s growth could be affected should it have difficulty 
recruiting talent. If the Group does not succeed in continuing to 
attract and retaining the staff required for its activities or unex-
pectedly loses the services of one or more of these key individuals, 
this may have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, results 
of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, dif-
ficulty in recruiting could also prevent the Group from honoring 
its commitments with its customers. 

In the event of tension in the labour market, the desire to recruit 
and retain the most qualified employees could lead the Group to 
review its compensation and employment benefits policies. In the 
event of such a situation, the Group cannot guarantee that it will 
be able to pass on any costs incurred by these arrangements to 
the price of its services.

While, in the past few years, the Group has not experienced any 
significant disruption of its business as a result of strikes, work 
stoppages or other labour conflicts, any deterioration in labour 
relations could disrupt its activities, damage its reputation or 
cause a rise in salaries and the granting of additional benefits, and 
thus have a significant negative impact on its business, income, 
financial position and outlook.

(c)��The�integration�of�Data�Respons�acquired�in�Q1�2020�may�be�
complex and the Group may fail to realize the anticipated 
business�growth�opportunities,�revenue�benefits,�cost�syner-
gies,�operational�efficiencies�and�other�benefits�anticipated�
from this acquisition

Acquisitions and external growth have been a key part of the 
Group’s strategy. Acquisitions are envisaged when they are of 
strategic interest to the Group in terms of geographical location 
or synergy between businesses, while creating value and accel-
erating growth.

In Q1 2020, the Group invested close to €370 million in the acqui-
sition of the Norwegian headquartered Group Data Respons. This 
acquisition was realized with a purpose to pursue the roadmap 
of Group transformation and digitalization of its business. Given 
the significance of this investment, failure to realize the contem-
plated growth opportunities, revenue benefits, cost synergies and 
operational efficiencies associated with this acquisition may have 
an adverse impact.

Data Respons’ acquisition is aimed at strengthening AKKA’s digi-
tal activities. Innovation generated by the digital sector, mobility, 
electrification and autonomous driving assistance services (ADAS) 
will continue to drive demand, and acceleration of deployment 
of its digital strategy will allow the Group to become major actor 
in digital services. The success of this transaction means that the 
Group now has Europe’s largest and most comprehensive digital 
solutions portfolio for the fast-growing mobility market. AKKA legacy 
and Data Respons teams are working together to implement the 
strong commercial and operational synergies as quickly as possible.

It is possible that the Group will not realize any or all of the antici-
pated benefits of any acquisition or that the acquired companies 
cannot perform as anticipated. The integration of acquired busi-
nesses may be complex and expensive and may present other 
risks and challenges, such as the following:

 ■  the assumptions made by the Group for the valuation of the 
acquisition may not be verified, in particular with regard to 
the prices, costs, synergies and profitability expected;

 ■  difficulties linked to the integration of the activities or com-
panies acquired could arise and impact the expected value 
of the transaction;

 ■  the Group could may not be able to retain certain key employ-
ees or customers and thereby lose a portion of the expected 
value of the acquired entity.

In addition, goodwill resulting from the Data Respons acquisition 
represents a significant asset in the consolidated balance sheet 
(standing at €330 million as at 31 December 2020, i.e. 17% of the 
Group’s total balance sheet). A risk of impairment of this Goodwill 
may amongst others arise in case of failure to properly integrate 
acquired companies, to retain key people or customers, to realize 
expected synergies, etc. Please also refer to the risk factor titled 
“A decrease in the expected future earnings of an operating sub-
sidiary could lead to an impairment of goodwill, which could have 
a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial 
position of the Group”.

The Group’s business, financial position, results, growth and me-
dium- and long-term prospects could be significantly affected if 
one or more of these risks were to materialise.

(d)��The�Group�is�subject�to�risks�of�concentration�of�services�and�
client�groups�and�to�risks�of�loss�of�one�or�several�markets�(geo-
graphical�area�or�industry),�clients�or�contracts�generating�a�
significant�part�of�the�Group’s�total�revenue�

Although the Group tries to diversify its customer base, and its 
activities cover a large number of customers based in different 
countries and operating in key industrial sectors, it is still subject 
to the risks of concentration of services and client groups. In 2020, 
the Group’s largest customer, Daimler, accounted for 13.5 percent 
of revenue (compared to 15.9 percent in 2019). The Group’s top 10 
customers accounted for 51.9 percent of consolidated revenue in 
2020 (compared to 54.2 percent in 2019 and 57.7 percent in 2018).
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The concentration of a significant portion of the Group’s revenues 
on a limited number of customers could have a significant adverse 
effect on the Group’s business, income, financial position and 
outlook if one or more of such customers would decide to end, 
in whole or in part, their commercial relationship with the Group.

The Group may have to face pressure on its prices and margins 
from its main customers, which could be in a strong position to 
negotiate in view of their notable contribution to the Group’s rev-
enues, even with regard to customers for which price levels were 
set during referencing. These pressures could reduce the Group’s 
margins and the average prices of its services, which could have 
a significant adverse effect on the Group’s business, income, 
financial position and outlook. In addition, the Group is always 
subject to the risk of a particular customer discontinuing a project.

Moreover, a significant portion of the revenue and margin of the 
Group (from 30% to 70%, depending on the BU) is derived from 
fixed price contracts which do generally not allow the Group to 
increase, without customer’s prior approval, the price initially 
set for its service in order to take into account elements that are 
sometimes difficult to anticipate when submitting a proposal. If 
the expectations and assumptions made when submitting such 
proposal were erroneous, additional resources would have to be 
allocated to those projects, which would reduce their profitability. 
However, the weighting of the top 10 customers has eased by 
5 percentage points in the space of two years and this trend is 
expected to increase further.

This diversification was a key challenge of the PACT17 strategic 
plan and is consolidated in the CLEAR 2022 plan, and reinforced 
in the Fit2Clear strategic transformation plan, in particular with 
the aim of developing ten further major customers in addition to 
the Group’s top 10, and of reaching a critical size (between €30 
million and €50 million, depending on the manufacturer’s size) 
with each of them (top 20). Please also refer to the first chapter of 
this report for more information on the Fit2Clear plan. 

(e)��Failure�to�be�referenced�in�the�panels�of�key�accounts�and�
increased competition from consolidating competitors could 
have�a�significant�adverse�impact�on�the�Group’s�business

The Group’s operations in the leading European and international 
business regions and its referencing by major industrial customers 
have made it a benchmark in its sector in Europe. As such AKKA 
is ranked1 in the Leadership zone in the ER&D services overall by 
Zinnov, the consulting, research and advisory firm, in its annual 
Zinnov Zones research report into the state of global enterprise 
engineering research and development (ER&D) services.

Most key accounts have initiated a policy aimed at reducing the 
number of technology consultancies with which they work. This 
has resulted in a reduction in the number of partners approved 
as suppliers, which has tended to benefit larger players. These 
players conduct approvals on a regular basis (every three years on 
average). Although the procedures for setting up panels depend on 
each customer, panels are often organised either by technological 
areas or by entities within the ordering customer (by subsidiary, 
division or hub) and for specific, defined periods of time.

The Group’s organic growth is based in part on its ability to be 
referenced in the panels of ordering customers. Based on its long-
standing relationship with its clients and track record in renewal, 
the Group considers its customer satisfaction rate as excellent. 
However, if the Group is not part of new panels of growing com-
panies or is excluded from a panel on which it used to appear, it 
could have a significant adverse effect on the Group’s business, 
financial position, income and outlook. Please also refer to risk 
factor 4.1.1(d) below, titled “The Group is subject to risks of concen-
tration of services and client groups and to risks of loss of one or 
several markets (geographical area or industry), clients or contracts 
generating a significant part of the Group’s total revenue”.

Moreover, the Group devotes significant resources on to the 
preparation of its proposals, notably to identify potential order-
ing customers, to establish the Group’s reputation with them, to 
demonstrate to them the Group’s ability to master the required 
technologies, and to meet the compliance criteria that may be 
required. The costs thus incurred may not be offset if the Group 
fails to obtain the desired referencing from a customer.

The Group’s organisation nevertheless gives it a significant mea-
sure of responsiveness and a high degree of flexibility, enabling 
it to adapt very quickly to changes in its markets and the require-
ments of its customers. The geographical and sector spread of 
the Group’s sales and the segmentation of its offerings further 
mitigate this risk.

The market for engineering consulting and R&D services remains 
relatively fragmented but has tended to concentrate. Over the 
past five years the five largest European players combined2 have 
increased their total headcount from 78,000 people in 2015 to 
more than 130,000 in 2019 with total revenue increasing from 
6.1 billion euros in 2015 to close to 9.5 billion euros. This very fast 
growth is not only driven by the organic growth resulting from 
the ongoing needs for innovation from our clients but also by an 
active acquisition policy across the industry. This could lead to 
the emergence of competitors with potentially superior financial, 
commercial or human resources to those of the Group and which 
could form strategic or contractual relationships with current or 
potential Group customers in the markets in which the Group is 
present or wishes to develop.

The Group’s competitors could merge or develop closer relations, 
and the diversified service offerings of these consolidated compa-
nies, or the increased synergies resulting from the consolidation, 
could increase the level of competition to which the Group is 
exposed, especially if the Group were unable to take part in this 
movement towards consolidation.

In the event of a more competitive environment, the Group could 
be forced to reduce the prices of its services or not be able to 
increase them to the desired level in order to increase its margins, 
which could, ultimately, have an adverse effect on the Group’s 
business, income, financial position or outlook.

1 https://zinnovzones.com/ratings/e-r-and-d-services/overall/2020
2  The five largest European players on top of AKKA are Altran (now part of Capgemini Group), Alten, Bertrandt and Edag.  
Source: Companies’ publications
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(a)��The�COVID-19�pandemic�has�adversely�affected�the�Group’s�
operations�and�financial�results,�and�may�negatively�impact�
the�Group’s�liquidity�and�its�ability�to�comply�with�financial�
covenants�under�its�material�financing�arrangements

The Group’s operations and financial results have been adversely 
affected by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on many of its 
customers, which has resulted in lower revenue levels and profitability 
in recent months, in particular since the introduction of government 
restrictions on travel, leisure activities and business operations (please 
also refer to risk factor 4.1.1(a) above, titled “The demand for outsourced 
engineering consulting and R&D services is contingent upon the inter-
national economic climate and can be adversely affected in times of 
crisis and the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on the economy and the 
Group’s customers (particularly on the mobility sector where the Group 
achieved approximately 74% of its revenue as at 31 December 2020) 
has negatively affected and may in the future negatively affect the 
Group”). If these factors continue to impact the Group, or the pan-
demic increases in severity, it may have a significant impact on the 
Group’s ability to satisfy financial covenants in its material financing 
arrangements.

Some of the Group’s financial debt arrangements benefit from financial 
covenants. A breach of such covenants may lead to an event of default 
under the relevant financing agreement and may trigger an event of 
default under other financing arrangements. In such case, the Group 
may be required to repay these borrowings before their due date, 
which could have an adverse impact on the liquidity of the Group. 

If the Group were unable to avoid a breach of these financial covenants 
when tested, at any time after the financial covenant breach, the 
lenders party to those agreements would have the right to demand 
the accelerated payment in full of the relevant amounts (principal and 
other items, including make-whole amounts) outstanding at the time 
of the breach and/or a cross-default in relation to the Group’s other 
financing arrangements may occur (see Section 7 “Capitalisation 
and Indebtedness” for a breakdown of financial indebtedness as at 
31 December 2020). If such a repayment demand were to be made 
and a cross-default were to occur, the Group does not expect that 
it would have access to funds immediately available to repay such 
amounts at that time, without undertaking mitigating actions. An 
inability to comply with its financial covenants over the longer term or 
to maintain sufficient liquidity could have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 
For more information on the Group’s financing arrangements and the 
cross-default provisions therein, please refer to chapter 6, section 4.13 
of this document.

(b)�The�Group�is�exposed�to�liquidity�risks

Changing market conditions or lower credit ratings could result in a 
contraction in the availability of credit, reduce the Group’s sources of 
liquidity and result in higher borrowing costs. The Group’s liquidity risk 
therefore depends on the ability to generate cash from operations 
to service payment obligations under its debts, refinance debt or 
raise new debt. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had gross cash 
and cash equivalents of €467,970,000, fully classified in cash, of 
which €21,481,000 was held with the factor under the factoring lines.

Notwithstanding the Group’s liquidity reserves and several com-
mitted credit facilities, which amount to €470,000,000 as at 31 
December 2020, adverse market conditions, an increased leverage 
(including the increase of the leverage, which has resulted from 
the acquisition of Data Respons and the Covid-19 pandemic) or 

lower credit ratings could reduce the Group’s flexibility to respond 
to changing business and economic conditions or to meet existing 
debt maturities, fulfil the Group’s financial obligations or fund its 
working capital needs. If adverse conditions were to lead to a breach 
of financial covenant or an increase in the leverage ratio, this could 
have an adverse impact on the Group’s ability to refinance its 
existing debt. In addition, a breach of covenant could reduce the 
availability of factoring lines and therefore also adversely impact 
the Group’s liquidity. 

For more information, please refer to Chapter 6, Section 4.13.2 of 
this document.

(c)��Goodwill�resulting�from�acquisitions�represents�a�significant�
asset�in�the�consolidated�balance�sheet�(standing�at�€691.4�
million�as�at�31�December�2020,�i.e.�35%)�and�a�decrease�in�
the expected future earnings of an operating subsidiary could 
lead to an impairment of goodwill

Goodwill resulting from acquisitions represents a significant asset 
in the consolidated balance sheet (standing at €691.4 million as at 
31 December 2020, i.e. 35%). A risk of impairment of this Goodwill 
may amongst others arise in case of failure to properly integrate 
acquired companies, to retain key people or customers of these 
companies, to realize expected synergies, etc. 

The impairment test is performed at year-end, as described in 
Chapter 6, Notes 2.9 and 4.2 of this document, and did not lead 
to the recognition of any impairment as at 31 December 2020.

Goodwill represents the difference between the price paid for an 
acquired business and the fair value of their net assets as of the 
date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested at least annually for impair-
ment. Impairment testing is performed based upon estimates of 
the fair value of the operating subsidiary to which the goodwill 
relates. The fair value of the operating subsidiary is impacted by the 
performance of the business. The performance of the businesses 
may be adversely impacted by prolonged market declines. If it is 
determined that the goodwill has been impaired, the goodwill will 
have to be written down by the amount of the impairment, with 
a corresponding charge to net earnings. Such write-downs could 
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or 
financial position. A decrease in the expected future earnings of 
an operating subsidiary could lead to an impairment of some or 
all of the goodwill or other long-lived intangible assets associated 
with such operating subsidiaries in future periods.

(d)��The�Group�is�subject�to�fluctuations�in�currency�exchange�
rates including to translation risk resulting from subsidiaries 
operating in currencies other than the euros

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of its 
international activities, including its geographical spread in the 
leading European and international business regions.

The Group is subject to translation risk, which is the risk of variation 
in the Group’s euros-denominated consolidated financial state-
ments resulting from subsidiaries operating in currencies other 
than the euros. Outside the euros area, the Group has operations 
in the United Kingdom, Japan, Switzerland, Romania, Turkey, 
the Czech Republic, Morocco, China, Dubai, Qatar, Singapore, 
Norway, Sweden, Denmark, the United States and Canada. These 
operations accounted for approximately 30.6 percent of consoli-
dated revenue in 2020 (of which 17.0 percent in the United States), 
compared with 24.8 percent in 2019 (of which 16.5 percent in the 

4.1.2. Risks related to the Group’s financial situation
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United States). Flows of purchases and revenue in local currency 
are more or less balanced, with the exception of operations in the 
Czech Republic, where services are invoiced in euros, but expenses 
incurred in local currency.

The Group is also subject to transactional risk, which is the ex-
change risk linked to a specific transaction, such as a Group 
company buying or selling in a currency other than its functional 
currency).

The choice of borrowing currency depends mainly on the op-
portunities offered by the various markets. This means that the 
selected currency is not necessarily that of the country in which 
the funds will be invested.

Exchange rate fluctuations may adversely affect the Group’s busi-
ness, financial condition and results of operations. For more infor-
mation, please refer to Chapter 6, Section 4.13.3 of this document.

(e)�The�Group�is�subject�to�counterparty�risk

The Group has contractual relations with multiple parties, which 
include a number of counterparties with whom AKKA’s revenue is 
concentrated, and is therefore exposed to the credit standing of 
its business partners. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade 
receivables for a total amount of €192 million. The inability of any 
such counterparty to live up to their contractual obligations could 
have an adverse impact on the liquidity of the Group.

The Group’s exposure to the counterparty risk for trade receivables 
does not significantly differ from the ratios indicated in risk factor 
4.1.1(d) “The Group is subject to risks of concentration of services 
and client groups and to risks of loss of one or several markets 
(geographical area or industry), clients or contracts generating 
a significant part of the Group’s total revenue related to the risk 
of concentration”.

(f)�The�Group�is�subject�to�interest�rate�risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because the Company 
and other entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and 
floating interest rates. As at 30 December 2020, 22 percent (€139.4 
million) of the financial debt of the Group was at fixed rate and 
78 percent (€508.8million) was at floating rate. As at 31 December 
2020, a 1 percent increase in the market interest rates would have 
had an impact of €2.5 million loss for the Group. 

The interest rates are dependent both on general market condi-
tions as well as on investors’ and lenders’ perception of the Group’s 
liquidity and growth profile. Any additions to floating rate debt 
could increase its exposure to movements in both underlying 
interest rates and the risk premium which the Group pays.

(a)��The�Group�is�active�in�sectors�characterised�by�a�high�degree�
of regulation, forcing the Group to dedicate a growing share 
of�its�technical�and�financial�resources�to�efforts�to�comply�
with this regulation and non-compliance with these regula-
tions may result in penalties or loss of revenue for the Group.

The Group is active in certain specific sectors characterised by a 
high degree of regulation. The activities of some of its customers 
sometimes require the Group to comply with the regulations to which 
they are subject. In highly regulated sectors, this forces the Group to 
dedicate a growing share of its technical and financial resources to 
efforts to comply with local standards. In particular, the acquisition 
of PDS Tech in the United States of America has led to the imposition 
of the requirements of the US administration regarding companies 
under Foreign Ownership, Control or Influence (FOCI), which induced 
costs and business constraints. The costs for the Group of said require-
ments is evaluated to less than €200,000. The failure of the Group 
to maintain the necessary clearances or to comply with its commit-
ments regarding the mitigation measures may impact the ability of 
the Group to continue operating its activities in the highly regulated 
sectors of defence and aerospace in the United States of America.

The Group must have specific certifications in order to work with 
certain customers (representing less than 10% of its business). The 
loss or non-renewal of these certifications could lead to reduced 
business and thus have a significant impact on revenue.

(b)�Risks�related�to�litigation

The General Management of each country, with the support of its 
Chief Financial Officer and the Legal Department, is responsible 
for ensuring that the Company and the Group as a whole complies 
with laws and regulations in force and its contractual obligations 
towards its clients, partners and suppliers.

As at the date of this Report, and to the best of the Group’s knowl-
edge, adequate provisions have been set aside to cover all dis-
putes which may have a significant impact on the Group’s business, 
results, financial position or assets and liabilities. For more infor-
mation, please refer to Chapter 6, Section 4.12 of this document.

In general, it cannot be guaranteed that, in the future, no new 
proceedings, whether or not related to those currently underway, 
will be initiated against the Company or its subsidiaries. Such 
proceedings may be lengthy and costly and, regardless of the 
merits of the underlying claim, may have negative consequences 
on the Group’s business, income, financial position, cash position 
and outlook.

(c)��The�Group’s�financial�position�could�be�impacted�as�a�result�of�a�
claim�not�(entirely)�being�covered�by�the�insurance�policies,�the�
insurance companies demanding substantial reimbursement, 
risks not timely being transferred to the insurance policies or 
the deterioration of the insurance market conditions consid-
ering market trends for 2020

The Group’s insurance department is responsible for annual con-
tract negotiation and also monitors the insurance policy in relation 
to the risks involving the civil liability of the Company, its subsid-
iaries and its directors. The main policies taken out within the 
Group are (i) operational, professional, products and completed 
operations civil liability; (ii) civil liability for aerospace and space 
industry products; and (iii) comprehensive property damage.

In addition, each of the Group’s entities takes out the insurance 
policies required by local laws in its host country (inexcusable fault 
civil liability, employer’s liability, workers compensation, etc.) and 
those that are appropriate to its specific risks (operating losses, civil 
liability in respect of private vehicles used on company business, 

4.1.3. Legal and regulatory risks



46	  - Annual report 2020

etc.). Acquisitions are included in the Group’s insurance policy and 
cover is adapted to their specific needs.

The Company cannot guarantee that all claims made against it 
or that all losses suffered are and will in future be covered by its 
insurance, nor that the policies in place will always be sufficient 
to cover all the costs and financial penalties that may result from 
a claim against it. In the event of a claim not covered by the 
insurance policies or significantly exceeding the insurance policy 
ceiling, or if the insurance companies demand substantial reim-
bursement, the corresponding costs and convictions could impact 
the Group’s financial position.

Furthermore, it is possible that risks are not identified or not in a 
timely manner, and hence not (timely) transferred to the insurance 
policies, subjecting the Group to potential adverse consequences.

Considering the insurance market trends for 2020, the Group may 
also be adversely impacted by the deterioration of the insurance 
market conditions, which may result in difficulties to maintain a 
good coverage for specific risks such as aeronautics general lia-
bility, and/or in a significant increase of the premium to be paid 
by the Group to cover its activities.
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(a)��The�Company’s�ability�to�pay�dividends�in�the�future�is�not�
guaranteed

As announced, in view of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the Board of Directors resolved to not submit a proposal to the 
annual General Shareholders’ Meeting of 16 June 2020 to distrib-
ute a dividend but, instead, to propose the allocation of all the 
profit for the financial year ending on 31 December 2019 to the 
voluntary reserves. This proposal was approved by the annual 
General Shareholders’ Meeting with unanimity of the votes cast. 
Given the considerable uncertainty regarding the duration, extent 
and ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is not possible 
to predict when the Company will once again be able to pay a 
dividend to Shareholders.

Future dividends will also be subject to the financial condition 
of the Group. Under Belgian company law, a company can only 
pay dividends to the extent that its net-assets are not below or 
as a result of the distribution would not fall below the amount 
of its paid-up (or if higher, called-up) capital increased with its 
non-distributable reserves. As a holding company, the Company’s 
ability to pay dividends in the future is affected by a number of 
factors, principally its ability to receive sufficient dividends from 
its subsidiaries. These requirements could limit the payment of 
dividends and distributions to the Company by its subsidiaries, 
which could in the future restrict the Company’s ability to pay a 
dividend to Shareholders.

(b)�The�market�price�of�the�Shares�may�be�volatile

Publicly traded securities from time to time experience significant 
price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated to the results 
of operations or the financial condition of the companies that 
have issued them. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that 
the market price of the Shares available in the public market will 
reflect the Company’s actual financial performance. A number of 
factors may affect the market price of the Shares. These factors 
include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) market expec-
tations for the Company’s financial performance; (ii) actual or 
anticipated fluctuations in the Company’s and/or the Group’s 
business, operational results or financial condition; (iii) actual or 

anticipated fluctuations in the general economic, financial or 
business conditions in the countries in which the Group operates; 
(iv) changes in the estimates of the Company’s financial results 
by securities analysts or the failure to meet the estimates of the 
securities analysts; (v) investors’ perception of the impact of the 
Transaction on the Company and its Shareholders; (vi) actual or 
anticipated sales of blocks of Shares in the market or short selling 
of Shares; (vii) actual or anticipated speculative trading in the 
Shares; (viii) actual or anticipated future issuances of Shares; (ix) 
actual or anticipated changes in the Group’s sector, including, 
but not limited to, mergers and acquisitions, and the strategic 
alliances in which the Group operates; (x) changes in the trading 
liquidity of the Shares; (xi) volatility in the domestic or international 
stock markets; (xii) the general condition of the global economy 
or financial system; and (xiii) the risk factors mentioned in Section 
4.1 “Risks relating to the Company and the Group”.

In addition, stock markets have in the recent past experienced 
extreme declines and price and volume fluctuations, particularly 
as a result of the ongoing outbreak of COVID-19 on the macro-
economic outlook. These fluctuations have not always been re-
lated to the performance of the specific companies whose shares 
are traded. These fluctuations, as well as general economic and 
political conditions, could have an adverse effect on the market 
price of the Shares (including the New Shares).

If there is a substantial decline in the market price of the Shares, 
this may have an adverse impact on the market price of the 
Preferential Rights. Any volatility in the market price of the Shares 
may also adversely affect the market price of the Preferential 
Rights, which may become worthless as a result thereof.

(c)�The�market�price�of�the�Shares�could�be�negatively�affected�
by sales of substantial numbers of Shares in the public markets

A sale of a significant number of Shares on the stock market, or 
the perception that such a sale could occur, could adversely affect 
the Share price. The Company cannot predict the effect on the 
Share price if the shareholders were to decide to sell their Shares.

Given the nature of our business, the activity of the Group's companies has a moderate impact on the environment. However, the 
Group is aware of its environmental responsibility and therefore endeavours to reduce its energy footprint. See the chapter on the 
Group's social and environmental responsibility.

4.2. Risks relating to the Shares

4.3. Environmental risks
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The Group’s insurance department is responsible for annual con-
tract negotiation and also monitors the insurance policy in relation 
to the risks involving the civil liability of the Company, its subsid-
iaries and its directors. The main policies taken out within the 
Group are (i) operational, professional, products and completed 
operations civil liability; (ii) civil liability for aerospace and space 
industry products; and (iii) cyber risk.

In addition, each of the Group’s entities takes out the insurance 
policies required by local laws in its host country (inexcusable fault 
civil liability, employer’s liability, workers compensation, etc.) and 
those that are appropriate to its specific risks (property damage 
/ business interruption, civil liability in respect of private vehicles 
used on company business, etc.). 

Civil liability policies are taken out by AKKA Technologies on be-
half of all its subsidiaries under international insurance programs. 

Depending on the local legal requirements, the Group’s subsidiar-
ies also benefit from a “no excess” policy and, where applicable, 
a “difference in terms and conditions and limits” guarantee in 
respect of local policies, whether or not they are included in the 
international insurance programs. 

Subject to specific circumstances, acquisitions are included in 
the Group's insurance policy and coverage is adapted to their 
specific needs.

The new risks emerging at Group level are identified, assessed 
and added to the insurance policies coverage. 

The following table summarises the principal insurance policies 
taken out, namely: 

The Company cannot guarantee that all claims made against it 
or that all losses suffered are and will in future be covered by its 
insurance, nor that the policies in place will always be sufficient 
to cover all the costs and financial penalties that may result from 
a claim against it. In the event of a claim not covered by the 
insurance policies or significantly exceeding the insurance policy 
ceiling, or if the insurance companies demand substantial reim-
bursement, the corresponding costs and convictions could impact 
the Group’s financial position.

Furthermore, it is possible that risks are not identified or not in a 
timely manner, and hence not (timely) transferred to the insurance 
policies, subjecting the Group to potential adverse consequences.

Considering the insurance market trends for 2020, the Group may 
also be adversely impacted by the deterioration of the insurance 
market conditions, which may result in difficulties to maintain a 
good coverage for specific risks such as aeronautics general lia-
bility, and/or in a significant increase of the premium to be paid 
by the Group to cover its activities.

4.5. Insurance policy 

Insurance policy Insured party/parties Deductible Amount of cover

Operational civil liability
AKKA Technologies and all its 

subsidiaries

€5,000 €25,000,000 per claim event

Professional/products and completed operations 
civil liability €100,000 €25,000,000 per year and per 

claim event

Civil liability for aerospace and space industry 
products

AKKA Technologies and all its 
subsidiaries None €150,000,000 per claim event and 

per year

Cyber risk and data privacy AKKA Technologies and its insured 
subsidiaries €200,000 €25,000,000 per claim event and 

per year

Executive officers’ civil liability Directors of the AKKA Technologies 
Group None €40,000,000 per year

The Group remains firmly established in countries that have robust legislation on labor law. As an employer, the Group could be exposed 
to issues of freedom of association or collective bargaining rights, but it considers this risk to be very low, given the deployment of its 
HR policy and the scaling-up of its review processes. Moreover, the activities of the Group and its markets actually reduce the risks of 
illegal, forced or child labor. Through its Code of Conduct, the Group ensures that all situations potentially harmful to its reputation 
or its business are avoided.

4.4.  Risk with regard to business ethics and respect for human 
rights
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5.  THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE
During the year ending December 31, 2020, the Company continued its role as a holding company for all Group companies.

The table below contains a summary of the main aggregates of the income statement and balance sheet for the years ending 
December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

It should be noted that AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE also has a French branch.

The statutory financial statements of AKKA Technologies SE are prepared in accordance with Belgian accounting standards. The stat-
utory auditor has issued an unqualified opinion and certifies that the non-consolidated financial statements of AKKA Technologies 
SE for the year ended 31 December 2020 present a true and fair view of the financial position and results of AKKA Technologies SE.

In accordance with the law, the detailed annual accounts will be filed with the National Bank of Belgium within the legal deadlines.

These documents are available on our website www.akka-technologies.com
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ASSETS (in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Net intangible and tangible assets  6,575  8,386 

Net financial assets  614,928  267,662 

Non-current assets  621,503  276,048 

Net receivables  441,255  569,025 

Cash and cash equivalents  236,755  119,551 

Current assets  678,010  688,576 

Prepaid expenses  333  359 

Total assets  1,299,846  964,983 

INCOME STATEMENT (in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Net revenue  39,269  38,399 

Operating profit/loss (7,852) (651) 

Financial income/(expense) (37,320)  18,729 

Extraordinary income/(expense)  -  - 

Income tax (186) (1,835)

Profit or loss (45,358)  16,243 

LIABILITIES (in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Shareholders' equity  241,500  86,854 

Provisions for risks and expenses  998  381 

Financial liabilities  797,500  704,500 

Operating payables  253,635  170,485 

Other liabilities  6,213  2,763 

TOTAL�LIABILITIES  1,299,846  964,983 



49	 - Annual report 2020

6. CAPITAL INCREASES
6.1.  Decision by the Board of Directors on May 5, 2020: issue of 

new shares at a ratio of 1:10
At its meeting on May 5, 2020, the Board of Directors decided to 
execute the authorization conferred on it by Article 7 of the Articles 
of Association and increase the Company’s capital, “by converting 
reserves – including restricted reserves – or share premiums into 
capital, whether by creating new shares or not”, with a view to 
issuing one new share for 10 existing shares and allocating these 
shares to the Company’s existing shareholders, free of charge, for 
the following reasons: (i) to increase the liquidity of the Company’s 
shares by increasing the number of outstanding shares to the ben-
efit of the Company’s existing shareholders to whom these shares 
will be allocated; (ii) to provide short and medium-term support to 
its shareholders by strengthening the Company’s capital structure 
by converting reserves into Company capital; (iii) to ensure greater 
financial solidity and strengthen the Company’s financial outlook 
and credibility with its partners; and (iv) therefore, in general, to 
meet the need for funding necessary to develop the policy of the 

Company and its subsidiaries by improving the Company’s financ-
ing capacity, particularly in the uncertain economic conditions 
linked to the COVID-19 crisis.

The Company therefore issued 2,029,199 new common shares, 
each with a nominal value of €1.53 and each representing an 
equivalent proportion of the share capital, of the same class as 
the existing shares and fully paid up in the same way as existing 
Company shares.

The new shares were issued to all shareholders of the company 
on May 20, 2020 in proportion to the number of shares held in 
the company by each shareholder on May 15, 2020, with one new 
share issued for every 10 existing shares.

In accordance with Article 7 of the Company’s Articles of Association, 
the Board of Directors decided to increase the capital through 
a cash contribution of €13,600,000.17, from €34,141,419.17 to 
€47,751,419.34, by creating 8,888,889 common shares of the same 
type and enjoying the same rights and benefits as the Company’s 
existing common shares. These shares were issued at a price of 
€22.50 euros each. The total amount of the capital increase, 
including the share premium, amounted to €200,000,002.50.

In accordance with Articles 7:191, 7:193, and 7:200, point 2 of the 
Belgian Code on Companies and Associations, the Board of 
Directors decided that it was in the Company’s interest to abol-
ish the preferential right of existing shareholders to the benefit of 
specified persons, in favor of:

 ■  BMC Management & Investment SRL, a limited liability 
company with its Head Office at 65-67 rue de Hennin, 1050 
Brussels, Belgium, company number 0837.091.390;

 ■  Ideactive Events SARL, a limited liability company with its 
registered office at 23 rue Philip II, 2340 Luxembourg (Grand 
Duchy of Luxembourg), registered in the Luxembourg com-
mercial register under number B156168;

 ■  Swilux SA, a public limited company with its registered of-
fice at 1, rue de Namur, 2211 Luxembourg (Grand Duchy of 
Luxembourg), registered in the Luxembourg commercial 
register under number B32570.

The shares have been subscribed to as follows: 

 ■ BMC Management and Investment SRL: 444,444 shares

 ■ Ideactive Events SARL: 1,777,778 shares

 ■ Swilux SA: 6,666,667 shares

The capital increase has strengthened the Company’s capital 
structure and improved its financial ratios. It has helped to sup-
port and accelerate the Company’s transformation and growth. 
It has also attracted an investor of good repute, Swilux SA, a 
Luxembourg holding company that is wholly owned and directly 
controlled by Compagnie Nationale à Portefeuille SA (CNP), one of 
the two pillars of the Frère-Bourgeois group, an investment group 
in which the share capital is family-held, and which is controlled 
exclusively by the members of the Frère family and the net assets 
of which amount to approximately €5.5 billion.

In addition, the Ricci Family Group’s stake is a vote of confidence by 
the Company’s long-standing core shareholder and helps to main-
tain a balanced shareholding and governance for the Company.

The subscription price of €22.50 represents a premium of 43% 
compared with the closing price on October 5, 2020 and 33% 
on the weighted average price over the last 30 days of the stock 
exchange up to that same date, when it was announced by press 
release.

The increase in capital led to a dilution of existing shareholders by 
28.48% relative to the number of shares, and by 22.71% relative 
to the number of voting rights.

Based on the closing price on October 5, 2020 (€15.74), the cap-
ital increase had an accretion effect of 12.33% on the equity of 
non-participating shareholders.

It resulted in an increase of €200,000,002.50 in the capital of 
the company.

6.2.  Decision by the Board of Directors on December 30, 2020: 
Increase of €200 million in reserved capital
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7. ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF OWN SHARES
7.1.  Decision by the Board of Directors of February 20, 2020: Share 

buyback program
Pursuant to the authorization granted by the General Meeting on 
June 13, 2019 (Resolution 1), the Board of Directors decided on a 
program to buy back 250,000 shares at a maximum price of €75 in 
order to grant stock purchase options to Company employees and 
officers, to invite them to acquire shares or to allocate them free 
shares, to allocate shares in the spirit of employee participation 
in the outcome of the Company’s expansion, to issue shares for 
payment or in kind in connection with potential external growth 
operations, or to allocate shares in the exercise of rights attached 
to securities conferring an entitlement to existing Company shares 
through redemption, conversion, exchange, presentation of a 
warrant voucher, or in any other manner.

On March 17, 2020, the Board of Directors increased the maximum 
number of shares to be acquired to 325,000 and set the maximum 
redemption price at €35.

325,000 shares were redeemed under this program between 
February 12 and April 27, 2020, for a total price of €11,192,957.96. 
The shares were purchased on the Euronext Paris platform in such 
a manner that the price was, in any case, fixed at an amount 
less than or equal to the highest current independent bid in the 
Euronext Paris central registry and in compliance with the appli-
cable regulations.

The annual balance sheet of the liquidity contract entrusted by the company to Rothschild Martin Maurel is as follows: 

Shares disposed of in 2020 are detailed as follows:

7.2. Liquidity contract balance sheet

7.3. Disposal of shares

No. of transactions No. of shares Amount of capital (€)

Purchased 6,603 658,147 20,025,143

Sold 6,069 659,417 19,693,551

Date Number of shares Unit price Identity of the purchaser

January 15, 2020 2,645 - Free share allocation plan for the 
benefit of two employees

January 15, 2020 169,830 59.6787 Long-term remuneration plan for 
the benefit of five employees

March 27, 2020 20,000 - Free share allocation plan for the 
benefit of one employee

June 29, 2020 7,910 - Free share allocation plan for the 
benefit of one employee

December 28, 2020 290 -
Director’s fee allocated to Mr. 
Alain Tisserand, non-executive 
director

December 28, 2020 290 -
Director’s fee allocated to Ms. 
Valérie Magloire, non-executive 
director
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8. THE GROUP’S DEVELOPMENT AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

After a long period of growth sustained by acquisitions, AKKA has 
streamlined its operations in the various business units and at 
Group level. In preparation for the next cycle, the Group acceler-
ated the rollout of Fit 2 Clear to become more agile and responsive 
to changing demand in terms of sectors and skills. The aim is to 
lower the Group’s profitability threshold and increase its operating 
leverage ahead of the relaunch of major programs by large clients.

The costs associated with the implementation of Fit 2 Clear are 
estimated at approximately €100 million, of which €41.9 million 
was recognized and disbursed in 2020; The remainder will be 
recognized in 2021. As already mentioned, AKKA’s streamlined 
organization began to bear fruit in 2020, with a cost base reduc-
tion of €30 million. The measures implemented are expected to 
reduce the cost base by between €60 million and €65 million 
over a full year, with the full impact expected from 2022, i.e. an 
ROI within 18 months.

Business momentum continues to improve in early 2021, but vis-
ibility remains limited due to the ongoing COVID-19 crisis. As a 
result, AKKA currently expects business activity in 2021 to be more 
dynamic by the end of the year, with Q1 being the last quarter 
expected to decline due to a high pre-COVID-19 comparison 
base and a particular focus on high-margin projects, especially 
in North America.

As already announced in the second half of 2020, AKKA’s man-
agement across all business units focuses primarily on profitability 
as opposed to revenue growth.

The additional cost reductions from the Fit 2 Clear transformation 
plan and the initial savings associated with implementing restruc-
turing plans to adapt capacity to demand expected in the Group’s 
largest business units should allow for a sequential reduction of 
approximately €70 million to €75 million in the Group’s base costs 
compared to 2020.

Free cash flow for the year is expected to be significantly negative 
in 2021 owing to approximately €200 million in one-time disburse-
ments related to restructuring plans, the implementation costs of 
Fit 2 Clear spread over 2021 and 2022, and the payment of deferred 
social security and tax charges which have been rescheduled 
between 2021 and 2023. Due to the seasonality of AKKA’s working 
capital requirements, and with approximately two-thirds of the 
one-time 2021 disbursements payable in the first half of the year, 
net debt is expected to increase significantly in Q1 and Q2 2021 
before improving towards the end of the year.

COVID-19 CRISIS
As the world continues to face an unprecedented situation affect-
ing every company in every sector, it is the Group’s responsibility to 
ensure its employees’ safety and job security whilst also continuing 
to support its clients whenever possible. 

At the time of writing, the changing circumstances mean that 
lockdown measures or other restrictions continue to be in effect 
in the various countries in which the Group operates. The Group 
took swift measures to ensure that its employees could work from 
home, a practice which is now well established, and the Group 
continues to make every effort to ensure that its consultants can 
continue to support its clients’ projects safely. 

Task forces in each business unit are ensuring that all necessary 
measures – such as working from home, partial employment, 
optimized paid leave and training programs – are in place to help 
the gradual and consistent resumption of operations. 

As it is difficult to predict how the crisis will unfold, the Board of 
Directors decided not to pay dividends on shares for the 2019 and 
2020 periods. The aim is to focus all of the Group’s resources on 
protecting its employees’ jobs, concentrating its financial resources 
on funding the Group’s transformation and preparing to emerge 
from the crisis.

This responsible, respectful approach of putting the future of 
AKKA’s people first and maintaining a robust and healthy balance 
sheet structure is inherent in the Group’s DNA. As at December 31, 
2020, AKKA had almost €1 billion in cash assets, including undrawn 
overdraft facilities. 

AKKA remains confident about the fundamentals of the markets 
in which it operates, and is preparing to capitalize on the growth 
in those markets when it resumes. 
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10. ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

10.1. Definitions 

10.2. Detail of Calculations

SUMMARY P&L

The Group uses alternative performance measures (APMs) to provide a broader view of the Group's financial performance that is 
complementary to IFRS aggregates. These APMs are unaudited, and their calculations are based on IFRS and non-IFRS figures.

ECONOMIC GROWTH
Growth at constant scope, exchange rate and number of working 
days.

ORGANIC GROWTH
Growth at constant scope and exchange rate.

CONSTANT PRO FORMA GROWTH
Growth based on proforma figures for the acquisition of Data 
Respons, as if it had been consolidated from January 1st, 2019.

COMPARABILITY�ADJUSTMENTS
Expenses and income related to significant acquisitions, reorga-
nizations, litigation, transformation, amortization of intangible 
assets identified in business combinations, stock options and free 
shares, costs related to the COVID-19 crisis.

OPERATING PROFIT�ADJUSTED
Operating profit increased by comparability adjustments

OPERATING�MARGIN�ADJUSTED
Rate of adjusted operating profit in proportion of Revenue.

EBITDA�ADJUSTED
Operating profit (adjusted) increased by net adjusted depreciation 
and provisions.

NET�DEBT
Financial liabilities reduced by Cash and cash equivalents. It does 
not include the ODIRNANE, equity accounted under IFRS (€175m 
first call in 2025).

NET�DEBT�FOR�COVENANTS

Net debt reduced by value of own shares at year-closing market 
price. It does not include the ODIRNANE, equity accounted under 
IFRS (€175m first call in 2025).

LEVERAGE
Net debt for covenants divided by EBITDA adjusted.

GEARING
Net debtfor covenants divided by Shareholders’ equity.

FREE�CASH�FLOW
Net cash flow from operating activities decreased by acquisitions 
of fixed assets and increased by disposal of fixed assets.
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2020 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Adjustment for 
comparability

Adjusted Published Adjustment for 
comparability

Adjusted

Revenue 1,503.5 1,503.5 1,801.5 1,801.5

Operating expenses before net depreciation, 
amortization, and provisions (1,501.8) 82.7 (1,419.1) (1,621.7) 18.7 (1,603.0)

Net depreciation, amortization, and provisions (172.8) 106.3 (66.4) (57.2) (57.2)

Income from equity-accounted affiliates 1.6 1.6 2.5 2.5

Free shares and stock options (1.0) 1.0 0.0 (3.8) 3.8 0.0

Operating�profit (170.5) 190.0 19.5 121.2 22.5 143.7
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COMPARABILITY ADJUSTMENTS 2020

COMPARABILITY ADJUSTMENTS 2019

*Including €10 million income from Research Tax credit related to 2008-2013 and other individually non materal items. 

*Including €13.3 million income from Research Tax credit related to 2008-09 and other individually non materal items.

(In millions of euros) H1 2020 H2 2020 2020

Operating�profit (66.1) (104.4) (170.5)

Covid related expenses 46.2 13.0 59.2

Fit 2 Clear implementation costs 6.8 35.1 41.9

Costs for restructuring plans - 79.6 79.6

Data Respons PPA intangibles amortization 1.0 8.0 9.0

Free shares & stock options 1.1 (0.1) 1.0

Other income & expense* (1.5) 0.8 (0.7)

Adjusted�operating�profit (12.5) 32.0 19.5

(In millions of euros) 2019

Operating�profit 121.2

Transformation and strategic programs 9.6

Acquisitions / integrations 1.4

New activities 7.1

Free shares & stock options 3.8

Others* 0.6

Adjusted�operating�profit 143.7
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OPERATING PROFIT PER BU

ADJUSTED EBITDA

EBITDA PRE-IFRS 16 (ADJUSTED)

(En�M€)� REVENUE OPERATING PROFIT OPERATING PROFIT (ADJUSTED)1

 H1 
2020 

H2 
2020

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

H1 
2020 

H2 
2020

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

H1 
2020 

H2 
2020

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

FRANCE  264.2 223.9 488.1 661.4 (34.7) (64.1) (98.8) 54.1 (8.6) 4.8 (3.8) 74.1

MARGIN (%) -3.3% 2.1% -0.8% 11.2%

    

GERMANY 181.3 167.9 349.2 516.6 (33.5) (40.5) (74.0) 36.9 (13.4) 7.6 (5.8) 47.8

MARGIN (%) -7.4% 4.5% -1.7% 9.3%

    

NORTH 
AMERICA 138.1 126.7 264.8 305.0 2.8 3.5 6.3 11.8 2.1 4.4 6.5 13.2

MARGIN (%) 1.5% 3.5% 2.5% 4.3%

    

INTERNATIONAL 130.4 117.9 248.3 318.6 7.4 9.1 16.5 34.6 11.9 13.7 25.6 36.6

MARGIN (%) 9.1% 11.6% 10.3% 11.5%

   

DATA RESPONS  64.0 89.1 153.1 0.0 6.9 2.9 9.8 7.9 11.4 19.3 0.0

MARGIN (%) 12.3% 12.8% 12.6% na

    

OTHERS - - - - (15.0) (15.3) (30.3) (16.1) (12.5) (9.8) (22.3) (28.0)

    

GROUP 778.0 725.4 1,503.5 1,801.6 (66.1) (104.4) (170.5) 121.2 (12.6) 32.1 19.5 143.7

MARGIN (%) -1.6% 4.4% 1.3% 8.0%

1  Operating Profit Adjusted is calculated by making comparability adjustments and allocating the Research Tax Credit income from 
each Business Unit to the original BU.

(In millions of euros) 2020 2019

Operating�Profit�(Adjusted) 19.5 143.7

Adjusted Net depreciation and provisions 66.4 57.2

Proforma adjustment* 4.1 0.0

�EBITDA�(Adjusted) 90.0 200.9

(In millions of euros) 2020 2019

�EBITDA�(Adjusted) 90.0 200.9

IFRS 16 impacts (38.6) (31.5)

EBITDA�pre-IFRS�16�(Adjusted) 51.4 169.4

Management report 03
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NET DEBT

COVENANTS NET DEBT

In M€ 2020 2019

Net income (167.9) 73.3

Non cash and non operational items 128.0 89.6

Cash�flow�before�net�interest�borrowing�costs�and�tax (39.9) 162.9

Tax paid (14.9) (21.0)

Change in net working capital 224.4 19.1

Aquisitions of fixed assets net of disposals (27.9) (30.3)

Free�cash�flow 141.8 130.7

This does not include ODIRNANE bonds, which are recognized as shareholders’ equity under IFRS (first call for €175 M in 2025).

This does not include ODIRNANE bonds, which are recognized as shareholders’ equity under IFRS (first call for €175 M in 2025).

LEVERAGE

GEARING

FREE CASH FLOW

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Pre-IFRS 16 Published Pre-IFRS 16

Non-current financial liabilities 635,5 635,5 467,7 467,7

Current financial liabilities 10,1 10,1 74,8 74,8

Lease liability (IFRS 16) - non current 114,7 0,0 123,4 0,0

Lease liability (IFRS 16) - current 33,6 0,0 29,7 0,0

Cash and cash equivalents (468,0) (468,0) (469,2) (469,2)

Net debt 325.9 177.7 226.4 73.3

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Pre-IFRS 16 Published Pre-IFRS 16

Net debt 325.9 177.7 226.4 73.3

Own shares (16.5) (16.5) (29.1) (29.1)

Net debt for covenants 309.4 161.1 197.3 44.2

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Pre-IFRS 16 Published Pre-IFRS 16

Covenants net debt 309.4 161.1 197.3 44.2

Adjusted EBITDA 90.0 51.4 200.9 169.4

Leverage 3.44 3.13 0.98 0.26

Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2019

(In millions of euros) Published Pre-IFRS 16 Published Pre-IFRS 16

Covenants net debt 309.4 161.1 197.3 44.2

Equity 492.6 498.1 478.2 481.5

Gearing 0.63 0.32 0.41 0.09
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1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
AKKA Technologies SE has used the 2020 Belgian Code on Corporate 
Governance (“the 2020 Code”) as a reference since July 8, 2019, 
when the General Meeting published the resolution of June 13, 
2019, requiring the Company to adopt the provisions of the Belgian 
Code on Companies and Associations. This is available at https://
www.corporategovernancecommittee.be/fr/over-de-code-2020/
code-belge-de-gouvernance-dentreprise-2020.

The Corporate Governance Charter, which was implemented on 
the relocation of the Company’s registered office to Belgium on 
May 3, 2018, was updated on July 18, 2019 and then again on 
January 13, 2021. It is available on the Company’s website and on 
the website of FSMA, the Belgian Financial Services and Markets 
Authority. The Charter sets out the principles and rules that deter-
mine how the Company is managed and controlled, as well as its 
governance structure. The Company’s Board of Directors adheres 
to these principles based on transparency and accountability, 
strengthening the confidence of our shareholders and investors. 
The Board of Directors undertakes to comply at all times with 
principles of good governance whilst taking the specific nature 
of the company into account. In doing so, it applies the “comply 
or explain” principle set out in the 2020 Code.

AKKA Technologies only deviates from the 2020 Code on a limited 
number of points; deviations from its recommendations can be 
explained primarily by the Company’s business, the associated 
operations, and the structure of the Board of Directors:

 ■  Principle 3.12 of the 2020 Code recommends a clear division of 
responsibilities between the person presiding over the Board 
of Directors (the Chair) and the person assuming executive 
responsibility for running the company’s business (the CEO). 
AKKA deviates from this rule as the Chair of the Board of 
Directors is also a Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 

This decision has been made for historical reasons and is 
related to the composition of the Company’s ownership. 
Mauro Ricci is the founder of the Company and it is he who 
has enabled the Company to develop so significantly since its 
incorporation. He is also a key shareholder of the Company 
and is its leading advocate.

 ■  Principle 4.3 of the 2020 Code recommends that each spe-
cialist committee of the Board of Directors consist of at 
least three members. The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee consists of only two members, both non-executive 
directors. It is chaired by an independent director, who has the 
requisite expertise in remuneration policy. The Board is of the 
opinion that, based on the attendance and favorable out-
comes of the meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee held in 2019, the deviation from the minimum 
number of members does not affect this committee’s ability 
to carry out its duties effectively.

 ■  Principle 7.8 of the 2020 Code recommends that the executive 
remuneration package be structured to include an ade-
quate element linking reward to both individual and overall 
Company performance. This is the case for executives who are 
not members of the Board of Directors. However, executive 
directors currently receive only fixed remuneration, as well 
as long-term remuneration consisting of stock options, in 
accordance with the 2018-2023 stock option plan approved 
by the General Meeting of June 19, 2018. 
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2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
2.1. Composition

The Company has opted for a one-tier governance structure. 
The Board of Directors is therefore responsible for the general 
conduct of the Company’s operations and is accountable to the 
General Meeting (AGM) for the management of the Company, in 
accordance with Articles 15:17 and 15:18 of the Belgian Code on 
Companies and Associations.

The Board of Directors determines the actions required to pursue 
the Company’s aims and ensures that they are implemented. It has 
the power to carry out all actions necessary or useful to achieve 
the Company’s mission, with the exception of powers conferred 
on the General Meeting by law.

As at December 31, 2020, the Board of Directors had ten mem-
bers, including: 

 ■  seven non-executive directors, three of whom meet the in-
dependence criteria laid down by the 2020 Code;

 ■  two executive directors, who are also responsible for day-
to-day management;

 ■  one director nominated on presentation by the employee 
representatives.

The list of directors is as follows:

Mauro Ricci 
(60 years old) 

Executive Director and Chief Executive 
Officer

Chair of the Board of Directors

Director responsible for day-to-day 
management

Jean-Franck Ricci 
(52 years old) 

Executive Director and Chief Executive 
Officer

Group Managing Director

Director responsible for day-to-day 
management

After a career at Renault Automation, Mauro Ricci founded HYSYS in 1984 in order to tackle 
the problems of recruiting engineers in the automotive sector. This company provided 
manufacturers with technological support in industrialization and production, as well as 
consulting services aimed at improving productivity. Mauro went on to found three more 
companies between 1984 and 1999 to supplement HYSYS’ offering. In anticipation of 
market developments, he merged those four companies into one: AKKA, and introduced 
a Group strategy in 1999 to provide a comprehensive research and development service 
to its clients. As Chairman and CEO of AKKA, Mauro Ricci drives the Group's strategic 
direction to diversify its sectoral exposure and pursue international development, in order 
to accompany the world's major global groups throughout their complete innovation 
and R&D cycle.

Jean-Franck Ricci joined HYSYS as Technical Director in 1988, four years after the Group 
was founded. He subsequently became Managing Director of AKKA Ingénierie Produit, 
the Group’s primary business unit at the time and successfully oversaw the international 
development of the Group at AKKA Development. Jean-Franck now holds the position 
of Group Managing Director and is most notably in charge of Business Development 
and Sales. 
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Alain Tisserand 
(66 years old) 

Independent Director 

Cécile Monnot 
(58 years old) 

Director

Xavier Le Clef 
(44 years old) 

Director

CEO of CNP,  
Co-CEO of Frère-Bourgeois

Charlotte Ricci 
(31 years old) 

Director

With over 30 years’ experience in engineering and consultancy, and as a former head 
of one of France’s largest consultancy firms, Alain Tisserand has supported the AKKA 
Technologies Group since 2002. Since then, he has contributed significantly to the Group’s 
growth, particularly in the aerospace sector.

After beginning her career in management control at Rhône-Poulenc, Cécile Monnot 
joined AKKA Technologies in 1995 as the Finance and Administration Director of a subsid-
iary, then was responsible for the Group’s management control from 2004 to 2011. Since 
2012, she has headed up Ideactive Formation.

Xavier Le Clef holds a degree in Business Economics from Solvay Brussels School of 
Economics & Management and an MBA from Vlerick Business School. Xavier began his 
career with the consultancy firm Arthur D Little in Brussels. He joined CNP in 2006, where 
he has served as a director since 2012 and as CEO since February 2015. He has also been 
joint-CEO of Frère-Bourgeois since early 2018. 

Xavier is the Chair, a director and/or a member of various committees in a number of 
companies in which the Group has a direct or indirect shareholding, including APG, 
Caffitaly, CLS, and Groupe Bruxelles Lambert.

Charlotte Ricci has been a director of the Group since June 5, 2012.
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Valérie Magloire 
(63 years old) 

Independent Director

Muriel Barneoud 
(52 years old) 

Independent Director

Charles Champion 
(66 years old) 

Director

A graduate of the Paris Institute of Political Studies, Valérie Magloire started her career in 
1979 at PSA Peugeot Citroën, first as the controller of a Peugeot division, then as a long-
term financing specialist, also responsible for banking relationships within the Group’s 
Finance Department.

From 1996 to 2008, she was in charge of the Group’s investor relations.

Valérie joined Michelin in July 2008 and was Head of Investor Relations there from 2009 to 
2018. She has since been appointed Finance and Strategy Director of the Specialties Division.

Muriel Barnéoud is a graduate of the Paris Institute of Political Studies and the French 
National School of Posts and Telecommunications (ENSPTT), and holds a specialist degree 
in financial management and taxation.

After starting her career at Arthur Andersen, she joined La Poste Group in 1994.

Now Director of Social Engagement at La Poste, Muriel has also held the position of CEO 
of Docapost (a subsidiary of the La Poste Group specializing in helping companies and 
institutions through the digital and mobile transition) and served as Assistant Managing 
Director of the Post Division in her capacity as Industrial Director. 

She is an elected member of the Paris Île-de-France Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
and sits on the Management Committee of the Abbé Grégoire Foundation of the National 
Conservatory of Arts and Crafts. She is highly active within the Finance Innovation unit, 
where she has jointly managed a number of working groups.

Muriel is a Chevalier de l'ordre National de la Légion d’honneur (Knight of the National 
Order of the Legion of Honor).

An aeronautical engineer and graduate of the National Higher French Institute of 
Aeronautics and Space (ISAE-Sup’Aero) and Stanford University, Charles Champion has 
held senior positions at Airbus in Production, where he was responsible for a number of 
programs. In particular, he was responsible for the A320 program and for the development 
of the A380 program up to certification. 

Charles then became Head of Client Support Services and was responsible for the 
development of related service activities before becoming Executive Vice President of 
Engineering, Research and Development for commercial aviation. He was a member 
of the Executive Committee of Airbus Commercial Aircraft, and President of Airbus 
Operations SAS until early 2018.

From August 2018 to January 2020, he was Chair of the Supervisory Board of Toulouse-
Blagnac Airport. 

Charles has also been Chair of the Board of Directors of ISAE-Sup’Aero since May 2017, 
and a member of the Board of Directors of SONACA since June 2019.
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Jean-Luc Perodeau 
(43 years old) 

Director

Jean-Luc Perodeau is the Director representing employees. He was appointed by the 
Group’s Board on November 7, 2017 in accordance with the Articles of Association as 
amended by the General Meeting of June 15, 2017. An engineer by training, he currently 
holds the position of Production Manager in the Aircraft Modification Department of 
Aeroconseil.

2.2. Changes to the composition of the Board of Directors

In the 2020 financial year, Nicolas Valtille and Guy Lacroix resigned from the Board of Directors on December 30, 2020. Xavier Le Clef 
was co-opted as Director from December 31, 2020, reducing the number of members of the Board of Directors from 11 to 10. 

2.3. Gender diversity

The Board of Directors consists of four women and six men. This composition complies with Article 7:86 of the Belgian Code on Companies 
and Associations with regard to gender diversity.

2.4. Term of office and appointment procedure

Directors are appointed for a maximum term of three years, which is renewable.

Directors are appointed by the General Meeting, following nomination by the Board of Directors and after consultation with the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for advising on the number of members and functioning of the Board 
of Directors, as well as the candidates’ match with the requirements of the Board.

The�table�below�summarizes�the�current�terms�of�office�and�their�duration:

Director Position Date appointed/reappointed Term

Mauro Ricci Chair of the Board, Executive 
Director, CEO AGM of June 16, 2020 Until the 2021 AGM

Jean-Franck Ricci Executive Director, CEO AGM of June 13, 2019 Until the 2022 AGM

Muriel Barneoud Independent Director AGM of June 16, 2020 Until the 2021 AGM

Xavier Le Clef Director

Board meeting of December 
30, 2020 – co-opted for the 
remainder of the term due to be 
served by Guy Lacroix

Until the 2021 AGM

Valérie Magloire Independent Director AGM of June 16, 2020 Until the 2021 AGM

Cécile Monnot Director AGM of June 16, 2020 Until the 2021 AGM (°)

Jean-Luc Perodeau Director (employee 
representative) AGM of June 16, 2020 Until the 2021 AGM

Charlotte Ricci Director AGM of June 19, 2018 Until the 2021 AGM (°)

Alain Tisserand Independent Director AGM of June 13, 2019 Until the 2022 AGM

Charles Champion Director AGM of June 13, 2019 Until the 2022 AGM

(°) Charlotte Ricci and Cécile Monnot resigned from their positions as directors on 13 January 2021.
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2.5. Board of Directors’ Activity Report

2.6. Assessment

2.7. Conflicts of interest

Over the course of the 2020 financial year, the Board of Directors 
discussed all the major issues affecting the Group. It met 16 times 
and was chaired by Mauro Ricci or, in his absence or when there was 
a potential conflict of interest, by another director in compliance 
with Principle 3.18 of the 2020 Code.

The Minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors are drawn 
up after each meeting, sent or made available to all Directors,  

recorded in the company records held for this purpose and stored 
on the Company’s premises.

Meetings of the Board of Directors are usually held at the 
Company’s registered office. The average attendance rate of 
members at meetings of the Board of Directors in 2020 was 74%.

The Chair of the Board regularly calls on other members of the 
Board to comment on how the Board is functioning and preparing 
its work. Principle 9.1 of the 2020 Code specifies that the Board 
should assess its own performance at least once every three years. 
The last assessment was carried out at the meeting of March 18, 

2019 on the basis of a detailed questionnaire. After each of the 
responses was analyzed and discussed, no adverse developments 
were observed in comparison to the previous, positive assessment.

The statutory regulation on conflicts of interest for directors (Article 
7:96 of the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations) applies 
to decisions or actions falling within the scope of the powers of the 
Board of Directors in which a director has a financial interest that 
conflicts with the Company’s interests, whether directly or indirectly. 
Under these provisions, such a director has a duty to inform the 
other directors thereof prior to the Board of Directors making a 
decision. The director concerned should leave the meeting while 
the relevant agenda item is discussed.

During the 2020 financial year, the following conflicts of inter-
est were reported to the Board of Directors and were subject to 
the procedure referred to in Article 7:96 of the Belgian Code on 
Companies and Associations:

Extract�from�the�Minutes�of�the�meeting�of�the�Board�of�
Directors�of�January�15,�2020

" 

B. Acquisition of Company shares by executive directors 

Opening statement

The Chair explained that the following resolutions were part of the 
“Acquisition of Company shares” component of the remuneration 
policy, as adopted in the previous resolution.

In order to align the interests of the executive directors with those 
of the Company, it was proposed that the Company assign a 
number of its own shares to the executive directors. The proposed 
transactions were also in line with the executive management 
remuneration regulations laid down in the Company’s Corporate 
Governance Charter, as updated on July 18, 2019.

These shares would be transferred under the authorization granted 
to the Board of Directors by the Extraordinary General Meeting 
of June 13, 2019 to acquire or dispose of a number of Company 
shares representing up to ten percent of the number of shares 
comprising the share capital. As a reminder, the Chair specified 
that this authorization was valid for a period of five years from 
the date of the meeting, for transfers made at any time during its 
period of validity, of all or part of the number of shares covered 

by the authorization. The transfer price would be fixed at between 
€10 and €120, excluding fees and duties, and may be subject 
to adjustment linked to any changes in the Company's capital 
carried out under the relevant legal and regulatory conditions.

In this regard, the Chair pointed out that the method of calculat-
ing the price of the proposed transfers was the weighted average 
closing price over the three months preceding the execution of 
the transfers. This price corresponded to the market value and 
was in line with the applicable provisions on capital increase by 
in-kind contributions (Article 7:197, Section 2, paragraph 1, point 1).

With regard to the surplus, the Chair said that the AKKA Group 
could, where appropriate, set up payment facilities to enable 
the proposed assignees to finance the acquisition of the shares 
transferred. These facilities would nevertheless be covered by a 
security in the form of a pledge (i) of the shares transferred as 
a result of transactions proposed below, and (ii) of a number of 
Company shares equivalent to those acquired by the beneficial 
owner(s) from the assignee concerned during those transactions.

In addition, the Chair noted that these transactions did not fall 
within the scope of Article 7:97 of the Code on Companies and 
Associations, insofar as they represented less than one percent 
of the Company’s net assets as reflected in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Finally, the Chair stated that the four proposed transactions 
had been submitted for an opinion to the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, which met on January 10, 2020. This 
Committee had issued an opinion in favor of carrying out of these 
transactions, concluding that they were in the Company’s interest 
and constituted an adequate incentive to align the interests of 
future members of the Executive Committee with those of the 
Company.

Following this opening statement, the Chair then proposed that 
the Board of Directors address these items in order
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(…)

4. Fourth resolution: Transfer of 39,960 shares held by the Company 
to BMC Management & Investment

A proposal was made to transfer 39,960 shares held by the 
Company to BMC Management & Investment. Before any delib-
erations relating to this resolution, the Chair informed the Board 
of Directors that Mauro Ricci had a conflict of interest, as defined 
in Article 7:96 of the Code on Companies and Associations.

Mauro Ricci was a shareholder and manager of BMC Management 
& Investment. He therefore had an interest in this transaction that 
was contrary to that of the Company, as it would be to his benefit 
to obtain as low a transfer price as possible as the manager of 
BMC Management & Investment and as high a transfer price as 
possible as a director of the Company.

The Board of Directors acknowledged this conflict of interest in 
accordance with Article 7:96 of the Belgian Code on Companies 
and Associations and thanked the Chair. The Board also asked 
the Chair to notify the Company auditor directly of this conflict of 
interest in accordance with the provisions of Article 7:96, Section 
1, paragraph 3.

The Board of Directors then began considering the proposed 
transfer of shares to BMC Management & Investment, whereby 
BMC Management & Investment would acquire 39,960 shares 
held by the Company under the following terms:

 ■  Price: The price per share would be equal to the weighted 
average closing price over the three months prior to the 
execution of the transfer;

 ■  Payment of the price: By bank transfer, made on the date 
of signature of a transfer agreement governing the sale of 
the shares, the price being paid in full and in one amount 
on that date;

 ■  Transfer of ownership: The shares would be transferred on the 
date of signature of the transfer agreement together with all 
rights and obligations relating thereto, including the right to 
receive any dividend relating to the current financial year;

 ■  Charges: The shares would be disposed of free from any 
charge, pledge, option, claim, or other restriction of any kind.

 ■  Basic guarantees would be given in respect of:

- ownership of the transferred shares;

- the Company’s ability to assign the shares; and

- the existence of the Company and its capital.

 ■  Financing: By means of a loan for the entire transfer price 
taken out from AKKA Finance by BMC Management & 
Investment, repayment of which would be guaranteed by 
means of a pledge to the lender of the shares transferred, 
as well as of 12,000 of the Company’s shares belonging to 
the beneficial owner(s) of BMC Management & Investment. 

The Board stated that, if the proposed transfer was executed under 
these terms, the legacy consequences for the Company would be 
as follows:

 ■  The Company would transfer 39,960 of its own shares which 
it currently held; and

 ■  In return, the Company would receive a price per share equal 
to the weighted average closing price over the three months 
prior to the execution of the transfer.

After discussing the matter, the Board of Directors considered that 
it was in the Company’s interest to conclude the transfer of shares 
proposed in this resolution, under the conditions set out above. The 
present resolution was therefore adopted after a vote, in which the 
Chair, who had withdrawn from the discussion, did not participate. 

The resolution was adopted unanimously

5. Fifth resolution: Transfer of 39,960 shares held by the Company 
to HR Management & Investment

A proposal was made to transfer 39,960 shares held by the 
Company to HR Management & Investment. Before any deliber-
ations relating to this resolution, Jean-Franck Ricci informed the 
Board of Directors that he had a conflict of interest, as defined 
in Article 7:96 of the Code on Companies and Associations.

Jean-Franck Ricci was a shareholder and manager of HR 
Management & Investment. He therefore had an interest in this 
transaction that was contrary to that of the Company, as it would 
be to his benefit to obtain as low a transfer price as possible as the 
manager of HR Management & Investment and as high a transfer 
price as possible as a director of the Company.

The Board of Directors acknowledged this conflict of interest in 
accordance with Article 7:96 of the Belgian Code on Companies 
and Associations and thanked Jean-Franck Ricci. The Board also 
asked Jean-Franck Ricci to notify the Company auditor directly of 
this conflict of interest in accordance with the provisions of Article 
7:96, Section 1, paragraph 3.

Following that statement, Jean-Franck Ricci withdrew from the 
meeting during the deliberations on this resolution.

In the absence of Jean-Franck Ricci, Alain Tisserand was tempo-
rarily appointed Chair of the Board.

The Board of Directors then began considering the proposed 
transfer of shares to HR Management & Investment, whereby HR 
Management & Investment would acquire 39,960 shares held by 
the Company under the following terms:

 ■  Price: The price per share would be equal to the weighted 
average closing price over the three months prior to the 
execution of the transfer;

 ■  Payment of the price: By bank transfer, made on the date of 
signature of a transfer agreement governing the sale of the 
shares, the price being paid in full and in one sum on that date.

 ■  Transfer of ownership: The shares would be transferred on the 
date of signature of the transfer agreement together with all 
rights and obligations relating thereto, including the right to 
receive any dividend relating to the current financial year;

 ■  Charges: The shares would be disposed of free from any 
charge, pledge, option, claim, or other restriction of any kind.

 ■ Basic guarantees would be given in respect of:

- ownership of the transferred shares;

- the Company’s ability to assign the shares; and

- the existence of the Company and its capital.

 ■  Financing: By means of a loan for the entire transfer price 
taken out from AKKA Finance by HR Management & 
Investment, repayment of which would be guaranteed by 
means of a pledge to the lender of the shares transferred, 
as well as of 12,000 of the Company’s shares belonging to 
the beneficial owner(s) of HR Management & Investment.

Corporate governance statement 
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 ■  The Board stated that, if the proposed transfer was executed 
under these terms, the legacy consequences for the Company 
would be as follows:

 ■  The Company would transfer 39,960 of its own shares which 
it currently held; and

 ■  In return, the Company would receive a price per share equal 
to the weighted average closing price over the three months 
prior to the execution of the transfer.

After discussing the matter, the Board of Directors considered that 
it was in the Company’s interest to conclude the transfer of shares 
proposed in this resolution, under the conditions set out above. 
The present resolution was therefore adopted after a vote, in 
which Jean-Franck Ricci, who had withdrawn from the discussion, 
did not participate.

The resolution was adopted unanimously. 

Following the vote, Jean-Franck Ricci was invited to rejoin the 
meeting. He resumed his role as Chair of the Board.

6. Sixth resolution: Transfer of 39,960 shares held by the Company 
to Valvest Management.

A proposal was made to transfer 39,960 shares held by the Company 
to Valvest Management. Before any deliberations relating to this 
resolution, Nicolas Valtille informed the Board of Directors that he 
had a conflict of interest, as defined in Article 7:96 of the Code on 
Companies and Associations.

Nicolas Valtille is a shareholder and manager of Valvest 
Management. He therefore had an interest contrary to that of 
the Company in this transaction, as it would be to his benefit to 
obtain as low a transfer price as possible as the manager of Valvest 
Management and as high a transfer price as possible as a director 
of the Company.

The Board of Directors acknowledged this conflict of interest in 
accordance with Article 7:96 of the Belgian Code on Companies 
and Associations and thanked Nicolas Valtille. The Board also 
asked Nicolas Valtille to notify the Company auditor directly of 
this conflict of interest in accordance with the provisions of Article 
7:96, Section 1, paragraph 3.

Following that statement, Nicolas Valtille withdrew from the meet-
ing during the deliberations on this resolution.

The Board of Directors then began considering the proposed 
transfer of shares to Valvest Management, whereby Valvest 
Management would acquire 39,960 shares held by the Company 
under the following terms:

 ■  Price: The price per share would be equal to the weighted 
average closing price over the three months prior to the 
execution of the transfer;

 ■  Payment of the price: By bank transfer, made on the date 
of signature of a transfer agreement governing the sale of 
the shares, the price being paid in full and in one amount 
on that date;

 ■  Transfer of ownership: The shares would be transferred on the 
date of signature of the transfer agreement together with all 
rights and obligations relating thereto, including the right to 
receive any dividend relating to the current financial year;

 ■  Charges: The shares would be disposed of free from any 
charge, pledge, option, claim, or other restriction of any kind.

 ■ Basic guarantees would be given in respect of:

- ownership of the transferred shares;

- the Company’s ability to assign the shares; and

- the existence of the Company and its capital.

 ■  Financing: By means of a loan for the entire transfer price 
taken out from AKKA Finance by Valvest Management, re-
payment of which would be guaranteed by means of a pledge 
to the lender of the shares transferred, as well as of 12,000 of 
the Company’s shares belonging to the beneficial owner(s) 
of Valvest Management.

 ■  The Board stated that, if the proposed transfer was executed 
under these terms, the legacy consequences for the Company 
would be as follows:

 ■  The Company would transfer 39,960 of its own shares which 
it currently held; and

 ■  In return, the Company would receive a price per share equal 
to the weighted average closing price over the three months 
prior to the execution of the transfer.

After discussing the matter, the Board of Directors considered 
that it was in the Company’s interest to conclude the transfer 
of shares proposed in this resolution, under the conditions set 
out above. The present resolution was therefore adopted after a 
vote, in which Nicolas Valtille, who withdrew from the discussion, 
did not participate.

The resolution was adopted unanimously. 

Following the vote, Nicolas Valtille was invited to rejoin the meeting.
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Extract from the Minutes of the meeting of the Board of 
Directors of October 5, 2020

"

Conflicts of interest

Prior to the meeting, the following directors informed the other 
directors and the Company auditor of conflicts of interest in respect 
of all the agenda items: Mauro Ricci, Jean-Franck Ricci, Nicolas 
Valtille, Charlotte Ricci, and Cécile Monnot. These directors did not 
participate in either the deliberations or the votes.

These were conflicts of interest in accordance with the provisions 
of Article 7:96 of the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations 
(“the Code”). These directors formed part of the concerted action 
of the Ricci Family Group (also called the Ricci Consortium) and 
would be party to the agreements referred to in Agenda items 4 
and 5. They therefore had a direct or indirect financial interest 
which potentially conflicted with the interests of the Company.

For these reasons, these directors were also involved in the decisions 
submitted to this meeting within the meaning of Article 7:97 of the 
Code, which concerns transactions between associated parties.

In this particular case, the description and justification by the Board 
of Directors required by Article 7:96 of the Code corresponded 
with the communication required by Article 7:97 of the Code. This 
communication can be found in Section 2 below.

Finally, pursuant to Article 7:200, point 2 of the Code and where 
necessary, these directors were prohibited from voting on the 
removal of the preferential right for the benefit of one or more 
specified persons (other than employees).

Deliberations and resolutions

1. Assessment of the options available to strengthen the capital 
structure

Peter Hujoel, the representative of JP Morgan (the Company’s 
financial adviser) provided an update on the options available 
to strengthen the Company's capital structure. The presentation 
given is set out in Appendix 1.

Firm bids received from potential investors were reviewed and 
compared with each other and the other options available. Each 
of these offers consisted of a joint investment of €150 million by a 
new investor and of up to €50 million by certain members of the 
Ricci Family Group concerted action, in exchange for the issue 
of new shares under different terms. These offers are described 
in Appendix 1.

Nathalie Bühnemann, Group CFO, answered questions from the 
directors, in particular regarding the impact of the various offers 
on the Company’s finances.

Subject to consideration of the opinion of the Committee of 
Independent Directors and the decisions subsequently made by 
the Board of Directors, Peter Hujoel stated that the offer made 
by Compagnie Nationale à Portefeuille (CNP, acting through its 
subsidiary Swilux SA) appeared to be the most favorable to the 
Company and all its shareholders, both in terms of the comparison 
between potential investors and other possible sources of financing 
such as a public share offering with preferential rights. The stra-
tegic, financial, timing, and governance aspects were discussed.

2. Consideration of the final opinion of the Committee of 
Independent Directors, consideration of the auditor’s draft as-
sessment, and deliberation on transactions between the related 
parties

The Board of Directors ratified the establishment of a Committee 
of Independent Directors composed of Alain Tisserand, Valérie 
Magloire, and Muriel Barnéoud under Article 7:97 of the Code.

The Committee then reported on its work. The Committee had 
focused mainly on the investment proposed by members of the 
Ricci Family Group concerted action, notably by Mauro Ricci and 
Ideactive Events SARL and BMC Management & Investment SRL. 
This investment by parties associated with the Company was cov-
ered by Article 7:97 of the Code. However, the Committee had 
ensured that this investment was considered in the context of 
co-investment by a new investor and in the context of the re-
sulting new provisions, particularly in the area of governance. 
The Committee had carefully examined the content of the draft 
subscription agreement and shareholder pact.

The Committee had issued its final opinion on that day, prior to 
the meeting. This opinion of the Committee is set out in Appendix 
2. Its conclusion is as follows:

“The Committee believes that the subscription by the Ricci 
Consortium in the context of the proposed Capital Increase is 
in the interest of the Company and of the minority shareholders.

The Committee believes that the subscription will not prejudice 
the Company in any way. More importantly, the subscription is 
not patently unreasonable.

The Committee therefore issues a favorable opinion on the sub-
scription by the Ricci Consortium in the context of the Capital 
Increase.”

The Board of Directors also noted the auditor’s draft assessment.

The Board members exchanged their views on the draft assessment. 
The Board accepted the assessment.

The Board therefore agreed to approve the investment by mem-
bers of the Ricci Family Group concerted action in the amount of 
€50 million, in exchange for the issue of new shares at a price of 
€22.50 per share (including the share premium), under the terms 
of the subscription agreement and within the framework of the 
shareholders’ pact referred to below. This price per share was the 
same as that applicable to CNP.

The Board of Directors confirmed that the procedure prescribed 
by Article 7:97 of the Code had been complied with in its entirety.

The Board of Directors also approved the communication under 
Article 7:97 of the Code, which would be attached to the press 
release referred to below and would form an integral part thereof. 
The draft press release is contained in Appendix 3.

The text of the communication issued pursuant to Article 7:97, which 
also constitutes the justification required by Article 7:96 referred 
to under the ‘Conflicts of interest’ Section above, is as follows:

Public announcement pursuant to Article 7:97, Section 4/1 of 
the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations relating to a 
transaction between related parties

In a meeting held on October 5, 2020, the Company’s Board of 
Directors decided to enter into a subscription agreement between 
(i) the Company, (ii) Swilux SA (a subsidiary of Compagnie Nationale 
à Portefeuille SA (CNP)) and (iii) Mauro Ricci, Jean-Franck Ricci, 
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Cécile Monnot, Benjamin Ricci, Charlotte Ricci, Nicolas Valtille 
(including his management company) and Nathalie Bühnemann 
(including her management company) (“Ricci Family Group”). Swilux 
SA is not related to the Company. On the other hand, the members 
of the Ricci Family Group are parties related to the Company within 
the meaning of Article 7:97 of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations (“the Code”).

In this context, the Board of Directors has applied Article 7:97 of 
the Code, concerning decisions and transactions concerning a 
party related to the Company. This provision requires a commit-
tee of independent directors to issue an opinion to the board of 
directors. The conclusions of this opinion are set out at the end of 
this communication.

Moreover, this provision provides that a director shall not par-
ticipate in either the deliberations or the vote by the board of 
directors if the decision or operation involves that director. The 
directors concerned are: Mauro Ricci, Jean-Franck Ricci, Nicolas 
Valtille, Charlotte Ricci, and Cécile Monnot. These directors are 
part of the Ricci Family Group concerted action and are party to 
the subscription agreement and shareholders’ pact referred to 
below. These directors did not participate in either the delibera-
tions or the votes.

The Company has also applied Article 7:96 of the Code, concerning 
decisions in which one or more directors has a direct or indirect 
financial interest contrary to the interests of the company. This 
provision also provides that such directors shall not participate in 
deliberations or voting. The directors concerned are those indicated 
in the preceding paragraph.

The subscription agreement was signed on October 5, 2020. It 
includes a subscription commitment from Swilux SA and the Ricci 
Family Group, provides declarations and guarantees from these 
parties and the Company, sets out the subscription amounts, and 
lays down the other terms of subscription.

The subscription agreement provides for a capital increase of 
€200,000,000, including the share premium, through the issue of 
new common shares (the “Capital Increase”), at the issue price of 
€22.50 per share, including the share premium. This price is fixed. 
The new shares will be acquired by (i) the Ricci Family Group for up 
to €50,000,000 (including the share premium) and (ii) Swilux SA 
for up to €150,000,000 (including the share premium).

The Capital Increase will strengthen the Company’s capital struc-
ture and improve its financial ratios. It will support and accelerate 
the Company’s business transformation and growth, and create 
opportunities for future external growth. In addition, it will allow 
the Company to attract a reputable investor, CNP.

The Capital Increase is subject to obtaining the necessary regula-
tory approvals, as indicated in today’s press release. The Capital 
Increase will be carried out within the Company’s authorized capi-
tal. This requires the removal of the preferential right of subscription 
from existing shareholders to the benefit of these subscribers, who 
are specific persons. This will allow the new shares to be allocated 
to subscribers in accordance with the subscription agreement. 

The subscription price represents a premium of 43% compared 
with the closing price as of October 5, 2020 and a premium of 33% 
of the weighted average price over the last 30 days on the stock 
exchange. This subscription price is the result of negotiations be-
tween the new investor, the Ricci Family Group, and the Company. 
It therefore constitutes a market price, insofar as a party unrelated 
to the Company or the Ricci Family Group has concurred with it. 
Without the agreement of this independent party, the Capital 

Increase could not be carried out. The subscription by the new 
investor is three times greater than that by the Ricci Family Group.

Insofar as the subscription agreement provides for a premium, 
existing shareholders who do not participate in the Capital Increase 
will also, all other things being equal, see the economic value of 
their equity portfolio increase, because the premium paid by the 
subscribers will benefit all shareholders.

In addition, the Company’s commitments, declarations and guar-
antees arising under the subscription agreement are consistent 
with market practices and do not place any undue burden on the 
Company.

The Committee of Independent Directors concludes as follows: 

“The Committee believes that the subscription by the Ricci 
Consortium in the context of the proposed Capital Increase is in 
the interests of the Company and of the minority shareholders. 

The Committee believes that the subscription will not prejudice 
the Company in any way. More importantly, the subscription is 
not patently unreasonable. 

The Committee therefore issues a favorable opinion on the sub-
scription by the Ricci Consortium in the context of the Capital 
Increase.” 

The Committee therefore issued an unreservedly favorable opinion. 
The points above constitute the decision of the Committee within 
the meaning of Article 7:97 of the Code. The Board of Directors 
followed the Committee’s opinion. 

The auditor’s assessment of the Committee’s opinion and the 
Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors is as follows: 

“On the basis of our limited review, conducted in accordance with 
ISRE 2410 ‘Review of interim financial information performed by 
the independent auditor of the entity’ and the applicable stan-
dards of the Belgian Institute of Company Auditors (Institut des 
Réviseurs d’Entreprises), nothing has come to our attention that 
suggests that the financial and accounting data contained in the 
Minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors of October 5, 
2020 and in the report of the Committee of Independent Directors 
pursuant to Article 7:97 of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations contains any significant inconsistencies in relation to 
the information that we have within the scope of our task. We do 
not, however, express our views on the values contained in these 
documents, nor on the appropriateness of the Board’s decision.”

3. Subscription agreement 

On the basis of the discussions and deliberations referred to 
in Sections 1 and 2 above and after considering the content of 
the draft agreement, the Board of Directors approved the draft 
subscription agreement between (i) the Company, (ii) Swilux SA 
(a subsidiary of CNP) and (iii) Mauro Ricci, BMC Management & 
Investment SRL and Ideactive Events SARL. It is specified that the 
party referred to in point (iii) is acting in his own name and on his 
own behalf, as well as in the name of and on behalf of the other 
members of the Ricci Family Group concerted action.

This draft agreement is set out in Appendix 4. 

4. Shareholders’ pact

On the basis of the discussions and deliberations referred to in 
Sections 1 and 2 above and after considering the content of the 
draft agreement, the Board of Directors approved the draft share-
holders’ pact between (i) Swilux SA (a subsidiary of CNP) and (ii) 
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Mauro Ricci, BMC Management & Investment SRL and Ideactive 
Events SARL, acting in his own name and on his own behalf, as well 
as in the name of and on behalf of the other members of the Ricci 
Family Group concerted action.

The draft agreement appears in Appendix 5. 

(…)

All decisions made by the Board of Directors referred to in these 
Minutes were adopted unanimously.

Having covered all items on the agenda, the meeting adjourned 
at 7.10pm.

Extract from the Minutes of the meeting of the Board of 
Directors of December 30, 2020 (first meeting)

First resolution: Transaction concluded with Nicolas Valtille

The Chair explained that, as part of the restructuring of gover-
nance following the capital injection from CNP, an agreement 
had been reached to terminate all executive functions per-
formed by Nicolas Valtille and Valvest Management within the 
Company and all its subsidiaries. 

To this end, a transaction had been concluded with Nicolas 
Valtille and with Valvest Management under the condition prec-
edent of its approval by the Board of Directors of the Company, 
a copy of which is attached to these Minutes as Appendix 1 (the 
“Transaction”). 

Before beginning the deliberations, the Chair explained that 
Nicolas Valtille had informed him that he had a financial con-
flict of interest within the meaning of Article 7:96, Section 1 of the 
Belgian Code on Companies and Associations with regard to the 
items on the agenda. As he had a controlling interest in Valvest 
Management, he would benefit either directly or indirectly from 
the severance payments that the Company would be required 
to pay in execution of the transaction. 

Nicolas Valtille absented himself from the meeting and did not 
participate in the deliberations or the vote. 

The Board of Directors noted that:

 ■  the transaction would result in the termination of the exec-
utive functions of Nicolas Valtille and Valvest Management 
by mutual agreement whilst respecting the persons and the 
agreements concluded;

 ■  the severance payments granted to Valvest Management 
and/or Nicolas Valtille in connection with the transaction did 
not exceed the threshold laid down by Article 7:92, Section 1 
of the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations. 

The Board of Directors approved the transaction.

In accordance with Article 7:96, Section 1, paragraphs 2 and 3 of 
the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations, the Board of 
Directors would ensure that this part of the Minutes of the meet-
ing of the Board of Directors was contained in its entirety in the 
management report, and that these Minutes were provided to 
the Company auditor.

The procedure laid down in Article 7:97 of the Belgian Code on 
Companies and Associations did not apply, provided that the 
threshold laid down in Article 7:97, Section 1, paragraph 3, point 
2 of the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations was not 
exceeded. 

The resolution was adopted unanimously.

Extract from the Minutes of the meeting of the Board of 
Directors of December 30, 2020 (second meeting)

(…)

Prior to the meeting, the Chair stated that the following directors 
had informed the other directors and the Company auditor of 
conflicts of interest in respect of the agenda items: Mauro Ricci, 
Jean-Franck Ricci, Nicolas Valtille, Charlotte Ricci, and Cécile 
Monnot. These directors did not participate in the deliberations 
or the voting on these agenda items.

These were conflicts of interest in terms of Article 7:96 of the Belgian 
Code on Companies and Associations. These directors were part 
of the Ricci Family Group concerted action and were party to the 
subscription agreement relating to the Capital Increase. They 
therefore had a direct or indirect financial interest which potentially 
conflicted with the interests of the Company.

Article 7:96 of the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations 
concerning directors’ conflicts of personal interest, and Articles 
7:193 and 7:200, point 2 of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations concerning the removal of the preferential right to 
the benefit of one or more specified persons (other than employ-
ees) applied.

The Board of Directors was therefore competent to deliberate on 
the agenda items, in accordance with the Articles of Associationand 
Board of Directors’ rules of procedure.

AGENDA

(…)

Confirmation of the fulfillment of the conditions precedent to 
which the capital increase referred to in this agenda was subject.

Reports

Report of the Board of Directors prepared in accordance with 
Articles 7:191, 7:193, 7:198, and 7:200, point 2 of the Belgian Code 
on Companies and Associations.

Auditor's report prepared in accordance with Articles 7:191, 7:193, 
7:198, and 7:200, point 2 of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations.

Capital increase of thirteen million, six hundred thousand euros and 
seventeen cents (€13,600,000.17) to increase the Company’s capital 
by thirty-four million, one hundred fifty-one thousand, four hundred 
nineteen euros and seventeen cents (€34,151,419.17) to forty-seven 
million, seven hundred fifty-one thousand, four hundred nineteen 
euros and thirty-four cents (€47,751,419.34) by issuing eight million, 
eight hundred eighty-eight thousand, eight hundred eighty-nine 
new common shares (8,888,889), of the same type and enjoying 
the same rights and benefits as the Company’s existing common 
shares. These shares would participate fully in the Company’s 
current fiscal year, which began on January 1, 2020. They would be 
issued at the price of twenty-two euros and fifty cents (€22.50), i.e. 
at the face value of the existing shares, plus a share premium of 
twenty euros and ninety-seven cents (€20.97). The total amount of 
the capital increase, including the share premium, was therefore 
two hundred million two euros and fifty cents (€200,000,002.50).

Removal of the preferential right

Subscription – release of shares 

Confirmation of the completion of the capital increase 
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(…)

The Chair then proposed that the Board of Directors should address 
these items in order and deliberate on them.

(…)

Acknowledgement of the fulfillment of the conditions precedent to 
which the capital increase referred to in this agenda was subject.

The capital increase referred to in this agenda was subject to the 
conditions precedent laid down in the subscription agreement 
signed in the presence of the Company on October 6, 2020.

The Board of Directors noted that the all the conditions precedent 
referred to in the subscription agreement had been fulfilled.

VOTING 

The resolution was adopted unanimously.

Reports

The Board acknowledged the following documents: 

Report of the Board of Directors prepared in accordance with 
Articles 7:191, 7:193, 7:198, and 7:200, point 2 of the Belgian Code 
on Companies and Associations.

Auditor's report prepared in accordance with Articles 7:191, 7:193, 
7:198, and 7:200, point 2 of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations.

Each director acknowledged prior receipt of copies of these reports 
and acknowledged having read them. A copy of these reports 
would be filed with the Brussels Commercial Court. 

VOTING 

The Board of Directors unanimously approved the abovementioned 
report of the Board of Directors.

Capital increase 

In accordance with Article 7 of the Articles of Incorporation, the 
Board of Directors may increase the Company’s capital with new 
cash or in-kind contributions, possibly including an unavailable 
share premium, the amount of which will be set by the Board of 
Directors, and by issuing new shares conferring rights that the 
Board will determine.

Acting within the authorized capital of the Company, the Board of 
Directors decided to increase capital through a cash contribution 
from thirteen million, six hundred thousand euros and seven-
teen cents (€13,600,000.17) to thirty-four million, one hundred 
fifty-one thousand, four hundred nineteen euros and seventeen 
cents (€34,151,419.17) to forty-seven million, seven hundred fif-
ty-one thousand, four hundred nineteen euros and thirty-four 
cents (€47,751,419.34) by issuing eight million, eight hundred eighty-
eight thousand, eight hundred eighty-nine new common shares 
(8,888,889), of the same type and enjoying the same rights and 
benefits as the Company’s existing common shares. These shares 
would participate fully in the Company’s current fiscal year, which 
began on January 1, 2020. They would be issued at the price of 
twenty-two euros and fifty cents (€22.50), i.e. at the face value of 
the existing shares, plus a share premium of twenty euros and nine-
ty-seven cents (€20.97). The total amount of the capital increase, 
including the share premium, was therefore two hundred million 
two euros and fifty cents (€200,000,002.50).

VOTING 

The resolution was adopted unanimously.

Removal of the preferential right 

In accordance with Articles 7:191 and 7:193 and 7:200, point 2 of 
the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations, the Board of 
Directors decided that it was in the Company’s interest to abolish 
the preferential right of existing shareholders to the benefit of spec-
ified persons (other than employees), as part of the above-men-
tioned capital increase, in favor of:

 ■  BMC Management & Investment SRL, a limited liability 
company with its Head Office at 65-67 rue de Hennin, 1050 
Brussels, Belgium, company number 0837.091.390;

 ■  Ideactive Events SARL, a limited liability company with its 
Head Office at 23 rue Philip II, 2340 Luxembourg (Grand 
Duchy of Luxembourg), registered in the Luxembourg Trade 
and Companies Register under number B-156 168;

 ■  Swilux SA, a corporation with its Head Office at 1, rue de 
Namur, 2211 Luxembourg (Grand Duchy of Luxembourg), reg-
istered in the Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register 
under number B.-32.570.

VOTING

This resolution was adopted unanimously.

Subscription – release of shares

The subscribers who were party to the deed are listed below, along 
with their representatives.

The eight million, eight hundred eighty-eight thousand, eight 
hundred eighty-nine (8,888,889) new shares were subscribed to 
as follows:

Powers of attorney were all assigned under private deed and are 
attached. 

The subscribers declared that each of the shares thus subscribed to 
had been paid up to the extent of one hundred percent, including 
the share premium, by a cash payment made to the Company’s 
account held by BNP Paribas Fortis SA under account number 
BE81 0018 9856 4024 (BIC: GEBABB), which had been opened in 
the name of the Company.

The Company therefore now held a sum of two hundred million 
euros (€200,000,002.50). A statement by the depositing party 
dated December 30, 2020 had been retained by the notary.

VOTING

This resolution was adopted unanimously.

BMC Management & Investment SRL, represented by 
Jean-Philippe LALIGAND 444,444

Ideactive Events SARL, represented by Jean-Philippe 
LALIGAND 1,777,778

Swilux SA, represented by Xavier Le Clef 6,666,667

In total: eight million, eight hundred eighty-eight 
thousand, eight hundred eighty-nine 8,888,889
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Confirmation of the completion of the capital increase

The Board of Directors noted, and called for the undersigned 
notary to record, that the capital increase had been completed, 
that each new share had been subscribed to and paid up to the 
extent of one hundred percent, that the share premium had been 
fully paid up, and that the capital was therefore increased to for-
ty-seven million, seven hundred fifty-one thousand, four hundred 
nineteen euros and thirty-four cents (€47,751,419.34), represented 
by thirty-one million, two hundred ten thousand seventy-eight 
(31,210,078) shares, each with a nominal value of €1.53.

The Board also decided to allocate the difference between the 
amount subscribed to and the amount of the capital increase, 
i.e. an amount of one hundred eighty-six million, four hundred 
thousand two euros and thirty-three cents (€186,400,002.33) to 
the share premium account [unavailable] in accordance with 
Article 7 of the Articles of Incorporation.

VOTING

This resolution was adopted unanimously. 

(…)”

In addition, during the 2020 financial year, only one conflict of 
interest was the subject of the procedure referred to in Article 
7:97 of the Belgian Code on Companies and Associations. The 
conflict was presented at the Board meeting on October 5, 2020 
as described above. The public announcement referred to in 
Article 7:97, Section 4/1 of the Belgian Code on Companies and 
Associations was published by the Company on October 5, 2020 
and is reproduced in full above.
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The Board of Directors has set up a Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, composed of members of the Board, for the following 
purpose:

 ■  to formalize the appointment procedures for directors, CEOs, 
and other members of executive management;

 ■  to periodically assess the size and composition of the Board 
of Directors and submit any recommended changes to the 
Board of Directors; 

 ■  to identify candidates for vacant positions to be filled and 
propose them to the Board of Directors for approval;

 ■ to issue its opinion on nominations made by shareholders;

 ■ to give due consideration to matters relating to succession.

It will also make proposals regarding: 

 ■  the remuneration policy for non-executive directors and 
executive directors and, where appropriate, on subsequent 
proposals to be submitted to shareholders;

 ■  the remuneration of directors and executive managers, 
including variable compensation and long-term incentive 
plans, whether linked to shares or not, granted in the form 
of stock options or other financial instruments, as well as on 
agreements concluded in respect of the early termination 
of duties and, where appropriate, on subsequent proposals 
to be submitted to shareholders.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of 
two members, both non-executive directors. The Chair of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee is an independent 
director, who has the casting vote in the event of a tied vote.

 ■ Muriel Barnéoud (Chair – Independent Director)

 ■ Guy Lacroix (Director) (until December 30, 2020)

 ■ Charles Champion (from January 13, 2021)

The Board of Directors has set up an Audit and Risk Management 
Committee for the following purposes:

 ■ to oversee the financial reporting process;

 ■  to monitor the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
and risk management systems;

 ■ to oversee any internal audits and their effectiveness;

 ■  to oversee the statutory audit of annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, including following up on questions and 
recommendations made by the auditor;

 ■  to review and ensure the independence of the auditor, in 
particular with regard to the provision of additional services 
to the Company.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee consists of three 
non-executive directors, two of whom are independent: 

 ■ Alain Tisserand (Chair – Independent Director)

 ■  Valérie Magloire (Independent Director – competent in ac-
counting and auditing)

 ■ Charlotte Ricci (until January 13, 2021)

 ■ Charles Champion (from January 13, 2021)

3. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

4. AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

4.1. Internal control and risk management system

In accordance with the rules of corporate governance and the 
relevant legislation, AKKA has set up an internal control and risk 
management system taking into account the size of the group. 
The system is placed under the responsibility of Internal Control 
& Audit, a Group-wide function that is independent of the oper-
ating entities.

A Risk Manager is appointed at Group level. Their work is structured 
around a regularly updated mapping of the Group's risks. The anal-
ysis of risks can be found in the Risk section of this annual report. 

The internal control system is applied to the entire AKKA Group: 
the parent company and subsidiaries, most of which are grouped 
into five Business Units. Each Business Unit is managed by a man-
agement team covering all operational and support functions.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
SYSTEM
The main objective of internal control is to improve the efficiency 
of operations and the use of resources.

Internal control seeks to address the risks to which AKKA Group 
companies are exposed and to provide reasonable assurance 
that risks arising in the conduct of business by the enterprise are 
controlled. This includes the risk of fraud, particularly in the fields 
of accounting and finance.
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In terms of a frame of reference, the system relies on the COSO 
framework (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission) to provide reasonable assurance with 
regard to: 

 ■ compliance with laws and regulations

 ■  the proper application of the instructions and guidelines laid 
down by general management

 ■  the proper functioning of the Company’s internal processes, 
including those that support the safeguarding of its assets

 ■ the reliability of financial information

Risk assessment
An assessment of the risks arising from the Company's operations 
is carried out periodically within the various companies of the 
Group. The aim of this approach is to identify and analyze factors 
that may prevent the Group from achieving its objectives and/
or preserving its assets.

The analysis involves the management of Group companies, as 
well as the persons responsible for the main operating and sup-
port processes. 

Involving these managers raises their awareness of internal control 
issues and enables them to apply best practices more widely.

The purpose of the internal control system, as outlined below, 
is to respond to the risks identified by introducing appropriate 
procedures. 

Internal control framework
The AKKA Group’s internal control system consists of a number of 
reference documents applicable to all Group companies.

Responsibility for implementation of the framework lies with the 
operating divisions. 

AKKA Group Internal Control Standards

The Group has implemented the AKKA Group Internal Control 
Standards for the purpose of clarifying management rules.

These standards serve as a reminder of the basic principles of 
internal control: 

 ■ organization adapted to challenges 

 ■ division of tasks 

 ■ delegation of authority and signature powers

The Internal Control Standards specify the management rules 
to be observed and the procedures to be formalized for each 
operating and support process. 

AKKA Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct incorporates the values of the AKKA Group, 
the principles of ethical conduct, the obligation to comply with laws 
and regulations, and the rules to be followed in terms of combating 
corruption and addressing conflicts of interest. 

This Code applies to all Group companies and employees. It is 
available on the intranet and on our website in our three main 
working languages (English, French, and German). 

Quality Management System 

The Quality Management System combines all the operating 
procedures that apply to the various parts of the Group. Quality 
systems are certified according to general standards (ISO 9001, 
ISO 27001, ISO 14001, etc.) and/or sector-specific standards (EN 
9001, IRIS, etc.).

Internal control processes by department
Group and Corporate support have defined standards for each 
major process in order to control perceived risks.

Sales�&�Project�Management

Each Group company must comply with the rules on contract and 
project management:

 ■  pre-sales analysis to identify and mitigate technical and 
financial risks

 ■ compliance with intragroup transfer prices

 ■ order tracking to limit the risk of non-billable production

 ■  billing process that helps to optimize cash flow and minimize 
outstanding receivables

The Group Executive Committee must approve the most critical 
client contracts and commercial offers in order to manage the 
commercial and legal risks of operations. 

Each business unit is subject to formal delegation rules governing 
the power to enter into contracts with clients.

Procurement

Suppliers are selected on the basis of calls for tender and objective 
criteria to ensure the quality and competitiveness of the goods 
and services purchased. 

The Group’s procurement policy applies the principle of referencing 
suppliers as widely as possible by purchase category, allowing the 
Group to benefit from negotiated tariff conditions and enhanced 
general purchasing conditions.

Considering its direct effect on the quality of goods and services 
delivered to clients, the purchasing of subcontracting is subject 
to increased monitoring.

Human Resources

The responsibility for recruitment, human resources management, 
payroll and relations with social partners is entrusted to local 
companies.

The management team of each business unit is responsible for 
ensuring it complies with the laws and regulations of each country 
in which it operates.

Particularly sensitive processes (recruitment, payroll, expenses 
management and departures) must be formally documented 
and any potential or proven conflict within the Company must 
be reported to the Group.

Finance

The Group Finance Standards are designed to align financial 
operations and minimize the risk of fraud:



73	 - Annual report 2020

 ■  some aspects are directly managed at Group level: financial 
communication, intragroup financial flows and the selection 
of external service providers, etc.

 ■  operating rules for tasks managed at a local level have been 
defined by Corporate Finance and Group Control: account-
ing principles, budget procedure and planning, revenue 
recognition rules, etc.

 ■ monthly reporting to the Group ensures continuous visibility

Legal

The Group’s Legal Department supports each business unit in 
ensuring its compliance with the laws and regulations applicable 
to its operations. Subsidiaries may approach external consultants, 
in particular for litigation and specific transactions, after approval 
by the Group.

The main liability and product risks are managed at Group level. 

Monthly legal reporting allows actual litigation or potential risks 
to be tracked at Group level, and any coordinated action can be 
taken if necessary. 

IT

IT systems and standards are managed at Group level to ensure 
overall consistency and the constant availability of the company’s 
IT tools.

The main supplier contracts (hardware, software and services) are 
validated by IT management before they are signed.

A backup and archiving system ensures data continuity and im-
mediate accessibility.

IT System Security

Group IT Systems Security ensures the availability, integrity and 
confidentiality of data.

In particular, the system relies on a strict process to control access 
to management applications.

Common rules for the protection of employees and confidential 
information are set out in the Group Security Policy.

Communication

Major and/or strategic communication is managed at Group level 
in order to protect AKKA’s image.

Quality, Safety and Environment 

Each business unit is responsible for defining a quality, safety 
and environment management system appropriate to its cli-
ents’ requirements and complying with the applicable laws and 
regulations.
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The Company has not instituted a two-tier system involving the 
establishment of a board of directors and a supervisory board.

Instead, the Company’s general day-to-day management is del-
egated to three directors, also acting as CEOs:

 ■  Valvest Management SRL, represented by Nicolas Valtille, 
until his resignation on December 30, 2020;

 ■  HR Management & Investment SRL, represented by Jean-
Franck Ricci;

 ■  BMC Management & Investment SRL, represented  
by Mauro Ricci.

The directors responsible for day-to-day management are com-
petent and have authority to make commitments on behalf of 
the Company.

Recognizing the founding role of the three directors, the Company 
has not defined a diversity policy with respect to its executive 
management. 

The Group nevertheless ensures a gender balance of 1:2 on its 
Board of Directors (see Section 2.3 on Diversity). 

The Company has remained listed on Euronext Paris since its reg-
istered office was moved to Belgium; it was also listed on Euronext 
Brussels on November 27, 2019. Belgium is therefore the Company’s 
Member State of origin, but France remains the Member State of 
its main market. The Company therefore falls under the joint com-
petence of the French (AMF) and Belgian (FSMA) market regulators 
in respect of supervision and the prevention of market abuse. 

Declarations relating to the disclosure of major shareholdings, 
publishing inside or regulated information and transactions by 
persons exercising managerial responsibilities are made in Belgium 
under the supervision of the FSMA. 

The Company has implemented a Charter of Stock Market Ethics in accordance with French law, but it takes Belgian law into account 
when that has stricter requirements.

Inside information is defined as any information of a specific nature 
that has not been made public, which directly or indirectly relates 
to the Company or to financial instruments issued by the Company 
and which, if made public, would be likely to significantly influence 
the price of the financial instruments concerned or the price of 
derivative financial instruments related thereto.

The Company must retain a list of persons who have access to 
inside information and must provide this list to the competent 
authority on request. 

The Company publishes inside information concerning it as soon 
as possible.

A director transaction means any transaction made for their 
own account by a member of executive management or, more 
generally, any person who exercises management responsibilities 
on behalf the Company or anyone who is closely associated with 
such a person within the meaning of Article 3.1(26) of Regulation 
(EU) No. 596/2014 (the Market Abuse Regulation, MAR), such 
transaction relating to Company shares or debt securities, or 
to derivative instruments or other instruments related thereto.

In order to ensure that the financial communication policy drawn 
up by the directors is properly applied and to prevent the im-
proper use of inside information, Article 19.11 of the MAR sets out 

the principle for defining a “closed period”, during which certain 
persons must refrain from conducting transactions relating to 
the issuer’s shares or debt securities, or derivative instruments 
or other financial instruments related thereto during a closed 
period of 30 calendar days prior to the release of an interim 
financial report or a year-end report which the issuer is obliged 
to make public.

The AKKA Technologies Group has extended the application of 
this closed period to all persons who have regular or occasional 
access to inside information, i.e. persons on the list of insiders. In 
addition to the closed period of 30 days prior to the publication of 

5. EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

6. TRANSPARENCY REGULATIONS
6.1. Competent authority and relationship with regulators

6.2. Stock Market Conduct Charter

6.3. Inside information

6.4. Management transactions and reporting

04
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the half-year and annual results, the Group has also implemented 
a closed period of 15 days prior to the publication of information 
applicable to the first and third quarters.

Director transactions must be reported by the persons concerned 
to the Company and FSMA within three working days of such 
transactions, in accordance with Article 19 of Regulation (EU) 
No. 596/2014 and the delegated regulations adopted by the 

Commission pursuant to that Regulation. 

The following is a list of transactions conducted by directors 
and persons closely associated with directors during the 2020 
financial year:

Date Declared by In the capacity of Type Unit price No. of shares

January 2, 2020 Jean-Franck Ricci Director Disposal €65.98 9,568

January 3, 2020 Jean-Franck Ricci Director Disposal €65.08 5,898

January 6, 2020 Jean-Franck Ricci Director Disposal €63.25 11,534

January 15, 2020 HR Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Jean-Franck Ricci Acquisition €59.68 39,960

January 15, 2020 BMC Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci Acquisition €59.68 39,960

January 15, 2020 Valvest Management Person closely associated  
with Nicolas Valtille Acquisition €59.68 39,960

January 15, 2020 ESTA Management
Person closely associated  
with Nathalie Bühnemann,  
senior manager

Acquisition €59.68 49,950

February 10, 2020 Charles Champion Director Acquisition €55.24 400

February 11, 2020 BMC Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci Acquisition €57.20 7,928

February 11, 2020 Charles Champion Director Acquisition €56.22 500

February 11, 2020 Nicolas Valtille Director Acquisition €57.11 1,000

February 11, 2020 Jean-Franck Ricci Director Acquisition €57.15 6,901

February 12, 2020 BMC Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci Acquisition €59.09 10,131

February 13, 2020 BMC Management and 
Investment

Person associated  
with Mauro Ricci Acquisition €60.00 1,931

March 24, 2020 Jean-Luc Perodeau Director Acquisition €26.25 47

March 30, 2020 Cash Nickerson Senior manager Acquisition of free shares € - 20,000

April 3, 2020 Charles Champion Director Acquisition €24.20 500

April 7, 2020 Cash Nickerson Senior manager Acceptance of stock warrants € - 80,000 certificates, each 
giving the right to 1 (one) share

May 12, 2020 Charles Champion Director Acquisition €25.50 500

May 29, 2020 BMC Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci Disposal €26.00 1

May 29, 2020 Caloumat Invest Person associated  
with Mauro Ricci Acquisition €26.00 1

June 25, 2020 Mauro Ricci Mauro Ricci Donation made €29.35 400,000

June 25, 2020 Charlotte Ricci Director Donation received €29.35 200,000

July 29, 2020 Charles Champion Director Acquisition €16.96 1,000

August 7, 2020 Charles Champion Director Acquisition €16.52 800

October 6, 2020 ESTA Management
Person closely associated  
with Nathalie Bühnemann,  
senior manager

Acquisition €21.08 10,000

November 14, 
2020 Nicolas Valtille Director Donation of bare ownership 

of shares €15.70 189,335

December 28, 
2020 Alain Tisserand Director Allocation of shares 

as remuneration € - 290

December 28, 
2020 Valérie Magloire Director Allocation of shares 

as remuneration € - 290

December 30, 
2020 Ideactive Events

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci and  
Jean-Franck Ricci

Subscription to capital 
increase €22.50 1,777,778

December 30, 
2020

BMC Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci

Subscription to capital 
increase €22.50 444,444

December 30, 
2020 Ideactive Events

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci and  
Jean-Franck Ricci

Pledge of shares € - 2,918,479

December 30, 
2020

BMC Management and 
Investment

Person closely associated  
with Mauro Ricci Pledge of shares € - 1,081,521
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Information provided for in Article 34 of the Royal Decree of 14 November 2007 on the obligations of issuers of financial instruments 
admitted to trading on a regulated market.

The capital structure of the Company is presented in chapter 2 of this report.

With the exception of the applicable Belgian legislation on the disclosure of major shareholdings, and Article 16 of the Articles of 
Association, which establishes statutory thresholds of 2%, 4% and 7.5%, there are no restrictions on the transfer of shares.

On 19 June 2018, the Company issued 7,927,487 non-capital profit shares. Each profit share confers the right to participate and vote, for 
one vote, at the General Meeting. Article 13 of the Articles of Association relating to profit shares is presented in Section 2 of this report.

Non applicable

Each shareholder is entitled to one vote per share. Each holder of a profit share is entitled to one vote per profit share. Voting rights 
may be suspended as provided for in the Company's Articles of Association and applicable laws and articles.

A shareholders' agreement was signed in 2020 by the Ricci family 
group on the one hand (38.9% of the capital and 51.3% of the 
voting rights) and Swilux (CNP group) on the other (21.4% of the 
capital and 17.0% of the voting rights). Under this agreement, the 
signatories have granted each other rights of pursuit, first offer 
and compulsory sale.

Under this agreement, the signatories have not agreed, nor do they 
intend to agree at any time, on the Ricci family group maintaining 
its control over the Company, nor on the concerted exercise of their 
voting rights. Consequently, the agreement does not create an 
agreement to act in concert between its signatories.

The rules governing the appointment and replacement of Board members and the amendment of the Articles of Association are set out 
in the Company's Articles of Association and in the Company's Corporate Governance Charter. 

7.  INFORMATION LIKELY TO HAVE AN IMPACT IN THE 
EVENT OF A PUBLIC TAKEOVER BID

7.1. Capital structure

7.2. Legal or statutory restrictions on the transfer of securities

7.3 Holders of any securities with special control rights

7.4.  Control mechanism in a possible employee share ownership 
scheme

7.5. Legal or statutory restrictions on the exercise of voting rights

7.6. Shareholders' agreements

7.7.  Rules applicable to the appointment and replacement of 
members of the administrative body and to the amendment of 
the Company's Articles of Association
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Article 14 of the Company's Articles of Association is set out below.

ARTICLE�14�-�ACQUISITION�AND�DISPOSAL�OF�OWN�SHARES

The Company may only acquire its own shares or (where applica-
ble) profit shares, by way of purchase or exchange, directly or by 
a person acting in his own name but on behalf of the Company, 
following a decision of an Annual General Meeting deciding under 
the quorum and majority conditions provided for in Article 7 : 153 
of the Companies and Associations Code, which shall, inter alia, 
determine the maximum number of shares or profit shares to be 
acquired, the duration for which the authorization is granted, within 
the limit provided for by the Companies and Associations Code, 
as well as the minimum and maximum countervalue.

This authorization is valid for a period of five years from the date 
of the decision of the general meeting.

The authorization of the General Meeting is not required when 
the company acquires its own shares or profit shares in order to 
distribute them to its employees or to the employees of its affil-
iated companies.

The authorization of the General Meeting is also not required when 
the acquisition of own shares or profit shares is necessary to avoid 
serious and imminent harm to the company. In this case, the Board 
of Directors shall be authorized to acquire the company's shares 
by purchase or exchange in accordance with the legal provisions 
applicable at the time. This authorization shall be granted for a 
period of three (3) years, commencing with the decision of the 
extraordinary general meeting of 13 June 2019.

The Board of Directors is authorized to dispose of the shares and 
profit shares acquired in accordance with Article 7:215, § 1 of the 
Companies and Associations Code, including to one or more 
specific persons other than the personnel and/or for the purpose 
of avoiding serious and imminent harm to the company in accor-
dance with Article 7:218, § 1 of the Companies and Associations 
Code. The aforementioned authorization to dispose of for the 
purpose of avoiding serious and imminent harm to the company is 
granted for a period of three (3) years, starting from the decision of 
the extraordinary general meeting of 13 June 2019, in accordance 
with Articles 7:215, § 1, par. 5 and 7:218, § 1, 3° of the Companies 
and Associations Code.

The Company is party to the following material agreements which, upon a change of control of the Company or following a takeover 
bid, may be amended or give the contracting parties (or beneficial owners of bonds) a right to early redemption of debt securities:

 ■ 355 million revolving credit agreement entered into on 1 August 2019

 ■ 15 million revolving credit facility entered into on 30 September 2019

 ■ 175 million perpetual subordinated convertible bonds (ODIRNANE) issued by the Company on 4 December 2019

The Company's agreements with the executive directors contain a 12-month indemnity clause in the event of termination of their 
employment.

7.8. Power of the Board to issue or redeem shares

7.9.  Material agreements to which the Company is a party and 
which take effect, are amended or terminated upon a change 
of control

7.10.  Agreements between the Company and the members of its 
Board of Directors that provide for indemnities in connection 
with a takeover bid

7.3 Holders of any securities with special control rights

7.5. Legal or statutory restrictions on the exercise of voting rights

7.6. Shareholders' agreements
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The Company has not yet implemented a remuneration policy 
for the 2020 financial year in accordance with the Belgian Law 
of April 28, 2020 that transposes the Shareholder Rights Directive 
II of May 17, 2017 (2007/36/EC). This remuneration policy will be 
applied for 2021, as permitted by the transitional provisions of 
the Law of April 28, 2020, and will be put forward to be voted on 
at the Company’s Annual General Meeting during the ordinary 
meeting to be held in June 2021.

Remuneration for the 2020 financial year is consistent with the 
policy adopted so far by the Company, which is based on distin-

guishing between executive directors and non-executive directors.

As regards the remuneration of the members of the Board of 
Directors, the Company complies with the recommendations of 
the 2020 Belgian Code on Corporate Governance. The current 
remuneration policy is intended to: (i) attract, reward and retain 
necessary talent, (ii) encourage the achievement of strategic ob-
jectives consistent with the level of risk that the Company agrees 
to take and its standards of conduct, and (iii) promote long-term 
value creation.

8. REMUNERATION REPORT
8.1. Introduction

Remuneration and benefits of any kind granted to directors during 
the 2020 financial year consist, where appropriate, of fixed remu-
neration and/or one or more service contracts entered into by 
private management companies with one or more of the holding 
companies that are Company subsidiaries.

Executive and non-executive directors are not entitled to any de-
ferred remuneration or pension. Executive directors are entitled to 
severance pay of an amount equivalent to 12 months’ remuneration. 

As part of the restructuring of governance made in the Company’s 
interests, the Company terminated the mandate of CEO Nicolas 
Valtille (Valvest Management) on its own initiative. However, 
Nicolas Valtille continues to perform certain functions under the 
responsibility of the current CEO. 

Executive directors do not receive any directors’ fees.

The Nomination and Compensation Committee endorsed the 
executive directors’ remuneration policy described below. 

Remuneration and benefits of any kind granted to executive 
directors are determined in accordance with the following prin-
ciples and rules: 

a)�Annual�fixed�remuneration

Executive directors receive annual fixed remuneration paid in 
12 monthly installments. The amount is determined by level of 
responsibility, experience and market practices. 

Annual fixed remuneration is received by directors by means of 
several service contracts entered into by private management 
companies with one or more of the Company's subsidiary holding 
companies.

In addition, the executive directors benefit from the use of a 
company car. 

b)�Annual�variable�remuneration

Executive directors do not receive any annual variable 
remuneration.

c)�Long-term�remuneration

In 2019, the executive directors received long-term remuneration 
in the form of stock options or share purchase options. These stock 
options comply with the 2018-2023 Options Plan approved by the 
General Meeting of June 19, 2018. This plan does not permit execu-
tive directors to acquire, or exercise a right to acquire, a company 
share less than three years prior to its allocation. 

d)�Exceptional�remuneration

Executive directors’ remuneration does not include any excep-
tional items.

8.2. General principles 

8.3. Remuneration of executive directors

8.3.1. General principles
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8.3.2. Individual remuneration

a)�Items�of�remuneration�in�2020�for�Mauro�Ricci,�Chair�of�the�Board�of�Directors,�CEO,�and�director�responsible�for�day-to-day�
management of the Company:

(1) Remuneration paid by the Group to BMC Management & Investment SRL for services rendered to the Group. 

(°)  In Belgium, social security charges are payable by management companies. For the purpose of comparison with our main French competitors 
(whose social security contribution rate is around 45%), this remuneration would be equivalent to €1,816,000.

Remuneration for Mauro Ricci

Fixed remuneration (1) €2,634,000 (°)

Annual variable remuneration - None

Long-term remuneration Two types of plans are in place with regard to long-term incentives for executive directors, which vary 
with the share value. 
- In 2019, one stock option was exercised in accordance with the terms and conditions detailed in the 
table below.
- On January 15, 2020, the Company sold 39,960 of its own shares to BMC Management & Investment, a 
management company owned by Mauro Ricci, at a price of €59.68 per share. The price of these shares 
corresponds with the weighted average price over the three months prior to the transfer. The price was 
financed by a 64-month loan from AKKA Finance. Based on the closing price of December 31, 2020, this 
transaction shows an unrealized loss of €1,355,843 for BMC Management & Investment.

Exceptional remuneration - None

Other benefits - None

Stock options – Mauro Ricci

Plan name Date of 
proposal/offer

Date of 
acquisition

End of retention 
period Exercise period Exercise price

Number of 
options at the 
beginning of 

2020

Number 
of options 
proposed/
granted/

proposed but 
not granted

SOP 2019 (1) 09/24/2019 12/31/2022 N/A 01/01/2023 to 
06/01/2024 € 54.64 55,000

0
0

55,000

(1) in accordance with the 2018-2023 Stock Option Plan authorized by the General Meeting of June 19, 2018
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b)�Items�of�remuneration�in�2020�for�Jean-Franck�Ricci,�Executive�Director,�CEO,�and�director�responsible�for�day-to-day�manage-
ment of the Company: 

(2) Remuneration paid by the Group to HR Management & Investment SRL for services rendered to the Group. 

(°)  In Belgium, social security charges are payable by management companies. For the purpose of comparison with our main French competitors 
(whose social security contribution rate is around 45%), this remuneration would be equivalent to €1,030,000.

(1) conforme au Plan d’options 2018-2023 autorisé par l’Assemblée générale du 19 juin 2018

Remuneration for Jean-Franck Ricci

Fixed remuneration (2) €1,494,000 (°)

Annual variable remuneration - None

Long-term remuneration Two types of plans are in place with regard to long-term incentives for executive directors, which vary 
with the share value. 
- In 2019, one stock option was exercised in accordance with the terms and conditions detailed in the 
table below.
- On January 15, 2020, the Company sold 39,960 of its own shares to HR Management & Investment, a 
management company owned by Jean-Franck Ricci, at a price of €59.68 per share. The price of these 
shares corresponds with the weighted average price over the three months prior to the transfer. The 
price of these shares was financed by a 64-month loan from AKKA Finance. Based on the closing price 
of December 31, 2020, this transaction shows an unrealized loss of €1,355,843 for HR Management & 
Investment.

Exceptional remuneration - None

Other benefits - None

Stock options – Jean-Franck Ricci

Plan name Date of 
proposal/offer

Date of 
acquisition

End of retention 
period Exercise period Exercise price

Number of 
options at the 
beginning of 

2020

Number 
of options 
proposed/
granted/

proposed but 
not granted

SOP 2019 (1) 09/24/2019 12/31/2022 N/A 01/01/2023 to 
06/01/2024 € 54.64 27,500 27,500

(1) in accordance with the 2018-2023 Stock Option Plan authorized by the General Meeting of June 19, 2018
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c)�Items�of�remuneration�in�2020�for�Nicolas�Valtille,�CEO�and�director�responsible�for�day-to-day�management�of�the�Company�
until�December�30,�2020�(effective�date�of�resignation�from�those�two�positions):�

Nicolas Valtille’s mandate as CEO was terminated on December 30, 2020. The severance pay contractually due to Nicolas Valtille was 
therefore paid to him.

(1) in accordance with the 2018-2023 Stock Option Plan authorized by the General Meeting of June 19, 2018

(3) Remuneration paid by the Group to Valvest Management SRL for services rendered to the Group.

(°)  In Belgium, social security charges are payable by management companies. For the purpose of comparison with our main French competitors 
(whose social security contribution rate is around 45%), this remuneration would be equivalent to €840,000.

Remuneration for Nicolas Valtille

Fixed remuneration (3) €1,217,400 (°)

Annual variable remuneration - None

Long-term remuneration Two types of plan are in place with regard to long-term incentives for executive directors, which vary with 
the share value. 
- In 2019, one stock option was exercised in accordance with the terms and conditions detailed 
in the table below.
- On January 15, 2020, the Company sold 39,960 of its own shares to Valvest Management, a 
management company owned by Nicolas Valtille, at a price of €59.68 per share. The price of these 
shares corresponds with the weighted average price over the three months prior to the transfer. The 
price of these shares was financed by a 64-month loan from AKKA Finance. Based on the closing price of 
December 31, 2020, this transaction shows an unrealized loss of €1,355,843 for Valvest Management.

Exceptional remuneration - Sum of €947,400 paid on December 30, 2020 at the end of the term of office for a director responsible 
for day-to-day management

Other benefits - Company car: €21,105

Stock options – Nicolas Valtille

Plan name Date of 
proposal/offer

Date of 
acquisition

End of retention 
period Exercise period Exercise price

Number of 
options at the 
beginning of 

2020

Number 
of options 
proposed/
granted/

proposed but 
not granted

SOP 2019 (1) 09/24/2019 12/31/2022 N/A 01/01/2023 to 
06/01/2024 € 54.64 27,500

0
0

27,500
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Following a proposal by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, the Board of Directors decided at its meeting on March 
17, 2020 to propose to the General Meeting to grant a total sum 
of €250,000 as annual remuneration to non-executive directors, 
to be distributed at the discretion of the Board of Directors in the 
form of directors’ fees.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee believed that this 
total amount would be sufficient to recruit, retain and motivate 
competent non-executive directors whilst taking into account the 
nature and extent of individual responsibilities.

The General Meeting on June 16, 2020 approved this resolution.

In accordance with the internal rules of procedure updated on July 
18, 2019 and approved by the Board of Directors, the distribution 
of all or part of the directors’ fees, the total amount of which was 

approved by the General Meeting, is decided upon by the Board 
of Directors after receiving opinions and recommendations from 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. This remuneration 
of non-executive directors takes into account their role as regular 
board members and any specific roles such as Chair of the Board, 
Chair or member of a board committee and the associated re-
sponsibilities and time dedicated to their roles. They do not receive 
performance-related remuneration such as bonuses, long-term 
incentive schemes, fringe benefits or pension benefits.

Non-executive director remuneration for the 2020 term of office 
was agreed upon by the Board of Directors on December 16, 2020, 
as shown in the table below. All remuneration is charged to the 
Company’s operating expenses:

8.4. Remuneration of non-executive directors

Non-executive Category Attendance fees 2020 Other positions held

Muriel Barnéoud Independent €40,000, 25% in the form of 
shares (°) -

Charles Champion €40,000, 25% in the form  
of shares (°)

Fee of €60,000 euros paid to 
Champion Aero under a contract 
for international support services

Guy Lacroix (resigned on 
December 30, 2020) -

Fee of €123,750 euros paid to GLX 
Consulting under a contract for 
governance consultancy services 
that ended on September 30, 
2020

Cécile Monnot - -

Valérie Magloire Independent €40,000, 25% in the form  
of shares (°) -

Jean-Luc Perodeau Employee representative - Employment contract with 
Aeroconseil

Charlotte Ricci - -

Alain Tisserand Independent €40,000, 25% in the form  
of shares (°) -

Xavier Le Clef (co-opted with 
effect from December 31, 2020) - -

(°)  In accordance with Principle 7.6 of the 2020 Belgian Code on Corporate Governance, these shares are retained for at least one year after the non-
executive director has left the board and for at least three years after the allocation of such shares.
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Financial year Name,  
position

Fixed  
remuneration 

(€)

Annual 
variable 

remuneration 
(€) 

Exceptional 
remuneration

Other  
benefits

Total (€) Total  
remuneration  

for the year (€)

2018

M. Ricci 1,573,283 1,573,283

3,728,900

J.-F. Ricci 997,256 997,256

N. Valtille 1,017,256 21,105 1,038,361

Non-
executives 120,000 120,000

2019

M. Ricci 2,634,000 2,634,000

5,511,505

J.-F. Ricci 1,494,000 1,494,000

N. Valtille 1,217,400 21,105 1,238,505

Non-
executives 145,000 145,000

2020

M. Ricci 2,634,000 2,634,000

6,473,905

J.-F. Ricci 1,494,000 1,494,000

N. Valtille 1,217,400 947,400 21,105 2,185,905

Non-
executives 160,000 160,000

8.5. Annual changes in remuneration and Company performance

8.5.1. Annual changes in remuneration

8.5.2. Annual change in Company performance 

Remuneration is fixed and not based on Company performance. No variable remuneration applies.

The reporting is done for the financial years 2018 to 2020 corresponding to the remuneration structure put in place on the occasion 
of the transfer of the Company's headquarters to Belgium in May 2018.

8.5.3.  Annual change in average remuneration based on FTE equivalent 
for the Company 

a)�Method�for�calculating�the�average�remuneration�of�employees

The average compensation of employees has been calculated with data available only since 2018.

It is expressed as a total cost (including employer costs) to make it comparable with a remuneration that would be paid in the form of 
a service contract agreed with a personal management company.

It was calculated for France, Germany, Italy, Belgium, Spain and the Czech Republic, which employ 2/3 of the Group's global workforce.

b)�Annual�change�in�average�remuneration�of�employees

The ratio between the highest remuneration among the members of management and the lowest remuneration expressed on a full-
time equivalent basis, among the employees employed in Belgium is 80.

Financial year Average remuneration based on FTE equivalent for the Company

2018 €46,299 

2019 €51,511 

2020 €51,571 
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1.  STRENGTHENING BUSINESS STRATEGY THROUGH 
MANAGEMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
1.1. An integrated approach to Corporate Social Responsibility

At AKKA we understand that conscientious management of both 
our financial and non-financial performance is key to the long term 
success of the Group. Therefore, we promote initiatives across the 
group aimed at creating value for our stakeholders.

To guarantee greater visibility of Group-wide initiatives, improve 
integration of those initiatives into the overall strategy and increase 
consistency on a global basis, our objective is to incorporate all 
of our commitments and actions into more a integrated process 
with data gathered from a network of CSR correspondents in each 
country within the reporting scope.

Non-financial performance is managed at Group level under the 
guidance of the Group General Counsel and the Communications 
Director, who report directly to the Group’s CEO.

Information about the Group’s strategy and presentation – in terms 
of both its governance structures and its financial information – 
are available in the corresponding chapter of this Annual Report. 

This statement has been developed on the basis of the priorities 
viewed as strategic. This report stands for the Communication on 
Progress required within the Global Compact (a programme run 
under the auspices of the United Nations), which AKKA signed 
up to in 2010. 

To measure the progress achieved, the Group assesses its efforts 
based on the GRI standards: core option. A correlation table is 
provided at the end of the chapter.
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Importance for AKKA’s business

Aspects to be  
included 
in the risk  
register

Aspects to be  
actively monitored

Strategic aspects

 ■ Internal mobility
 ■ Remuneration

 ■ Local and civic 
 engagement

 ■ Political and security risk  ■ Occupational health and safety
 ■ Respect for human rights

 ■  Management of non-financial 
performance

 ■ Dialogue with stakeholders 
 ■  Promotion of occupational 

health and well-being

 ■ Attraction and retention of talent 
 ■ Governance and business ethics 
 ■ Sustainable business development
 ■  Development of innovative and responsible 

technologies
 ■ Information security and cyber-security
 ■  Customer service quality and industry knowledge 

and expertise
 ■  Diversity, non-discrimination and equal 

opportunities 
 ■ Management of environmental impact

1.2. Materiality Analysis

Our materiality analysis is carried out periodically, to enable us to identify the economic, social and environmental issues that matter 
most to our business and our stakeholders. The analysis informs our decision making regarding which areas to focus our attention 
and internal resources.
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ATTRACTION  
ANDRETENTION 

OF TALENT 

DEVELOPMENT 
OF INNOVATIVE, 

ECO-RESPONSIBLE 
TECHNOLOGIES

GOVERNANCE 
AND BUSINESS 

ETHICS 

SECURITY  
OF DATA AND 
INFORMATION 

SYSTEMS 

SUSTAINABLE 
BUSINESS 

DEVELOPMENT 

EXPERTISE OF INDUSTRIAL 
SECTORS AND QUALITY  

OF CUSTOMER  
SERVICES 

DIVERSITY,  
NON-DISCRIMINATION 

AND EQUAL 
OPPORTUNITIES 

MANAGEMENT OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL 

IMPACT 

OF THE 17 ISSUES IDENTIFIED IN 2019, THE FOLLOWING 8 WERE 
CONSIDERED TO BE OF STRATEGIC IMPORTANCE.  
THESE ISSUES REMAIN UNCHANGED IN 2020.
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1.3.  AKKA supports the SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT GOALS (SDGs)

As a signatory to the United Nations Global Com-
pact since 2010, AKKA has been committed to sup-
porting the compact and applying its 10 principles. 
Accordingly, we use the Sustainable Development 
Goals to guide our CSR strategy in order to better 
respond to the challenges of today’s world.

WHILE WE SUPPORT ALL THE SDGS, WE HAVE IDENTIFIED 8 
GOALS THAT ALIGN MOST TO OUR BUSINESS.  
AKKA IS COMMITTED TO ADVANCING THE ACHIEVEMENT OF:
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GHG EMISSIONS 
2020

ENERGY CONSUMPTION  
2020

16,809
tCO2

 Scope 1 : Emissions 56%
  Scope 2 : 25% 
Power consumption 

  Scope 3 : 19% 
Business travel

 Buildings 90%
  Manufacturing  8%
  Transport  2%

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges the world is facing today. 
Reversing the advance of climate change, which is already adversely 
affecting populations and ecosystems all over the world, will require 
collaborative effort on a global scale. 

We are contributing to this effort by driving positive change within our 
scope of influence. 

OUR APPROACH IS CENTERED AROUND THREE MAIN 
PILLARS: 

1)   reducing the ecological footprint of existing infrastructures 
through innovation, 

2)  developing sustainable solutions for and alongside our clients, 
3)��  as well as promoting sustainability from within through local inter-

nal initiatives in our various Business Units.

In 2020, the entities that entered the scope of reporting in 2019 (Belgium, 
Switzerland, the United Kingdom and Spain) have consolidated their 
respective processes in reporting key energy performance indicators. 
Whereas in 2019, these countries could not report on the energy con-
sumption of their fleet of vehicles, this has been improved in 2020. This 
explains the significant increase in scope 1 emissions compared to 2019. 

In addition, our most recent acquisition Data Respons1 has been included 
within the 2020 reporting scope. We continue to make efforts towards 
a standardized process with the goal of aligning environmental indica-
tors and objectives across the Group, to reduce the company’s carbon 
footprint. 

Teleworking during the pandemic deeply impacted our energy consump-
tion, mostly by reducing our emissions for all scopes, with less electricity 
purchased (-10%) and a lower rate of business travel (decrease of 69% 
for air travel and 43% for train). 

However, the usage of cars increased (+17% of total gas consumed) 
compared to 2019. This could be partially explained by the increasing 
trend to use own vehicles instead of public transportation, including 
trains which saw reduced availability for part of 2020.

2.  CARING FOR OUR ENVIRONMENT

1 More information on Data Respons’ ESG performance can be found on its website:  
https://datarespons.com/sustainability/
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2.1.  Reducing the ecological footprint of existing infrastructures 
through technology and innovation.

At AKKA, we believe that we have a role to play in supporting 
the energy transition. Our stakeholders expect us to leverage our 
innovation and expertise to come up with solutions that are a 
step ahead of our competitors’. The mobility of the future, which 
will be more autonomous and more connected, represents one of 
the major technological challenges of the 21st century. The next 
generation of vehicles and aircraft embodies a range of the most 
advanced technologies (artificial intelligence, real-time process-
ing of big data, inter-modality, etc.). These technologies enable 
streamlined mobility when faced with the challenges of urbaniza-
tion, congestion of infrastructure and the impact of pollution on 
public health and the environment. 

Developing our technologies and skills resolving these challenges 
is our way of contributing towards the advancement of the UN 
Sustainable development goals. 

Our internal research department, AKKA RESEARCH, is sparing no 
effort to ensure that our operational consultants provide added 
value working on projects in three technological lines, which have 
been carefully selected in line with our vision for technology and 
to meet our clients’ needs. 

AKKA RESEARCH is well involved in improving research in the 
field of low carbon energy with 4 devoted projects to the field. 
Our internal research center has also several projects related to 
circular economy, eco-conception and smart energy. 

GETTING COMMITTED IN THE EU GREEN DEAL 
TOWARDS MORE SUSTAINABLE MOBILITY
Over the course of 2020, AKKA has received over 3 M Euros of funds 
from the EU Commission for several of its projects. Most of them 
are in digital (78%), 17% in automation, and 4% in Green Energy. 
This recognition by the EU Commission of the added value of the 
projects we are involved in shows how AKKA uses full potential 
of its expertise in digital to impact on the issues at stake for the 
world today.

One of the ways which we are lending our support to the collabo-
rative push towards environmental sustainability, AKKA is a partner 
in the EU-SysFlex project.

EU-SysFlex stands for “Pan-European system with an efficient 
coordinated use of flexibilities for the integration of a large share 
of renewable energy sources “. The project plays a key part in 
decarbonizing the EU by 2050. More specifically, the project aims 
to introduce an electricity system with more than 50% of its elec-
tricity demand being met by renewable energy and create a plan 
to provide assistance to power system operators across Europe.

AKKA brings its digital expertise to this European project to boost 
the electricity system of the future which shall be designed with the 
right blend of flexibility and system services to support secure and 
resilient European transmission operation. Within the dedicated 
work package for data management, our teams contribute their 
know-how on industrial software development, quality, usability, 
scalability and reliability of software architectures.

The increased proliferation of digital solutions around the world 
brings with it an inevitable impact on the environment. Increasingly 
an energy consumer, digital technology is also a major user of 
resources for the manufacture of equipment and a generator of 
waste. Conscious of this impact, AKKA is an inaugural signatory 
to Planet Tech’Care, an initiative bringing together a network of 
partners (professional organizations, schools, competitiveness 
clusters, associations, foundations, think tanks), which aims to 
support companies in reducing the impact of digital technologies 
on the environment.

4 DEVOTED PROJECTS 
RESEARCH in the field 
of low carbon energ

SHARE OF PROJECTS PER  
TECHNOLOGICAL LINE

  Digital 44%

  Green Energy  30%

 Automation 26%
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BOOSTING MOTOR PERFORMANCE WHILE  
IMPROVING SUSTAINABILITY 
As continued proof of AKKA’s ambition to reduce the ecological 
footprint of existing infrastructures and vehicles through technol-
ogy and innovation, in November 2020, AKKA Research unveiled 
its first prototype of an electric go-kart. Employing the use of an 
easily adaptable electrification module, a traditional thermal go-
kart can be transformed into an electric go-kart and vice versa 
in just two hours. 

A by-product of the relentless work of our engineers, this E-Kart 
prototype contributes to the push towards more sustainability in 
motor sports; particularly in the developmental stages, notably 
by reducing noise emissions and polluting particles without com-
promising on performance.

RETHINKING REGIONAL MOBILITY WITH FLEXMOVE

Flexmove is an environmentally friendly, 
multimodal on-demand mobility service 
that can use both road and rail within 
the same journey. Conceived by AKKA 
Research engineers, it is an electric vehicle 
that can be driven like a car when on the 
road, and run autonomously, like an auto-
mated train when using rail. With Flexmove, 
passengers and freight can embark on a 
journey from the first to the final mile, with-
out ever changing vehicle. Fully compatible 
with existing rail infrastructure, the service is 
expected to improve the utilization rate of 
railway lines, especially smaller lines which 
have progressively fallen out of use in sev-
eral countries.
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2.2.  Developing sustainable solutions for and alongside  
our clients 

Due to global warming, the risk of fires is 
increasing in the world. States fight against 
fires by deploying various human & mate-
rial means, a significant part of which is 
air support. However, current fire fighter 
aircraft are expensive and require specific 
maintenance. For example: The Canadair 
(fire fighter most used in France) can trans-
port a maximum of only 7 tons of water. 
The 747 can transport a lot of water but 
coupled with high maintenance costs, the 
aircraft once modified, can only be used 
for firefighting purposes. Faced with this 
problem, engineers from our aeronautics 
division in France sprang into action to de-
velop a solution that allows the installation 
of a water tank kit in transportation aircraft. 
The first kits were designed for A400M and 
Casa C295 & C27J Spartan aircraft, with 
similar systems able to be installed in any 
other suitable aircraft.

The entire industrialized world is being called upon from all 
quarters - from public officials defining new regulations to 
increasingly informed consumers - to strive to do more in terms 
of environmental and societal performance. As a strategic 
innovation partner, AKKA supports its clients in the development 
of new products and business processes, some of which are: 

INNOVATING TO INCREASE AERIAL FIREFIGHTING CAPACITY

ENGINEERS FROM OUR 
AERONAUTICS DIVISION 
IN FRANCE SPRANG INTO 
ACTION TO DEVELOP A 
SOLUTION THAT ALLOWS 
THE INSTALLATION OF 
A WATER TANK KIT IN 
TRANSPORTATION AIRCRAFT
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IOT-BASED SOLUTION FOR OPTIMAL ENERGY  
MANAGEMENT 

MicroDoc (Data Respons company) has 
been an engineering service provider for 
the highly innovative EnergyBASE project 
of EnBW since 2015. Our engineers sup-
port the development of complex soft-
ware infrastructure for management of 
an energy mix comprised of solar power, 
battery storage and fixed network power 
grids. The EnergyBase system automati-
cally optimizes energy consumption with 
its self-learning algorithms and controls 
the energy flows in the user’s home. The 
system allows the collection, storage and 
intelligent distribution of the self-gener-
ated energy throughout the house. It knows 
whether the energy should be consumed, 
stored or fed. Through the forecasts for the 
next 24 hours, Energybase creates an indi-
vidual plan for optimal use of the generated 
electricity.

INTELLIGENT STREET LIGHTING 
IN COPENHAGEN
Signify (prev. Philips) is a world leader in 
advanced lighting systems. They have 
developed the iconic streetlamps called 
“The Copenhagen” into a connected and 
smarter system, saving energy, cost and 
making city life safer. 

Our Copenhagen-based specialists at 
TechPeople (a subsidiary of Data Respons) 
brought their expertise to bear in assisting 
Signify with a solution that controls the wire-
less communication between the lamps us-
ing the MESH network technology, Zigbee. 
As well as sharing their domain knowledge 
helping Signify make smart and future proof 
choices when choosing hardware.

THROUGH THE FORECASTS 
FOR THE NEXT 24 HOURS, 
ENERGYBASE CREATES 
AN INDIVIDUAL PLAN 
FOR OPTIMAL USE OF THE 
GENERATED ELECTRICITY
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2.3.  Promoting sustainability from within through local internal 
initiatives in our various Business Units.

To manage the carbon footprint of our activities, we 
have also focused on a range of internal actions. Our lo-
cations in Czech Republic are compliant with the norm  
ISO 14 001 and ISO 5001. In France, our location in Toulouse-Blagnac 
(Andromède) is compliant with ISO 14 001; accommodating more 
than 30% of our French employees that are covered by an en-
vironmental management system. In Germany, 13 locations are 
compliant with ISO 14 001, which covers over 40% of our German 
employees.

Finally, our Spanish entity is currently working on improving its 
control process of the company’s environmental matters to obtain 
this certification.

Our German business unit launched since 
2019 the AKKA goes green campaign, 
geared towards reducing CO2 emissions 
resulting from the transportation and 
handling involved in delivering an esti-
mated 102,000 crates of water (166 truck-
loads) annually to offices across the BU. 
Alternatively, water dispensers which refine 
drinking water directly from the mains by 
filtering and cooling were installed at AKKA 
offices in German locations.

To support the adoption of this new initia-
tive, glass water bottles were provided to 
each employee as a gift. As a further step 
in playing a part in the reduction of waste 
generated from the use of disposable cof-
fee cups, employees were encouraged to 
make the switch to reusable cups made 
available to them by the company at a 
subsidized cost.

COMMITMENTS TOWARD BETTER WASTE 
MANAGEMENT 

AKKA GOES GREEN

05 Non-financial performance statement

In Germany, AKKA sponsored the Pen Recycling Program, which 
aims at collecting used office supplies (e.g. empty pens) for recy-
cling. One kilogram of collected goods generates around 10 cents 
for donations to a non-profit association of own choice. 

AKKA France has set up initiatives to incentivize the French em-
ployees to reduce their CO2 footprint : reimbursement of up to 
70% of the employee’s public transport fee instead of the 50% 
legal obligation, and car-sharing through partnerships with KLAXIT 
and KAROS, two digital applications which promote car-sharing 
amongst employees. 

Within our offices in Milan, Italy, the focus on office activities has 
led to prioritize the reduction of plastic waste out of vending ma-
chines. Plastics cups were replaced by paper cups only. In addition, 
the shift towards certified PEFC and FCT paper products (printing 
paper, hands paper) has also been well implemented. 

Finally, Data Respons has implemented the eco-design method-
ology. This means that they design and deliver solutions to our 
customers that comply with all relevant environmental legislations, 
and make sure that products can be recycled or disposed of safely 
at the end of their life cycle.

Waste   2020  2019
Plastics and plastic packaging t 17.85 30.82

Paper & packaging t 35.93 87.42

Glass t 1.03 0.33

Wood t 75.03 121.76

Electronics t 10.05 11.81

Industrial waste t 41.46 150.71

Hazardous substances t 32.82 26.83

others t 65.08 57.03

TOTAL�WASTE�GENERATED 279.24 486.70
Reycled t 233.62 457.61

Reused t 2.88 2.82

Incinerated t 42.98 29.77



95	 - Annual report 2020

3.  OUR STRONG VALUES AT THE 
FOUNDATION OF OUR CULTURE

Our values of courage, respect and ambition are what drive our 
desire to contribute to making the world a better place through 
innovation. These values form the foundation of our culture, which 
informs everything we do.

We understand that our culture is what sets us apart from 
competition allowing us to attract the best talents and keep them 
engaged, ultimately resulting in us being able to better serve our 
customers. Thanks to our culture, we are able to create a working 
environment for our employees that has earned us the distinction 
of “Top Employer” in France and Belgium.
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3.1. Promoting Diversity & Inclusion

3.2. Women in Engineering

At AKKA we recognize that diversity of 
experience and backgrounds allows us to 
innovate and makes us stronger. We strive 
to maintain an inclusive environment where 
our employees can thrive and make their 
voices heard. To this end, we promote sev-
eral initiatives that are geared towards 
engendering diversity and inclusion, both 
within the company and externally. 

AKKA has been a signatory to the Diversity 
Charter (Charte de la diversité) in France 
since 2011. The Diversity Charter is a com-
mitment by employers who wish to take 
a proactive approach to promote diver-
sity and thus go beyond the legal and 
judicial framework of the fight against 
discrimination.

Under representation of women in the dig-
ital and engineering field remains a major 
issue that AKKA continuously tries to tackle. 
According to the European commission, 
women are still less likely to have specialist 
digital skills and work in this field compared 
to men, as only 18% of ICT specialists in the 
EU are women. 

As of today, 24% of our employees are 
women. In addition to training and sensi-
tization campaigns on the topic, new ini-
tiatives are carried out every year in our 
business units to promote gender diversity 
within the Group. 

Data Respons which currently has women 
making up 20% of its total workforce, has 
set the objective to increase that number to 
at least 25% of its total workforce by 2025. 

Throughout 2020, our French Business Unit 
deployed the “Elles font l’Histoire d’AKKA” 
program (“They build AKKA’s history) as part 
of its action plans on the fight against all 
kinds of discrimination.

Breakdown by gender for own employees 2020 2019

Share of men % 76% 76%

Share of women % 24% 23%

Breakdown by employment type  
for own employees (d) 2020 2019

Full-time headcount, year-end 13.258 14.807

of which women % 22% 22%

Part-time headcount, year-end 964 997

of which women % 55% 55%

Breakdown by employment type  
for own employees (d) 2020 2019

Permanent headcount, year-end 13.897 15.201

of which women % 24% 24%

Temporary headcount, year-end 325 603

of which women % 28% 26%

2020 WORKFORCE BREAKDOWN 
BY AGE GROUP 

<25

>55

between	25	and	30

between	30	and	40

between	40	and	50

between	50	and	55

2020 WORKFORCE 
BREAKDOWN BY 

GENDER 24%76%
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People with disabilities 2020 2019
Rate of people with disabilities (%) 1.85 1.77

3.3. Integrating people with disabilities

In 2020, we provided 90 working days of engineering services 
to Auticiel, a digital company which develops innovative digital 
solutions to help people with cognitive or mental disabilities lead 
independent lives. Auticiel solutions are customizable assistive 
and learning tools that can be adapted to the needs and abilities 
of each individual, such as communication tools, spatio-temporal 
references or social skills exercises. The solutions are designed and 
tested in collaboration with the beneficiaries, their caregivers, 
their families and a scientific committee. Thanks to the support 
of Adapei 69, a Lyon-based association which provides support 
to families, Auticiel has been able to develop a new software to 
assist workers with cognitive or mental disabilities and increase 
their professional skills and employment. 

AKKA HAND’ESPORT CHALLENGE: RECRUITING  
AND RAISING AWARENESS THROUGH GAMING.
During the European Disability Employment Week in November 2020, 
we organized the maiden edition of our AKKA HAND’ESORT chal-
lenge in conjunction with agency T by TALENTEO. The online gaming 
event was dedicated to raising awareness about the employment of 
persons with disabilities.

A total of 150 participants divided into 38 teams competed in two 
tournaments over the span of 10 days. Each of the teams was made up 
of three AKKA employees and a candidate with a disability. Between 
sessions, the participants discussed strategies for the next round, but 
also about the professional opportunities offered by AKKA. Employees 
who were not part of the challenge were able to follow the event via 
a live broadcast. Our goal, through these kinds of initiatives is to con-
tinue to nurture meaningful interactions with persons with disabilities, 
towards greater diversity and inclusion.

AMIKEO FOR WORK

IN 2020, WE 
PROVIDED 90 
WORKING DAYS 
OF ENGINEERING 
SERVICES TO 
AUTICIEL
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INTERVIEW WITH
Sigrid Sauron

Head of Diversity BU France

What measures has AKKA taken to 
improve the integration of people with 
disabilities?  

These are relatively classic measures 
used in most companies: recruitment, 
awareness-raising, training and job 
adaptation.  An employee in charge 
of the employer brand sources in 
dedicated trade shows, websites and 
CV techs. Finding profiles is a complex 
step because the people we recruit are 
highly qualified. Although the inclusion 
of people with disabilities tends to evolve 
positively, access to higher education 
for them is not always easy. Therefore, 
we have very few candidates, and 
this situation requires a great deal of 
sourcing. In addition, awareness is a 
key element in overcoming the various 
prejudices on the part of clients as well 
as colleagues, thus making awareness 
raising an important action for us.  

What is more specific at AKKA is that 
we are looking for profiles that are quite 
rare and therefore in high demand. 
Consequently, there is an obligation to 
be more innovative if we want the target 
audience to respond to us. We therefore 
organize punchy initiatives many times 
in the form of games and animation 
with the aim of generating interest and 
getting people to meet with us.  

  

How have these actions evolved during 
the year given the health situation?   

As in many companies, everything had 
to be digitalized. The example of the 
Handisport challenge is interesting. It was 
planned to organize e-sport tournaments 
in AKKA agencies with spectators 
present and to take advantage of this 
to raise awareness. The idea was to 
select one agency per month and then 
make the grand finale at the end of 
the year. Given the health situation, 

we transformed it into an e-sport and 
distance tournament. Although we 
experienced it as a frustration at first, it 
eventually turned out to be something 
more positive, since we were able to 
put everyone on an equal footing as 
geographical distance was no longer a 
problem. This way we were able to include 
more employees and candidates who 
took part in the tournament without 
having to travel. This experience made 
us evolve on certain initiatives, on how 
to manage job accommodations, and 
on the need to maintain the link with the 
population.   

Has the pandemic opened up new 
perspectives?  

Yes, and not only for people with 
disabilities. In all companies where 
managers were not supportive of 
homeworking, because of their fear 
of losing control, teleworking was 
established by force of circumstance, and 
everyone could see that it worked out.  

There will be a “before” and “after” 
COVID on work organization and I think 
that this will also apply to the professional 
equality between men and women. 

What would you say to a person  
with a disability who wants to apply?  

They shouldn’t hesitate to contact us! We 
are a «disabled -friendly» company, 
which has been open and well-structured 
for years. All the necessary support to 
accommodate them in the best possible 
conditions will be put in place. It is by 
lifting taboos that we can change things. 
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4.  BUILDING THE WORKFORCE  
OF THE FUTURE

Our continued success is dependent on our ability to attract, 
retain and develop a highly skilled workforce. 

As we operate in a rapidly changing industry characterized by 
constant advancement in technology,  
in order to stay competitive and remain at the forefront  
of innovation, it is imperative that our people’s capabilities evolve 
accordingly. We consider learning to be an essential part of our 
employees’ career journeys. 

Consequently, continuous learning lies at the heart of our talent 
development strategy. In addition to our various learning platforms 
(AKKADEMIA, eAKKADEMY), in 2020 we launched a new learning 
roadmap designed to reinforce the skills of our people, preparing 
them for the future. 

INTERVIEW WITH
Sigrid Sauron
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4.1. Learning roadmap 

designed for 
Business Managers. 

This path’s objective 
is to provide 
Business Managers 
with the means 
to better identify 
digital projects for 
our clients which 
match our talent 
pool of highly skilled 
consultants.

designed for 
Business Managers 
& Recruiters. 

The focus of this 
learning path is 
equipping our 
Business Managers 
with the necessary 
tools for acquiring 
first class digital 
and IT talent.

designed for our 
Consultants. 

Capitalizing on the 
know-how of our 
engineers while 
offering them new 
career development 
opportunities in 
other technology 
domains.

HOURS OF 
TRAINING ON 
AVERAGE PER 
EMPLOYEE

45 

Our Digital 
Sales  
Learning 
Path 

Our Re-
cruitment 
Learning 
Path 

Our 
Re-Skilling 
Programs 

Our learning roadmap is articulated around 3 main programs, 
which are complementary to one another:
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4.2. AKKA AWARDS: Rewarding creativity and innovation

4.3. Developing young talent

Innovation is ingrained in our culture and an important part of 
why we are able to proffer cutting edge solutions to our custom-
ers. Cognizant of this, we encourage our employees to push the 
limits of their creativity in order to come up with ground-breaking, 
value-added solutions.

As one of the initiatives to boost innovation, we have AKKA Awards 
an in-house competition designed to reward employees who have 
come up with the best technological solutions within a particu-
lar year. In 2020, while many logistical elements of the Awards 
changed, the innovation and creativity shown by our employees 
remained the same.

To attract and cultivate the next generation of talent, we have 
rolled out several initiatives centered around getting involved in 
the ecosystem of tertiary institutions located in the countries within 
which we operate. These initiatives are primarily geared towards 
illustrating the scope and variety of possible careers within the Group. 

For instance, in collaboration with the Czech technical university 
in Prague, our subsidiary in the Czech Republic organizes a 1 week 
“project training” program primarily for university students. Students 
are assigned to departments within the company and work on a task/
project under the supervision of their designated mentor. Depending 
on their area of study, students work on technical assignments rang-
ing from simulation and computation, to IT. At the end of the week, 
students present their project in one foreign language (German, 
English) and obtain a certificate plus university credits. The program 
provides students with valuable experience and takes them one 
step closer towards becoming the engineers of the future. 

As part of our commitment to fostering the development of young 
talent, in November 2020, AKKA invited students from engineering 
schools all over France to participate in our yearly hackathon. The 
theme this year was centered around decarbonization. Participants 
were challenged to come up with innovative and concrete solutions 
geared towards the decarbonization of their immediate environ-
ments. One of the winning solutions was an eco-friendly streetlight 
concept based on the use of bioluminescent microalgae that 
capture CO2, the objective being to replace traditional streetlights 
and reduce the overall carbon footprint. The second solution was 
an online platform connecting buyers and sellers of photovoltaic 
panels to facilitate the energy transition for homeowners.

CZECH REPUBLIC 
ORGANIZES A 1 WEEK 
“PROJECT TRAINING” 
PROGRAM PRIMARILY 
FOR UNIVERSITY 
STUDENTS.

FRANCE ORGANIZES ITS 
ANNUAL HACKATON, THE 
THEME THIS YEAR WAS 
CENTERED AROUND 
DECARBONIZATION.

INNOVATION IS INGRAINED 
IN OUR CULTURE 
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4.4.  Supporting employees’ health by promoting 
physical activity

We believe that a fit and healthy workforce 
is one of the most valuable assets a com-
pany can have. Physically active employees 
have fewer sick days and thus are able to 
support colleagues and clients to a greater 
extent. They are also more likely to feel 
motivated and productive while at work. 
For this reason, AKKA strives to support 
initiatives across the Group that promote 
physical activity. 

Occupational health and Safety (d)  2020 2019

 Total work accidents with stoppage* # 61 95

Lost time injury rate average rate 2,10 2,12

Lost time severity rate average rate 0,04 0,02

Abstenteeism average % 2,14% 2,82%

Since 2006, employees at our subsidiary Data Respons in Norway, 
together with former professional cyclist Mads Kaggestad and 
Avantas Aktiv, have trained with the purpose of being more active 
in their daily lives, participating in several competitions that have 
been organized over the years such as the Birkebeiner race and 
“The Great Inshape Challenge”

In 2020, they decided to look outwards with Move for Charity 
an initiative intended to go beyond being active for themselves, 
towards being active for others! For every hour trained, a gift was 
given to charity. Each department chose one humanitarian orga-
nization that they wanted to train for - and together they trained 
and motivated each other to give their best. Throughout 2020, 
they trained individually, departmentally and as a large team. 
Weekly training sessions such as spinning, floorball, volleyball 
and climbing were organized throughout the course of the year.

In a bid to keep our people active especially during the lockdown, 
our teams at AKKA Benelux set up the AKKTIVITY Challenge. 
Employees were encouraged to log their activity onto a dedicated 
group on the Strava App. As an incentive, every week an employee 
was chosen at random from the pool of participants and rewarded 
with a gift card.

MOVE FOR CHARITY

AKKTIVITY CHALLENGE

(d) Data Respons excluded.
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5.  STAYING CONNECTED DURING 
CHALLENGING TIMES

The dramatic spread of COVID-19 in 2020 had a tremendous impact 
on the world as a whole, disrupting the rhythms of our daily lives. 
AKKA made concerted efforts to respond to the resultant challenges 
as swiftly and effectively as possible for the benefit of all our 
stakeholders.

We set up crisis committees in each country coordinated at Group 
level. Our prime concern was to manage the health and protection of 
our employees. Our second priority was to ensure business continuity 
for all our customers globally. This unprecedented health situation 
brought about new realities, necessitating changes in the way we work 
and our approach to innovation and delivery for our customers.

Here are some of the ways we stayed resilient and agile, supporting 
our stakeholders during the pandemic.
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5.1. Supporting our employees

5.3. Supporting our communities

5.2. Supporting our customers

With employee health and safety being our 
number one priority, we quickly sought to 
alleviate the problems caused by the health 
crisis and lockdowns. A daily wellbeing and 
safety survey, followed by a weekly wellbeing 
survey when the health situation had im-
proved slightly, were set up to enable regular 
follow-up of our employees, allowing us to 
stay connected during the lockdown. As we 
consider mental health to be just as import-
ant as physical health, our employees were 
also able to benefit from 24/7 access to a 
wellbeing support hotline which provided 
guidance and emotional support.

In order to facilitate a seamless transition to 
remote working for our employees during the 
lockdown, we took rapid steps to increase 
the capacity of our VPN, provide them with 

Amid a global shortage in the supply of 
Personal Protective Equipment for frontline 
workers, our Crewe based Engineers in the 
United Kingdom came up with an ingenious 
way to utilize our 3D printers. They used them 
to produce frames for the face shields re-
quired by those working on the front line. 
The design was provided by Rolls Royce, mi-
nimising material, and the time required to 
produce. Whilst sourcing materials for these 
face shields, they received so many offers 
of support as well as countless requests for 
these frames. All the frames produced were 
donated to local health facilities.

In times of uncertainty, a reliable guide is 

Many of our customers, particularly those 
in the mobility sector, were hard hit by the 
pandemic which resulted in changes to their 
business operations. As trusted partner of 
our customers, we adapted our service of-
ferings in order to better meet their evolving 
needs.

One example of this is our collaboration 
with Avianor to offer an EASA (European 
Union Aviation Safety Agency) approved 
Passenger-to-Freighter solution to our 
customers worldwide. The engineering 
solutions and associated kits developed 
by Avianor allow the quick and effective 
conversion of passenger aircraft to freight, 

the necessary equipment and ramp up our 
global IT support.

Ensuring that our employees continue to 
learn, develop their skills and stay active 
was also an area of focus for us. In order to 
achieve this, we provided interested employ-
ees with extended access to our e-learning 
platforms.

We launched a global awareness cam-
paign to keep our people informed about 
the changing situation and what measures 
AKKA was putting in place to ensure their 
safety and help them navigate through 
the crisis more easily. With a section on our 
global intranet dedicated to COVID-19 re-
lated topics, employees were able to keep 
themselves apprised of any developments 
relevant to them.

important to correctly interpret symptoms 
of illness. Together with Medicover, AKKA de-
veloped a questionnaire that was intended 
to serve as a decision-making aid. The aim 
being to reduce unfounded fears and at the 
same time provide potentially ill patients with 
helpful recommendations for actions which 
may contribute to alleviating the load on 
medical facilities. The questionnaire is based 
on the criteria of the 

Robert Koch Institute and meets the high-
est data protection standards. After having 
successfully provided our employees with 
the tool, the Group made it accessible to 
the wider public.

with the modifications providing the air-
craft with additional cargo capacity. Due 
to this partnership, logistical challenges 
associated with the grounding of passen-
ger planes – which account for the trans-
portation of roughly half of the world’s air 
freight - due to COVID 19 could be solved 
and the delivery of essential supplies like 
medical equipment ensured.

In the US, our subsidiary PDS Tech was able 
to assist our client Honeywell with ramping 
up the production of protective medical 
equipment such as N95 masks in order to 
aid in the fight against COVID-19.
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6.1. Human Rights 

6.2.  Confidentiality, data protection 
and cybersecurity 

Due to the nature of its business activities 
and the composition of its workforce, AKKA 
does not see Human Rights issues as a ma-
jor risk. However, in addition to complying 
with legal obligations, the Group remains 
highly sensitive to advocating for equal 
opportunity, privacy and health & safety. 

The Group’s Code of Conduct emphasizes 
AKKA’s values of respect, ambition and 
courage, and underscores our public com-
mitment towards labor law and our fight 
against forced and compulsory labor. In 
any event where an infringement of human 
rights is reported, AKKA reserves the right 
to withdraw from any contractual agree-
ments. The Code of Conduct is publicly 
available online. 

We also apply these values externally by 
supporting our communities and those in 
need. 

In the Czech Republic for instance, a sum-
mer charity collection was organized in 
2020 for the association “SOS villages” – 

The security of data and information sys-
tems is a priority for the group to gain the 
trust of its customers. In 2020, all data 
management managers received specific 
training on this subject. 

Further information related to cybersecurity 
is available in the risk section of the man-
agement report. 

AKKA complies with the European GDPR, 
which came into force in May 2018. This reg-
ulation frames the way in which companies 
and their employees shall ensure protection 

which is an organization helping orphans, 
endangered, abandoned children or moth-
ers with kids in need. The aim was to collect 
various supplies and materials to support 
summer camps for those children.

Data Respons has supported the organi-
zation On Own Feet for nearly 20 years. 
This humanitarian organization works with 
children in war-torn countries and provides 
school materials, builds and reconstructs 
schools, provides medical kits to women’s 
clinics and more. 

In 2020, Health and Safety issues were at 
the forefront due to the management of 
home-working obligations. Further details 
are provided in the section of this report 
focusing on the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The compliance department has reported 
the absence of complaints. Based on this 
opinion, the Board of Directors of December 
16th, 2020 acknowledged the good imple-
mentation of the Code of Conduct within 
the Group for the year 2020. 

of personal data and when this data is used 
by companies and other organizations. All 
AKKA employees, suppliers and customers 
are required to document all processes and 
protect personal data during their process-
ing and sharing.

Data security remains a priority in the con-
duct of our business and was emphasized 
in 2020 by the implementation of control 
systems in line with our security guidelines. 

AKKA has renewed its ISO 27001 certifica-
tions (international standard governing the 

6.  BUSINESS ETHICS, ANTI-CORRUPTION 
AND HUMAN RIGHTS
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security of information systems) obtained 
for all support services provided by the 
French and German IT teams to all AKKA 
operating entities worldwide. 

As a follow-up to this certification, a group-
wide awareness program has been devel-
oped and implemented to increase the 
level of understanding of cybersecurity. 
These programs are based on various on-

line modules which are spread out within 
the company throughout communication 
channels.

AKKA’s expertise is reflected in a score of 98 
out of 100 following an analysis by Security 
Score Card. Maintaining this high score is a 
priority to make cybersecurity an integral 
part of AKKA’s activities, both internally and 
externally.

6.3. Anti-corruption 

6.4. Sustainable purchasing and procurement 

Although the risk of corruption or conflict 
of interests is assessed as low, AKKA has 
introduced an action plan on this matter 
and is monitoring the mitigation of this risk. 
Further information about the Group’s risks 
are available in the corresponding section 
of the management report. 

In 2019, AKKA has adopted its anti-cor-
ruption policy, which is complementary 

AKKA’s purchasing and procurement orga-
nization is based on the structured depart-
ments of France and Germany. Since a major 
part of the purchasing volume is for subcon-
tracting in France or Germany, the risk of 
dealing with illegal supplier is analyzed as low. 

The procurement budget spent on local 
suppliers – who can be defined as supplier 
providing its expertise in the same country 
- is of 87% for France, and more than 90% 
for Germany. 

The tracing of materials is mostly for the pur-
chasing of plane materials, which is regu-
lated by the norm EN 9100. 

Based on purchasing processes, all suppliers 
are asked to approve AKKA’s General Terms 
and Conditions of Purchasing which recalls 
the requirement of approving AKKA’s Code 
of Conduct and its commitments such as 
complying with the United Nations Global 
Compact principles. 

In addition, AKKA faces a very low risk re-
garding environment due to the nature of 
its pools of suppliers. For general purchas-
ing, AKKA’s purchasers are asked to check 

to its Code of Conduct. The Group’s an-
ti-corruption policy is a monitoring tool in 
the prevention of corruption and unfair 
competition and is intended to meet the 
expectations of our employees and custom-
ers. The policy is key aspect in maintaining 
the excellence of our supplier chain and 
in fostering business ethics amongst our 
employees.

potential supplier’s expertise in destructing 
and / or recycling waste and hazardous 
components. It is required that suppliers 
comply with the relevant norms related to 
their respective business operations. This 
requirement ensures that the life cycle of 
hazardous materials is handled following 
the state of the art. For instance, in 2020, 
AKKA requires its supplier of hydro gel cans 
to be specialized and compliant with ISO 
14001 norms.

With regards to labor law, stringent local leg-
islations apply and require the Purchasing 
and Procurement departments to check out 
the supplier’s compliance with labor law.

Finally, AKKA fosters inclusion of people with 
disabilities within its business activities, and 
this principle also applies in the procurement 
process. When making an RFQ on subcon-
tracting, AKKA will give a better position if 
the supplier bids in partnership with a com-
pany specialized in Handicap employment. 
In France for instance, 100% of the Green 
areas in our locations is managed by a com-
pany hiring people with disabilities.
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7. Non-financial 
indicators
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GRI  
STANDARDS Metrics 2020** 2019* 2018

ENVIRONMENT

ENERGY PERFORMANCE

302 -1

Building KWh 31.220.364 29.265.020 31.254.995

of which Electricity KWh 18.324.737 20.385.510 15.572.574

Transport�(a)

Diesel L 2.004.053 2.045.511 1.299.911

Gasoline L 658.771 221.477 39.968

Manufacturing KWh 752.450 847.790 760.180

GHG EMISSIONS 

305-1 Scope 1 emissions tCO2 9.397 5.612 4.169

305-2 Scope 2 emissions - Power consumption tCO2 4.243 9.548 7.812

305-3 Scope 3 emissions - Business travel (b) tCO2 3.169 5.885 5.744

TOTAL�CO2�EMISSIONS� tCO2 16.809 21.045 17.725

WASTE 

306-3

Plastics and plastic packaging t 17.85 30.82

Paper & packaging t 35.93 87.42

Glass t 1.03 0.33

Wood t 75.03 121.76

Electronics t 10.05 11.81

Industrial waste t 41.46 150.71

Hazardous substances t 32.82 26.83

others t 65.08 57.03

TOTAL�WASTE�GENERATED 279.24 486.70

306-4

Reycled t 233.62 457.61

Reused t 2.88 2.82

Incinerated t 42.98 29.77

WORKFORCE

Total�workforce�covered�in�ESG�reporting�(c) headcount, year-end 15.222 15.804 13.325

Breakdown�by�employment�type�(e)�

Full-time headcount, year-end 13.258 14.807 12.174

of which women % 22% 22% 21%21%

Part-time headcount, year-end 964 997 687

102-8 of which women % 55% 55% 78%

Breakdown�by�type�of�contract�(d)

Permanent headcount, year-end 13.897 15.201 12.715

of which women % 24% 24% 23%

Temporary headcount, year-end 325 603 610

of which women % 28% 26% 26%

05 Non-financial performance statement
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*	 Between	2018,	2019	and	2020,	the	ESG	scope	of	reporting	has	been	extented,	therefore	figures	may	be	not	comparable	 	
**		 Data	Respons	is	included	in	2020	reporting	where	possible
(a)	 Italian	and	Swtiss	entities	not	included	in	2019	and	2020.	Spain	was	not	included	in	the	reporting	2019.	
(b)	 	In	2019,	Italian,	Czech,	Spanish,	Belgian,	British,	Swiss	entities	not	included	in	scope	3.	 

In	2020,	Italian,	Czech,	Spanish,	Belgian,	British,	Swiss	and	Data	Respons	entities	not	included	in	rental	cars	emissions.	
(c)	 France	(Andromède),	Germany	and	Czech	Republic	included	 	
(d)	 see	the	Methodology	part	for	further	details.	 	
(e)	 Data	Respons	excluded.	 	
(f)	 Only	for	France	and	Germany		 	 	

GRI  
STANDARDS Metrics 2020** 2019* 2018

WORKFORCE

Breakdown�by�gender�for�own�employees

Share of men % 76% 76% 77%

Share of women % 24% 23% 22%

Breakdown�by�age�group�(d)

<25 headcount. year-end 516 987 752

405-1 between 25 and 30 headcount. year-end 3.381 4.233 3.279

% of ≤ 30 % 27% 33% 30%

between 30 and 40 headcount. year-end 5.390 5.698 5.080

Between 40 and 50 headcount. year-end 3.037 3.018 2.650

Between 50 and 55 headcount. year-end 946 952 809

> 55 headcount. year-end 952 916 755

People with disabilities rate of people 
with disabilities (% ) 1.85% 1.77% 1.90%

404-1 Total training hours Total hours  
of employee training 325.131 243.838 134.421

Average training hours per employee 45 39 25

Occupational�health�and�Safety�(d)

Total work accidents with stoppage* # 61 95 114

403-9 Lost time injury rate rate 2.10 2.12 4.25

Lost time severity rate rate 0.04 0.02 0.20

Abstenteeism  % 2.14% 2.82% 3.27%

BUSINESS�ETHICS�-�HUMAN�RIGHTS�AND�ANTICORRUPTION

Sustainanable�Purchasing�&�Procurement

Budget spent on local suppliers (f)  Rate (e) 86% - -

Anticorruption�and�Bribery�

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption # - -

Data�Privacy�and�confidentiality�

418 Reported complains on data privacy # - -
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METHODOLOGICAL�NOTE�

AKKA’s non-financial performance statement provides information 
established in coherence with the nature of its business activities, 
the associated social, societal and environmental impacts, and its 
commitment to the United Nations’ Global Compact. 

In 2020 the Group focused on the post COVID-19 pandemic re-
covery and the implementation of its FIT2CLEAR strategy. Major 
CSR areas were inherently integrated in AKKA’s action plans to 
face this challenging time. 

To measure the evolution of its progress, the Group aligns its re-
porting based on the GRI standards: core option. 

No external auditing is being used at present. However, AKKA 
undergoes regular assessments on the ECOVADIS platform. AKKA 
was awarded a bronze medal for its CSR actions during the most 
recent assessment by ECOVADIS in April 2020. 

SCOPE�OF�THE�NON-FINANCIAL�REPORTING�

The non-financial performance statement is prepared in accor-
dance with the financial reporting and quantitative data extracted 
from the internal information system. 

The term «Group» refers only to the entities included in the CSR 
reporting. 

France: The scope referred to as “France” covers all non-financial 
data relating to the following entities: AKKA I&S, AKKA Ingénierie 
Produit, Aeroconseil, AKKA Informatique & Systèmes, EKIS France, 
MATIS Technologies, AKKA Lifescience, Operantis, Elron, AKKA 
Energy France, Real Fusio, MATIS SAS.

Germany: The scope referred to as “Germany” covers data re-
lating to the following entities: AKKA GmbH & Co. (ex-MBtech), 
AKKA GmbH, AKKA DNO GmbH, AKKA DSO GmbH, AKKA DSW 
GmbH, Proceda, AKKA MANAGEMENT SERVICES GmbH, ATP, AKKA 
Services GmbH, AKKA DCE, AKKA Deutschland. 

Czech Republic: The scope referred to as “Czech Republic” covers 
data relating to the entity MBTech Bohemia. 

Italy: the scope referred to as “Italy” covers CSR data relating to 
the entities AKKA Italia and CTP System. 

Spain: the scope referred to as “Spain” covers data relating to the 
entity AKKA Spain and Edelway Spain

Benelux: the scope referred to as “Benelux” covers data relating 
to the entity AKKA BELIGUM.

Switzerland: the scope referred to as “Switzerland” covers data 
relating to the entities AKKA Switzerland, AKKADEMY – France, 
AKKADEMY - Belgium

United Kingdom: the scope referred to as “United Kingdom” covers 
data relating to the entity AKKA UK. 

Data Respons: the scope referred to as “Data Respons” covers data 
relating to the entities Data Respons Asia AS Taiwan Branch, EPOS 
CAT GmbH, inContext AB, Donat IT, Sylog Group, IT Sonix custom 
development GmbH, Data Respons Solutions AB, Data Respons 
AS, Data Respons Solutions DK, TechPeople A/S, Microdoc, DR 
Solutions AS(Norway). 

DEFINITION OF INDICATORS: 

AKKA operates in numerous countries where legislation and cul-
tures differ. Hence, some indicators relating to non-financial re-
porting have been subject to adjustment in terms of definition. 

Workforce

Own employee are employees of AKKA considered in the work-
force whatever their contract type, excluding interns, VIEs and 
contractors except for suspended contracts (parental leave and 
sabbaticals).

Absenteeism

The number of absences over the period is as follow: sickness 
absence + occupational diseases absence + lost days due to ac-
cidents on the way to work + lost days due to work accidents. The 
indicator does not include days off such as RTT or paid holidays.

The rate is calculated by dividing the number of days of absence 
by the theoretical number of days worked over the period.

Workplace accidents

Number of workplace accidents with lost time: the reported acci-
dents are those defined by the local legislation.

Number of working hours: actual work time within the contractual 
definition of the term, paid leave and holiday leave are excluded.

Number of working days lost: days lost due to workplace accidents 
are counted in calendar days.

Lost time injury rate: number of accidents with lost time per year/
working hours x 1,000,000.

Lost time Severity rate: number of working days lost per year due 
to workplace accidents with stoppage in that year /hours worked 
x 1,000

Training 

Training is represented in hours. 

All types of internal and external training are included for all types 
of contracts.

Exclusions in France: Individual Training Leave (CIF), any training 
given to interns and employees on apprenticeship contracts.

Exclusions in Germany: coaching sessions and on-the-job training.

Employment of disabled persons

The % of employees with disabilities out of the total workforce.

Energy consumption

Reported energy consumption covers: buildings (offices, work-
shops), company cars and industrial processes.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Our scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions are calculated based on the emis-
sion factor defined by the UK Department for Environment, Food 
& Rural Affairs (DEFRA 2020). 
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Greenhouse gas emissions under Scope 1: direct emissions from our 
office locations, industrial activities, and company fleet within the 
scope of reporting, except for leaks of refrigerants for which data 
are not available. Depending on the entity’s internal system, data 
are collected through gas cards or employee’s expense claims.

Scope 2: indirect emissions related to electricity consumption and 
heating networks 

Scope 3: emissions associated with business travel. Data are re-
trieved from travel agencies for flights and trains, and from rental 
agencies for cars when available. 

As of Air methodology: The guidelines published by DEFRA use the 
distance groupings of Domestic, Short Haul, and Long Haul, but 
Domestic is not related to the distinction of domestic or interna-
tional destinations as recorded in AKKA’s internal system to retrieve 
such data. To avoid confusion, we have relabeled the groupings 
according to the following: 

The following should be taken into account while reading the 
figures:

In 2019, Italian, Czech, Spanish, Belgian, British and Swiss entities 
did not report on scope 3. 

In 2020, Italian, Czech, Spanish, Belgian, British, Swiss and Data 
Respons entities did not report on their rental cars’ emissions.

Waste 

Waste reporting is based on internal system of our locations 
Andromède (France), Sindelflingen and Böblingen (Germany) and 
in Czech Republic. At the time of this report, Germany was able to 
only provide its 2019 data. 

This information has been established in accordance with the na-
ture of AKKA’s activities and the associated social, environmental 
and societal impacts. The following information required by law 
is less relevant to the services of AKKA, whose activities are per-
formed primarily in offices and involve a highly skilled workforce:

 ■  Elimination of forced or compulsory labor and the effective 
abolition of child labor;

 ■ Provisions and guarantees for environmental risks;

 ■  Measures to reduce waste or remedy discharges into the 
air, water and soil that have a serious adverse impact on 
the environment;

 ■ Noise and other forms of pollution specific to an activity;

 ■ Combatting food waste;

 ■ Water consumption and supply in relation to local constraints;

 ■ Land use;

 ■ Adaptation to the consequences of climate change.

The following subject matters cannot be addressed for confi-
dentiality reasons with regards to Clients’ projects. The Group is 
nevertheless aware of the impact that its projects may have on 
the environment. 

 ■  Consumption of raw materials and measures taken to improve 
efficiency in their use;

 ■ Measures taken for the health and safety of consumer.

Segment Haul 
Distance

DEFRA Segment 
Haul Length

Distance (km)

Short Distance Domestic <= 463

Medium Distance Short Haul > 463 and <= 3700

Long Distance Long Haul > 3700
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GRI Indicators used SDG

General information about the Company

GRI 101 General reporting principles 

GRI 102 General information about the structure

GRI 102 -1 to 102-13 Profile of the structure

GRI 102-14 Strategy

GRI 102-16 Ethics and integrity 

GRI 102-18 Governance 

GRI 102-40 to 102-44 Stakeholders

GRI 102-45 to 102-56 Reporting practices

Governance

GRI 102 - 18; 22; 32 Composition and role of governance structures

Remuneration

GRI 102 - 35; 36 Remuneration policy 

People & Talents

GRI 401 - 1 Total employees

GRI 401 - 1 Total employees by type of job 

GRI 401 - 1 Total employees by type of contract 

GRI 405-1b Total employees by age group

GRI 405-1b Total employees by gender

GRI 404 Employee training: policy and hours of training 

GRI 406-1 Anti-discrimination and diversity policy 

GRI 405-1b Recruitment and integration of disabled persons 

GRI 404-3 Performance reviews and internal mobility

GRI 407-1 Compliance with collective bargaining agreements 

Health & Safety at Work

GRI 403 Workplace accidents 

Absenteeism

GRI 403-6 Quality and well-being at work 

INDEX GRI 

Non-financial�indicators�as�of�31�December�2020

05 Non-financial performance statement
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2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - Chapter 4. Corporate governance statement 

2020 Annual report - Chapter 4. Corporate governance statement 

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

4- Combatting discrimination 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

4- Combatting discrimination 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

3. Freedom of association AKKA Code of Conduct 

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement
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GRI Indicators used SDG

Climate, Energy and Environment

Innovation in clean mobility 

Eco-design and recycling solutions 

GRI 302 -1 Energy consumption 

GRI 305 - 1 Greenhouse gases (scope 1)

GRI 305 - 2 Greenhouse gases (scope 2)

GRI 305 - 3 Greenhouse gases (scope 3)

GRI 306 Waste; management of water and food waste 

Prevention and remedying of emissions into the air, water and soil

GRI 304 Protection of biodiversity

Business Ethics, Data protection and certifications 

GRI 205 Anti-corruption - managerial approach and targets for 2020

GRI 414 Supply chain management and supplier monitoring (social and environmental)

GRI 408 
GRI 409 
409-1b 
GRI 412

Compliance with human rights, prevention of forced labour and child labor

Declaration of commitment to promote the 10 principles of the Global Compact

 GRI 418 Confidentiality of customer data

Certification and protection of sensitive data and cybersecurity 

05 Non-financial performance statement
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Global Compact Referencing

9- Encouraging green technologies See 2019 annual report - section on R&D and chapter on CSR

9- Encouraging green technologies 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

8- Environmental responsibility 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

8- Environmental responsibility 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

8- Environmental responsibility 
"2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement 
For internal referencing reasons, scopes 1 and 2 are undifferentiated for 
France and Germany"

8- Environmental responsibility 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

8- Environmental responsibility Given its business model, AKKA does not consider this point strategic. 

8- Environmental responsibility Given its economic activities and business model, the AKKA Group does not 
consider this point strategic. 

8- Environmental responsibility Given its economic activities and business model, the AKKA Group does not 
consider this point strategic. 

10- Combatting corruption 2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement

1- Compliance with international human 
rights laws 
2- Monitoring of human rights violations 

The AKKA Group is committed to combatting all forms of human 
exploitation. However, because of the nature of its economic activities and 
its business model, AKKA does not consider the risk of human rights violations 
strategic within the Group. See also our Group Code of Conduct 
on our website.

2020 annual report and AKKA Group Code of Conduct. The AKKA Group’s 
2019 Global Compact Report is the CSR Report (www.unglobalcompact.org)

"We didn’t notice any complain related to a breach or data of our customers 
compromised in 2020"

2020 Annual report - chapter 5. Non-financial Statement



116	  - Annual report 2020

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS

06



117	 - Annual report 2020

1. CONSOLIDATION SCOPE AND METHODS 125

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 131

3. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT 140

4. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET 144

5.  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS STATEMENT 162

6. FEES PAID TO AUDITORS 163

7. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  163

8. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES   164

9. OTHER INFORMATION  165



118  - Annual report 2020

Consolidated financial statements06

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

(in thousands of euros) Note No.  Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Revenue 3.1 1,503,454 1,801,486

Purchased services and goods 3.2 (365,412) (388,924)

Taxes and duties (10,922) (12,714)

Personnel expenses 3.3 (1,133,951) (1,222,589)

Net depreciation and provisions 3.4 (172,761) (57,177)

Other current expenses 3.5 (10,656) (10,025)

Other current income 3.5 19,184 12,504

Income from equity affiliates 4.5 1,564 2,487

Free shares and stock options 4.12 (975) (3,824)

Operating�profit (170,474) 121,223

Income from cash and cash equivalents 3.6 1 345 528

Cost of gross financial debt 3.6 (20,415) (16,692)

Cost�of�net�financial�DEBT (19,070) (16,164)

Other financial income and expenses 3.6 (8 ,335) (1,343)

Profit�before�tax (197,878) 103,716

Income tax expense 3.7 29,972 (30,447)

Consolidated net income (167,907) 73,270

Non-controlling interests (854) (229)

Group�share�of�net�profit (168,761) 73,041

Earnings per share -8.26 € 3.38 €

Diluted earnings per share -8.26 € 3,36 €

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding  21,160,146  21,448,362 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares plus potential dilutive shares 23,873,294  21,764,895 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Consolidated net income (167,907) 73,270

Actuarial gains and losses on pension obligations (335) (1,087)

Tax effect of items not to be recycled to income in subsequent periods (126) 332

Items not to be recycled to income in subsequent periods (461) (755)

Gains and losses on hedging instruments 122 533

Change in translation adjustments (8,759) 1,514

Tax effect of items to be recycled to income in subsequent periods (31) (149)

Items to be recycled to income in subsequent periods (8,667) 1,897

Items to be recycled to income and those not to be recycled (9,129) 1 142

Consolidated comprehensive income (177,035) 74,412

Non-controlling interests 946 229

Group share (177,981) 74,183
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
(in thousands of euros) Note No. Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Goodwill 4.1 691,390 367 689

Intangible assets 4.3 112 471 24,729

Tangible assets 4.3 75,669 91,946

Rights of use - IFRS 16 4.4 141,807 149,704

Non-current financial assets 4.6 49,868 44,880

Securities of affiliated companies and joint ventures 4.5 48,190 47,901

Other non-current assets 4.7 30,078 27,246

Deferred tax assets 3.7.3 80,034 32,811

Non-current assets 1,229,507 786,907

Inventories and work in progress 9,515 9,502

Trade receivables and contract assets 4.8 191,985 224,806

Other receivables 4.9 76,173 114,852

Cash and cash equivalents 5.1 467,970 469,231

Current assets 745,643 818,391

Total assets 1,975,152 1,605,299
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LIABILIITIES 
(in thousands of euros) Note No. Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Share capital 4.11 47,751 31,047

Share premiums 4.11 183,724 656

Consolidation reserves 4.11 251,437 199,941

ODIRNANE bonds (1) 4.11 and 2.13 176,037 172,911

Group share of net profit (168,761) 73,041

Group share of equity 490,188 477,597

Non-controlling interests 2,430 641

Shareholders’ equity 492,618 478,237

Non-current provisions 4.12 36,906 28,972

Non-current financial liabilities 4.13 635,523 467,712

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 4.13 114,671 123,415

Non-current earn-out liabilities 4.17 10,839 -

Non-current tax and social security liabilities 4.14 67,049 -

Deferred tax liabilities 3.6.3 31,553 12,935

Non-current liabilities 896,542 633,035

Current provisions 4.12 65,085 2,519

Current financial liabilities 4.13 10,102 74,769

Current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 4.13 33,623 29,721

Trade payables 125,373 114,560

Income taxes payable 6,529 11,145

Tax and social security liabilities excluding income tax 4.14 279,145 217,507

Current earn-out liabilities 4.17 11,588 2,314

Other liabilities 4.15 54,546 41,491

Current liabilities 585,992 494,026

Total liabilities 1,975,152 1,605,299

(1) ODIRNANE bonds net of issuance costs
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands of euros) Note No. Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Consolidated net income (167,907) 73,270

Add-backs (+) or deductions (-) for depreciation and impairment 
(excluding working capital) 143,413 42,234

Deduction of income from equity affiliates 4.5 (1,564) (2,487)

Dividends received by equity affiliates 4.5 1,275 816

Add-backs (+) or deductions (-) for tax (29,892) 29,208

Add-backs (+) or deductions (-) calculated under IFRS (1) 669 2,517

Add-backs (+) or deductions (-) for net disposals (4,960) 1,159

Add-backs (+) or deductions (-) for net financial debt 3.5 19,100 16,164

Cash�flow�before�net�interest�borrowing�costs�and�tax (39,866) 162,881

Income Tax paid (14,876) (20,968)

Change in net working capital 5.2 224,380 19,131

Net�cash�flow�from�operating�activities 169,639 161,044

Acquisitions of fixed assets 4.1 and 4.3 (29,103) (32,230)

Disposals of fixed assets 1,224 1,905

Change in financial assets (6,365) (5,332)

Effect of changes in the scope of consolidation 5.3 (369,847) (20,577)

Net�cash�flow�from�investment�activities (404,090) (56,235)

Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company 5.4 - (14,026)

Issue of ODIRNANE equity instruments (2) 2.13 - 172,458

Capital increases in cash 196,668 -

Purchase of treasury shares (2,357) (15,330)

Proceeds from new borrowings 4.13 97,383 57,606

Repayment of borrowings 4.13 (1,166) (66,072)

Repayment of IFRS 16 lease liabilities 4.13 (34,826) (28,615)

Net interest received 1,345 528

Net interest paid (22,747) (16,634)

Net�cash�flow�from�financing�activities 234,300 89,914

Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (1,110) 2,722

Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,262) 197,446

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5.1 469,231 271,785

Cash and cash equivalent at year end 5.1 467,970 469,231

Change in cash and cash equivalents (1,261) 197,446

(1)  Expenses calculated on the basis of IFRS consist of the valuation of stock options and free shares (IFRS 2) and the effect of the integration  
of borrowing costs into the EIR.

(2) ODIRNANE bonds net of issue costs



123  - Annual report 2020

(in thousands  
of euros)

 
 

Issued

 
 

Treasury 
shares

 
 

Outstan-
ding 

Share 
capital

Share 
pre-

miums

Consoli-
dated 

reserves

ODIRNANE 
bonds

Income 
for the 
period

Translation 
adjust-
ments

Group 
share 

of equity

Non- 
controlling 

interests

Conso-
lidated 

sharehol-
ders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity 
as�at�January�1,�2019 20,291,990 650,960 19,641,031

Income for the period - - - - - - - 73,041 - 73,041 229 73,270

Other comprehensive 
income (1) - - - - - (372) - - 1,514 1,142 - 1,142

Consolidated 
comprehensive 
income

- - - - - (372) - 73,041 1,514 74,183 229 74,412

Change in the share 
capital of the parent 
company

- - - - - - - - - - - -

Buy-back of own 
shares - 255,555 (255,555) - - (15,278) - - - (15,278) - (15,278)

Change in the scope 
of consolidation - - - - - (352) - - - (352) 352 (0)

Allocation of earnings - - - - - 50,145 - (50,145) - 0 - 0

Dividends (2) - - - - - (14,026) - - - (14,026) - (14,026)

Effect of free shares 
and stock options - (424,049) 424,049 - - 2,032 - - - 2,032 - 2,032

Issuance of 
ODRINANE bonds (3) - - - - - - 172,458 - - 172,458 - 172,458

Interest on ODIRNANE 
bonds - - - - - (453) 453 - - - - -

Other changes - (38,942) 38,942 - - 212 - - - 212 (245) (33)

Shareholders’ equity 
as at December 31, 
2019

20,291,990 443,524 19,848,466 31,047 656 200,182 172,911 73,041 (241) 477,597 641 478,237

Shareholders’ equity 
as�at�January�1,�2020 20,291,990 443,524 19,848,466 31,047 656 200,182 172,911 73,041 (241) 477,597 641 478,237

Income for the period - - - - - - - (168,761) - (168,761) 854 (167,907)

Other comprehensive 
income (1) - - - - - (370) - - (8,850) (9,220) 92 (9,129)

Consolidated 
comprehensive 
income

- - - - - (370) - (168,761) (8,850) (177,981) 946 (177,035)

Change in the share 
capital of the parent 
company (4)

8,888,889 8,888,889 13,600 183,068 - - - - 196,668 - 196,668

Increase in capital 
through the 
incorporation of 
reserves (1 for 10)

2,029,199 59,460 1,969,739 3,104 - (3,104) - - - - - -

Buy-back of own 
shares - 143,190 (143,190) - - (2,374) - - - (2,374) - (2,374)

Change in the scope 
of consolidation - - - - - (1,495) - - - (1,495) 1,462 (33)

Effect of revaluations - - - - - - - - - - - -

Allocation of earnings - - - - - 73,041 0 (73,041) - 0 - 0

Dividends (2) - - - - - - - - - - (693) (693)

Effect of free shares 
and stock options - - - - - 924 - - - 924 - 924

Interest on ODIRNANE 
bonds - - - - - (6,125) 2,618 - - (3,507) - (3,507)

Amortization of 
ODIRNANE issuance 
costs

- - - - - - 508 - - 508 - 508

Other changes - (3,489) 3,489 - - (151) - - - (151) 74 (77)

Shareholders’ equity 
as at December 31, 
2020

31,210,078 642,685 30,567,393 47,751 183,724 260,528 176,037 (168,761) (9,091) 490,187 2,430 492,618

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY

(1) As at December 31, 2020, the amount of actuarial losses was €4,062 thousand, and the amount of hedging reserve losses was €46 thousand. 
(2) The amount of dividends in respect of 2019 payable in 2020 is disclosed in Note 5.4. 
(3)  ODIRNANE: the Group issued a bond with a par value of €175 million. In compliance with IFRS 9, the issue amount offset by the issue costs has been 

recorded as equity, these issue costs being amortized over the lifetime of the instrument. 
(4) Capital increase of €200 million: in compliance with IFRS standards, the associated costs of €3,332 thousand have been deducted. 

Number of shares
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These notes set out additional information concerning the con-
solidated balance sheet, the total of which is €1,975.2 million, and 
the consolidated income statement, which reflects a negative 
net consolidated Group share of €168.8 million and a negative 
comprehensive income Group share of €178.0 million.

Such information is only included when its importance is material 
to the results.

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in thou-
sands of euro. 

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors 
of the AKKA Technologies Group (AKKA) at its meeting on  
March 16, 2021.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES:
AKKA is the European leader in engineering consulting and R&D 
services to the mobility sector. AKKA supports manufacturers in the 
automotive, aeronautical, rail and life sciences sectors throughout 
the lifecycle of their products. AKKA brings its expertise in lead-
ing-edge digital technologies (AI, ADAS, IoT, Big Data, robotics, 
embedded computing, machine learning, etc.) to clients wishing 
to accelerate innovation. 

Established in 1984, the Group is distinguished by its strong entre-
preneurial culture and is continuing to accelerate its growth and 
international development in line with its CLEAR 2022 strategic plan. 
The Group’s 21,000 employees bring their passion and knowledge to 
the industries of tomorrow, enabling the Group to record a revenue 
of €1.5 billion in 2020.

The result of the friendly takeover bid for Data Respons launched in 
January 2020 is that AKKA now holds 100% of the capital of Data 
Respons; the success of this operation now gives the Group the 
broadest and deepest portfolio of digital offerings of their type in 
Europe with which to address the booming mobility market. 

The company’s registered office is 235 Avenue Louise, 1050 Brussels, 
Belgium.

AKKA Technologies is listed on Euronext Paris and Brussels - Segment 
A - ISIN code: FR0004180537

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND MATERIAL  
TRANSACTIONS OCCURRING DURING  
THE 2020 FINANCIAL YEAR:
The impact of the COVID-19 crisis: the negative impact of the 
drop in demand due to the COVID-19 crisis was felt from March 
and continued throughout the rest of 2020. At Group level, its 
maximum level was reached in May 2020. The Group’s revenue 
was substantially affected, due particularly to the weakness of the 
automotive and aeronautic sectors. The Group’s performance was 
significantly deteriorated as a result, and the pick-up in demand in 
the Group’s main activity sectors has not been of sufficient scale, 
leading the Group to initiate a restructuring program in France 
and in Germany. A provision of almost €80 million for this program 
was recorded at the end of the financial year.

The crisis also gave rise to additional business costs that included 
IT expenditure linked to the implementation of teleworking, re-
sidual costs of partial unemployement, costs relating to health 
measures implemented to ensure the safety of the Group’s staff 
and clients, and provisions for accounts receivable. As a result, the 

Group recorded an operating loss of €170 million for the period.

The crisis also led the Group to implement actions to ensure its 
financial sustainability and particularly to benefit from support 
measures offered by the public authorities of the countries in 
which the Group operates. In this context, nearly €147 million in 
taxes and social security contributions was deferred as at the end 
of the financial year, payment of most of which has been spread 
over periods of up to three years. 

Given the uncertainty connected with the economic crisis, the 
Group negotiated a covenant holiday on December 31, 2020 with 
all its banks in terms of the leverage ratio calculation, and with a 
large majority of its SSD investors, accounting for nearly 80% of 
the amount of the debt. However, the leverage ratio calculated 
as at December 31, 2020 as part of the SSD and the RCF is lower 
than the maximum allowed in these same financing contracts.

Furthermore, in anticipation of cash outflows in the 2021 financial 
year resulting from the restructuring and transformation of the 
Group, the Group negotiated a covenant reset for the leverage 
ratio calculation as at June 30, 2021 as part of its RCF contract, 
bringing the maximum of this ratio to 6 instead of 4.5.

Capital increase by incorporation of reserves: at its meeting on 
May 5, 2020, the Board of Directors decided to increase the capital 
of AKKA Technologies SE by granting one free share for every 10 
shares held, effective May 18, 2020.

Success of the friendly takeover bid for Data Respons: AKKA has 
held 100% of the shares since May 11, 2020, the acquisition of which 
was concluded at a unit price of NOK 48, and Data Respons was 
withdrawn from the Oslo Stock Exchange on May 19, 2020.

Data Respons was acquired as part of AKKA’s ambition to 
strengthen its digital activities. The innovation stimulated by 
digital technology, mobility, electrification and advanced driver 
assistance systems (ADAS) will continue to grow the demand for 
support services in digital technology, and the acceleration in the 
deployment of the Group’s digital strategy will enable it to emerge 
as a leading player in this technology.

The success of this operation will thus enable the Group to have the 
broadest and deepest portfolio of digital offerings in Europe with 
which to address the booming mobility market. The AKKA legacy 
and Data Respons teams will work together to establish strong 
commercial and operational synergies as quickly as possible.

Capital increase CNP / Ricci Family: on December 30, 2020, AKKA 
increased its capital by the gross amount of €200 million, subscribed 
to as follows: €150 million by Swilux SA, an investment company fully 
owned and controlled by the Compagnie Nationale à Portefeuille 
(CNP), and €50 million by the Ricci Family Group, at a subscription 
price of €22.50 per share (including the share premium).

Upon finalization of this operation, CNP held 6,666,667 shares 
(21.4% of the capital) and the same number of voting rights (17.0% 
of the voting rights). The Ricci Family Group held 12,139,490 shares 
(38.9% of the capital) and 20,066,977 voting rights (51.3% of the 
voting rights).

This operation enabled the Group to strengthen its financial struc-
ture in order to be more agile as it emerges from the current 
crisis and at the same time accelerates the transformation of 
the company.
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1. CONSOLIDATION SCOPE AND METHODS
1.1. Référentiel

1.2. New IFRS standards and interpretations 

1.3. Management estimates

1.4. Consolidation methods

The consolidated financial statements of the AKKA Technologies Group are prepared in accordance with IFRS standards and interpre-
tations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IAS) and adopted by the European Union as at the reporting date.
These standards are available on the European Commission website at the following address: https://ec.europa.eu/info/
business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/financial-reporting_en

The amendments to standards applicable from January 1, 2020 
have not had a material impact on the financial statements of 
the Group:

 ■ Amendment to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business;

 ■ Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material;

 ■ Amendment to IFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions;

 ■  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39 and IFRS 7.

Although the standards, interpretations and amendments ad-
opted by the European Union before December 31, 2020 could 
have been applied in advance, the Group chose not to do so. The 
relevant standards are the following:

 ■ IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts;

 ■  Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current;

 ■  Amendment to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: 
Proceeds before Intended Use

 ■  Amendment to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling 
a Contract;

 ■ Amendment to IFRS 4: Application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 4;

 ■  Annual improvements to IFRS standards applying to the 
2018-2020 cycle;

 ■ Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Phase 2 

 ■ Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRS 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that have an impact 
on the financial statements. These estimates and assumptions are 
based on information available when the financial statements are 
prepared. Estimates may be revised in the event of a change in 
the circumstances on which they were based. The actual results 
may therefore differ from the initial estimates.

The consolidated financial statements for the year took account 
of the prevailing macroeconomic environment - particularly the 
COVID-19 situation - and were prepared on the basis of the fi-
nancial market parameters available as at the reporting date, in 
particular for the estimates below. 

The use of estimates affects the following information in particular: 

 ■  the assumptions used for asset depreciation and amortiza-
tion tests (Notes 2.9 and 4.2),

 ■  the calculation of deferred tax assets (Notes 2.4 and 3.7.3),

 ■  the assessment of completion stage for customer contracts 
(Notes 2.1 and 3.1),

 ■  the estimate of projects eligible for research tax credits (Notes 
2.19 and 3.3),

 ■  the evaluation of restructuring provisions (Note 2.17 and 4.12).

The companies over which the Group directly or indirectly exercises 
exclusive control are consolidated using the full consolidation 
method.

Exclusive control is assessed in accordance with the criteria set out 
in IFRS 10 (power over the relevant activities, exposure to variable 
returns and ability to use its power to influence returns). This ma-
jority control is presumed to exist in companies in which the Group 
directly or indirectly holds at least 50% of voting rights. Immediately 
exercisable potential voting rights, including those held by another 
entity, are taken into account when assessing control.

The analysis of joint arrangements pursuant to the criteria set 
out in IFRS 11 resulted only in the identification of joint ventures 
(co-companies), not joint activities. Joint ventures are consolidated 
using the equity method. Goodwill in companies consolidated 
using the equity method is tested only if an indication of impair-
ment is identified; this was not the case as at December 31, 2020.

As at December 31, 2020, and similarly in the previous year, only 
one company was consolidated using the equity method (Notes 
1.6 and 4.5).
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1.5. Date of the financial statements

1.6. Scope of consolidation

All financial statements of the companies included in the scope of consolidation are reported as at December 31, 2020.

Companies % control % interest Consolidation 
method (1)

Country of 
incorporation

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE - - CE Belgium

AEROCONSEIL SASU 100% 100% FC France

DATARESPONS SAS 100% 100% FC France

GLOBAL SUPPORT SUPPLIER SAS 72% 72% FC France

AKKA I&S SASU 100% 100% FC France

AKKA INGENIERIE PRODUIT SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA MANAGER SARL 100% 100% FC France

AKKA SERVICES SASU 100% 100% FC France

EKIS FRANCE SASU 100% 100% FC France

EKIS SASU 100% 100% FC France

ERDIMAT SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA HIGH TECH SAS 100% 100% FC France

MODELISATION ASSISTANCE TECHNIQUE INFORMATIQUE 
SCIENTIFIQUE (MATIS) SAS 100% 100% FC France

AKKA DCE GmbH (Ex-AKKA Edwy GmbH) 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA DEUTSCHLAND GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA EMV GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA GERMANY GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA SERVICES GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

ATP AUTOMOTIVE TESTING PAPENBURG GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

ELEKTRONISCHE FAHRWERKSYSTEME GmbH 51% 51% EM Germany

AKKA MANAGEMENT SERVICES GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA DNO GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA DSO GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA DSW GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA Consulting GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA EMC GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA GmbH & Co. KGaA 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA Verwaltungs GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

AKKA CONCEPT GmbH (ex-PROCEDA GmbH) 100% 100% FC Germany

(1)  CE = Consolidating Entity; FC = Full Consolidation; EM = Equity Method; PC = Parent company
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Companies % control % interest Consolidation 
method (1)

Country of 
incorporation

AKKA Austria GmbH 100% 100% FC Austria

AKKA BELGIUM SA 100% 100% FC Belgium

AKKA FINANCE SPRL 100% 100% FC Belgium

AKKA INTERNATIONAL SA 100% 100% FC Belgium

AKKA GROUPE AMERIQUE DU NORD INC 100% 100% FC Canada

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES BEIJING Ltd. 100% 100% FC China

ERLKONIG MANAGEMENT CONSULTING BEIJING Ltd. 100% 100% FC China

MB SIM TECHNOLOGY Co. Ltd. 100% 100% FC China

AKKA CONGO SA 70% 70% FC Congo

AKKA MIDDLE EAST DMCC 100% 100% FC UAE

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SPAIN SL 100% 100% FC Spain

AKKA DEVELOPMENT UK LTD 100% 100% FC Great Britain

AKKA HUNGARY Kft (ex-MBTECH Hungary) 100% 100% FC Hungary

BERTONE DIGITAL MOBILITY SRL 100% 100% FC Italy

AKKA ITALIA SRL 100% 100% FC Italy

CTP SYSTEM SRL 100% 100% FC Italy

AKKA JAPAN K.K 100% 100% FC Japan

AKKA DEVELOPMENT SARL 100% 100% FC Luxembourg

AKKA DOCUMENTAIRE MAROC SARL 100% 100% FC Morocco

AKKA GESTION MAROC SARL 100% 100% FC Morocco

AKKA IS MAROC SARLAU 100% 100% FC Morocco

AKKA TRANSAFRICA SARL 100% 100% FC Morocco

AKKA NETHERLANDS BV 100% 100% FC Netherlands

AKKA MIDDLE EAST LLC 100% 100% FC Qatar

AKKA Czech Republic s.r.o 100% 100% FC Czech Republic

AKKA ROMSERV SRL 100% 100% FC Romania

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SINGAPORE LTD 100% 100% FC Singapore

AKKA GEC SINGAPORE LTD 100% 100% FC Singapore

AKKA SLOVAKIA S.r.o. 100% 100% FC Slovakia

AKKA SWITZERLAND SA 100% 100% FC Switzerland

THE AKKADEMY SWITZERLAND SA 100% 100% FC Switzerland

AKKA TECHNOLOGIES MUHENDISLIK VE DANISMANLIK 
Limited Sirketi LLC 100% 100% FC Turkey

MBTECH MUHENDISLIK VE DANISMANLIK Limited Sirketi LLC 100% 100% FC Turkey

AKKA DEV US INC 100% 100% FC USA

AKKA GROUP NORTH AMERICA Inc. 100% 100% FC USA

AKKA Group USA Inc. 100% 100% FC USA

AKKA USA LLC. 100% 100% FC USA

PDS TECH Inc. 100% 100% FC USA
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Companies % control % interest Consolidation 
method (1)

Country of 
incorporation

Data Respons AS 100% 100% FC Norway

Data Respons Asia AS 100% 100% FC Norway

Data Respons R&D Services AS 100% 100% FC Norway

Data Respons Solutions AS 100% 100% FC Norway

Data Respons Solutions AB 100% 100% FC Sweden

inContext AB 100% 100% FC Sweden

iWise AB 75% 62% FC Sweden

Sylog Sverige AB 83% 83% FC Sweden

Sylog Epic AB 80% 66% FC Sweden

Sylog Jasper AB 100% 83% FC Sweden

Sylog Öst AB 85% 71% FC Sweden

Sylog Systems AB 80% 66% FC Sweden

Sylog Väst AB 100% 83% FC Sweden

YABS AB 100% 83% FC Sweden

Data Respons Solutions AS 100% 100% FC Denmark

Tech People AS 100% 100% FC Denmark

DATA Respons Gmbh 100% 100% FC Germany

Data Respons Solutions GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

Donat Group GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

EPOS CAT GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

IT Sonix Custom Development GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

Microdoc Computersysteme GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

XPURE GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

Donat IT GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

Microdoc Software GmbH 100% 100% FC Germany

Data Respons Asia Taiwan Branch 100% 100% FC Taiwan

Consolidated financial statements06

(1)  SC = société consolidante; IG = intégration globale; ME = Mise en Equivalence
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1.7. Comparability of financial statements

1.7.1. Consolidated for the first time 
in 2020

As indicated in the introductory paragraph, AKKA Technologies 
acquired the Norwegian group Data Respons during the 2020 
financial year.

As Data Respons was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, the 
Group launched the friendly takeover bid on January 13, 2020 at 
the cash price of NOK 48.

At the end of the first phase of the takeover on February 10, 2020, 
the Group held 64% of the shares in Data Respons. At the end 
of the extension of the takeover and the completion of the im-

plementation of the mandatory squeeze-out process, the Group 
held 100% of the shares in Data Respons and its shares had been 
withdrawn from the Oslo Stock Exchange. 

The Data Respons Group was incorporated into the f consolidation 
scope as from March 1, 2020 (refer to the composition detailed 
in the previous table).

In accordance with IFRS 3 (revised), the AKKA Technologies Group 
determined the acquisition price and proceeded with its allocation 
within one year of the acquisition. Having taken currency hedging 
into account, the acquisition price was measured at €369.8 million. 
Given the context of the acquisition (friendly takeover), no variable 
consideration is planned to be paid.

The final opening balance sheet is detailed below:

DATA�RESPONS�Balance�Sheet 
(in thousands of euros) 1 Mars 2020

Customer relationship and order backlog 88,490

Intangible assets 29

Tangible assets 1,318

Rights of use - IFRS 16 9,074

Deferred tax - asset 1,100

Non-current assets 100,011

Inventories and work in progress 3,607

Trade receivables and related accounts 43,131

Other receivables 3,304

Cash and cash equivalents 13,283

Current assets 63,326

Non-current financial liabilities 11,426

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 5,765

Non-current earn-out liabilities 30,616

Deferred taxes - liability 18,972

Non-current liabilities 66,780

Current financial liabilities 131

Current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 3,315

Trade payables 28,379

State - income taxes 1,132

Tax and social security liabilities excluding income tax - current 12,752

Current earn-out liabilities 10,264

Other liabilities 493

Current liabilities 56,465

Net assets 40,092

Acquisition price 369,821

Net assets (40,092)

Goodwill 329,729
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Allocating the price paid led to the identification of material in-
tangible assets, primarily “Customer relationhips” and “Customer 
order backlog”, estimated at €86.2 million and €2.3 million, re-
spectively. These intangible assets are to be amortized over 10 
years and one year, respectively. A corresponding deferred tax 
liability of €19.0 million was recorded. No contingent liabilities 
were recognized in respect of this group of companies.

Minority shareholdings in the Swedish activities of Data Respons 
(Sylog sub-group) were measured in proportion to the net identi-
fiable assets of this scope, i.e. €1.6 million.

As a result, goodwill established at €329.7 million. The analysis of 
the transaction led to the identification of significant synergies 
with the German Business Unit and the allocation of €28.1 million 
of goodwill to the corresponding cash generating unit.

Moreover, the main impact of Data Respons on the operating 
performance of the Group in 2020 is indicated in paragraph 3.1.

The acquisition costs recorded in External charges amount to 
€5.4 million.

1.7.2. Main entries into the scope 
for the 2019 financial year

There was no material variation in scope in the 2019 financial year.

1.7.3. Acquisition price of the 
companies consolidated for the 
first time in 2019 and 2020

The acquisition prices disbursed in 2020 amounted to €383.3 mil-
lion compared with €19.8 million in 2019; €22.4 million remains to 
be disbursed post-2020. Details of goodwill are given in Note 4.1

 

1.7.4. Changes in percentage 
interests

There was no change in percentage interests held in material 
companies during the 2020 financial year.

1.7.5. Exit from the scope 
of consolidation

There were no material exits from the scope of consolidation in the 
2020 financial year.

1.7.6. Other events affecting the 
scope of consolidation

The rationalization of the number of legal entities continued in 
2020, with mergers in France, Italy, Spain and Switzerland. These 
operations had no impact on the consolidated data.

Shares in non-consolidated companies are recognized in Non-
current financial assets; their contribution to the consolidated 
financial statements is assessed as immaterial.

1.7.7. Proforma information

As the impact of the acquisition of Data Respons on the main 
aggregates of financial statements does not exceed 25%, no 
proforma information is provided for the periods presented.

1.7.8. Changes in the presentation 
of the consolidated balance sheet

In order to increase transparency in presentation of liabilities, the 
Group has elected to present debts resulting from the acquisition 
of companies separately in the consolidated balance sheet. In prior 
years these liabilities were presented in the Other liabilities line 
line item, whereas they are now presented on two distinct lines: 
Non-current earn-out liabilities and Current earn-out liabilities.

The amount of €2,314 thousand as at December 31, 2019 was 
reclassified from the Other liabilities line to the Current earn-out 
liabilities.

Furthermore, the Covid-19 crisis has led the Group to defer or to 
spread a repayment of certain number of its tax or social security 
contributions. Based on agreements reached with the adminis-
trations, some of these liabilities now being payable in 2022 and 
later, the Group has created a line Non-current tax and social 
security liabilities to record these amounts.
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1.8. Translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries

1.9. Intra-Group transactions

The functional currency of the Group is the euro.

The financial statements of subsidiaries have been translated into 
euro using the closing rate for balance sheet items other than 
equity, the average rate for the year for the income statement 
items and the historical rates for components of equity other than 
retained earnings. 

Differences arising from the translation of the financial statements 
of subsidiaries are recorded in a separate section of the consol-
idated statement of changes in equity under Translation adjust-
ments. Movements during the year are presented on a separate 
lineof the Statement of comprehensive income.

Transactions between Group companies (purchases, sales, dividends, receivables, payables, provisions, results of internal transfers, 
etc.) are eliminated for fully consolidated companies.

Consolidated revenue is recognized in accordance with the pro-
visions set forth in IFRS 15.

Revenue from most contracts is recorded as a unique performance 
obligation, transfer of control of which takes place as contracts 
progress.

The revenue and the margin for all types of contract (time-based, 
fixed-price or units of delivery) are recognized on the basis of the 
progress of each contract. Revenue for fixed-price contracts is 
recognized on the basis of the actual cost for work completed, 
taking into account an estimate of the remaining cost of work 
required to complete the contract. 

Whenever the client requests services that have not been included 
in the initial purchase order for fixed-price contracts, the Group 
conducts an analysis of such transactions to identify contract 
modifications. If the Group is certain to receive payment prior to 
the client’s formal agreement, unbilled work is recognized on the 
basis of the work completed, provided that the client acknowl-
edges that the work has indeed been performed outside of the 
initial contractual framework. In such cases, revenue is recorded 
on a cost basis.

Fixed-price contracts account for a significant portion of revenue 
and margin. For such contracts, where the actuals costs plus the 
cost to complete exceed the total revenue from the contract, the 
excess amount is recognized as Provision for contract losses on the 
Liabilities side of the Balance sheet, within the Current provisions.

Should a third party be involved in supplying a particular good 
or service, the Group determines whether it obtains control of 
said good or service prior to transfer to the client. When control 
is obtained prior to transfer to the client, the Group records reve-
nue corresponding to the gross amount it expects to collect from 
the customer. On the other hand, when control is not obtained, 
the Group considers that it acts as an agent in the transaction 
and only records the amount of revenue corresponding to its net 
remuneration.

For all types of contracts, where work completed exceeds the 
amount billed, the difference is recognized as Unbilled revenue 
on the Assets side of the balance sheet, with Trade receivables and 
contract assets. To the contrary, where the work billed exceeds the 
amount of work actually completed, the difference is recognized 
in Deferred revenue on the Liabilities side of the balance sheet, 
within Other liabilities.

Within the Group, contract assets correspond to unbilled revenue 
for which rights to receive consideration are contingent upon either 
customer acceptance or provision of additional services required 
to be done before invoicing.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9, contract assets are 
analyzed to assess the potential risk of uncollectibility (“credit risk”). 
Contract liabilities primarily consist of advances received from 
customers (amounts received from customers prior to contract 
execution) and deferred revenue.

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS
2.1. Method of recognition of revenue from contracts

Note 2020 2019

Unbilled revenue 4.8 87,186 119,851

Contract assets 87,186 119,851

Advances received from customers 4.16 13,431 9,948

Deferred revenue 4.16 26,895 23,734

Contract liabilities 40,326 33,682
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2.2. Research and development expenses

2.3. Share-based payments

2.4. Tax expense

Research costs are recognized as expenses.

Under IAS 38, development costs can only be recognized as assets 
if projects meet the following conditions:

 ■  the project is precisely defined and the project costs can be 
assessed with reasonable accuracy,

 ■ the technical feasibility of the project has been demonstrated,

 ■  the Group intends to complete the project and to use or sell 
the resulting solutions,

 ■  the financial and technical resources needed to complete 
the development and to use or sell the asset are available,

 ■  it is probable that the future economic advantages will ben-
efit the Group.

Funding received for the projects concerned is presented in the 
balance sheet as a deduction in the value of the related asset.

IFRS 2 defines the methods for measuring and recognizing share-
based payments. Stock option and free share plans are regarded 
as benefits granted by the Group to the beneficiaries. As such, the 
benefit is measured based on the fair value of the equity instru-
ments at the grant date. Share-based payments give rise to the 
the expense recognition over the vesting period (the counterpart 
being an increase in shareholders’ equity), and taking into account 
revenue assumptions. 

On expiry of the vesting period, the value of cumulative benefits 
recognized is maintained in shareholders’ equity for the portion 
actually vested, whether or not the options are actually exercised.

The fair value of stock option plans is measured using the Black 
& Scholes model; no stock options were granted during the fi-
nancial year.

Free shares granted are subject to certain restrictions on their sale 
or transfer and are subject to the employment condition at the 
end of the vesting period. The fair value of the benefit granted 
takes into account various parameters such as revenue and the 
non-transferability of shares during the vesting period.

The corresponding expense within the line Free shares and stock 
options of the Income statement.

2.4.1. Income taxes

Current tax expense represents the amounts paid or payable to 
tax authorities for the financial year, based on the rules and rates 
applicable in the relevant countries.

Deferred tax is recognized for the differences between the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities and their tax basis in accordance 
with IAS 12, except for differences related to goodwill and invest-
ments in subsidiaries. They accordingly result primarily from the 
following:

 ■  timing difference between the recognition and tax deduct-
ibility of certain expenses in local accounts,

 ■ tax losses carried forward,

 ■  adjustments made between financial statements prepared 
in accordance with local accounting principles and those 
prepared in accordance with IFRS standards.

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are calculated using tax 
rates that were in force or substantively in force as at the reporting 
date. Changes in deferred tax rates and tax bases are recognized 
in income when they affect an item recognized in income, in other 
comprehensive income or in reserves, depending on the account-
ing treatment of the item on which the tax is levied. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only when their future recovery 
is deemed probable. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at closing 
end and their recognition is limited if it is probable that they will 
not be either partially or totally recovered. Probability of recovery 
is based on a business plan established over a period of 10 years 
weighted by the realization probability of the taxable income in 
the future. 

Deferred taxes are not discounted.

2.4.2. Corporate added-value 
contribution

The corporate added-value contribution (cotisation sur la valeur 
ajoutée des entreprises - CVAE), a French business tax based on 
the added value recorded in the local financial statements, has 
features meeting the definition of an income tax within the mean-
ing of IAS 12.2 (“taxes based on taxable profits”). It is therefore 
recognized within Income tax expense in the income statement. 
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2.5. Earnings per share

2.6. Goodwill

In accordance with IAS 33, basic earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing the Group share of net profit by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding reduced by treasury shares. 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the Group 

share of net profit, adjusted for the financial cost of dilutive instru-
ments, by the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
after the conversion into ordinary shares of outstanding dilutive 
instruments convertible into AKKA Technologies shares. 

The revised standard IFRS 3 on business combinations was applied 
prospectively to business combinations that took place on or after 
January 1, 2010.

The principles set out below are those defined by IFRS 3.

Upon taking control of a new company, the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the acquired subsidiary are recognized in the 
consolidated balance sheet at their fair value upon that date. 
These assets and liabilities follow the rules for the balance sheet 
items to which they are allocated.

The residual difference between the purchase consideration and 
the share of interest in the net fair value of contingent assets 
and liabilities is included in Assets with Goodwill. Analysis of the 
allocation of the purchase consideration only becomes final upon 
expiration of the12 months preiod from the acquisition date.

The purchase consideration is the amount of cash or cash equiv-
alents and contingent considerations measured at fair value, 
excluding the acquisition costs of securities. Acquisition related 
costs are recognized as expenses in the financial year.

The Group recognizes non-controlling interests in a takeover, either 
at fair value (full goodwill method) or on the basis of the share of 
the net assets of the acquired company (partial goodwill method). 

A decision is taken for each acquisition.

The impact of buyouts of non-controlling interests after a takeover 
is recognized directly in consolidated reserves. The treatment is 
the same for disposals without loss of control.

In accordance with IFRS 3, changes in earn-out payments for 
acquisitions made on or after January 1, 2010 are recognized in 
income after the acquisition date. When the impact is material, 
contingent considerations (earn-out) are discounted. The impact of 
the unwinding of the discount is recognized immediately in income.

Negative goodwill (badwill) is recognized immediately in income.

Goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) or group of 
CGUs on the basis of synergies expected by the Group. In prac-
tice, goodwill is allocated to geographical zones, as described 
in Note 4.1.

Goodwill is not amortized. It is subject to impairment tests as de-
fined in Note 2.9, whenever there is an indication of impairment 
and at least once a year.



134	  - Annual report 2020

2.7. Intangible and tangible assets

2.8. Leases

The base method adopted for the recognition and measurement 
of fixed assets is the historical cost method. The Group has not 
opted to revalue fixed assets outside of business combinations.

Within tangible assets, land is the only asset with an indefinite life.

In accordance with IAS 16, buildings are valued using a component 
approach.

Buildings are broken down into four homogenous components 
based on estimates made and quotes received at the time:

 ■ building shell,

 ■ facade and sealing,

 ■ general fittings and plant,

 ■ fixtures.

Amortization is generally calculated on a straight-line basis over 
the useful life of the asset. Accelerated depreciation may however 
be used when it appears more appropriate to the conditions of 
use of the equipment in question.

The main useful lives of the various categories of intangible and 
tangible assets are:

The application of IFRS 16 Leases is mandatory for reporting pe-
riods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.

Lessees must account for leases not subject to exemptions set out 
bythe standard, as follows:

 ■ depreciable rights of use within Assets,;

 ■ lease liablity corresponding with the discounted value of 
future payments, within Liabilities,;

 ■  in the income statement, right-of-use amortization expenses 
and financial interest calculated on the lease liability.

The lease period is defined contract by contract and corresponds 
to the firm commitment period, taking into account optional pe-
riods that are reasonably certain of being exercised.

Leases relating to assets of low value (less than USD 5,000) or 
short-term leases (less than 12 months) continue to be recognized 
directly within Purchased services and goods.

For the sake of simplicity, the discount rates applied are based on 
the incremental borrowing rate of the Group.

These discount rates have been determined by taking account 
of the residual lengths of contracts and the relevant geographic 
zones:

 ■ Europe

- <3 years: 1.00%

- 3 to 6 years: 1.50%

- 6 to 9 years: 2.00%

- > 9 years: 2.60%

 ■ North America

- 0 to 6 years: 3.90%

- > 6 years: 4.10%

The Group leases its offices in most of the locations in which it 
operates, and real estate leases represent the majority of the 
contracts within the scope of IFRS 16. Leases governed by this 
standard also include those for vehicles and certain imformation 
technology equipments.

Consolidated financial statements06

Method Number of years

Software Straight-line basis 1 to 3 years

Operating software (unit value less than €23 thousand) Straight-line basis 2 years

Operating software (unit value greater than €23 thousand) Straight-line basis 3 years

Client relationships Straight-line basis 10 years

Building structure Straight-line basis 50 years

Facades and sealing Straight-line basis 30 years

General fittings and plant Straight-line basis 4 to 20 years

Fixtures Straight-line basis 10 years

Plant, equipment and industrial tooling Straight-line basis 4 years

General facilities, fixtures and fittings Straight-line basis 4 to 10 years

Transport equipment Straight-line basis 4 years

Office equipment Straight-line basis 4 years

Computer equipment Straight-line basis 3 years

Furniture Straight-line basis 7 years



135	 - Annual report 2020

2.9. Impairment of non-financial assets

2.10. Inventories 

2.11. Trade receivables and contract assets

2.12. Factoring and other financing mechanisms

On an annual basis (for goodwill and other intangible assets 
with indefinite lives) and whenever an indication of impairment 
is identified (for other non-financial assets), an impairment test is 
performed to ensure that the recoverable value of non-financial 
assets is at least equal to the carrying value. If necessary, an im-
pairment loss is recognized to align the carrying value of these 
assets with their recoverable value.

In accordance with IAS 36, the recoverable value of an asset 
corresponds to the greater of its net fair value (fair value less dis-
posal costs) and its value in use, which corresponds to the present 
discounted value of the estimated future flows of the relevant 
cash generating unit (CGU) or group of CGUs. Cash generating 
units are defined as the smallest identifiable groups of assets that 
generate independent cash flows (see Note 2.7).

Impairment tests are performed for each CGU or group of CGUs 
based on a five-year projection of net cash flows from operations 
(operating cash flows, cash flows related to working capital and 
investment) plus, if applicable, corresponding R&D subsidies. This 
projection is determined using the budget data of the CGU or 

group of CGUs, taking past experience and forecasts into account. 
Beyond this horizon, the Group calculates a terminal value of the 
CGU corresponding with the present discounted value of cash 
flows from operations discounted to infinity.

The discount rate is determined in accordance with IFRS, without 
taking the level of debt into account. The discount rate is after 
tax, and is applied to cash flows after tax. Its use leads to the 
determining of recoverable amounts identical to those obtained 
by applying pre-tax rates to pre-tax cash flows, as required by 
IAS 36. The discount rate is calculated using a risk-free rate, an 
equity-market risk premium and a sector beta. Depending on the 
location of the CGU or group of CGUs with goodwill, a country risk 
premium is also factored into the discount rate.

Projected cash flows do not include cash flows resulting from 
growth investments or cash flows from restructuring not yet begun.

Impairment losses recognized on a CGU or group of CGUs are 
allocated first to goodwill. Impairment losses recognized on the 
goodwill of fully consolidated companies cannot be reversed.

Inventories primarily consist of spare parts. They are valued using the weighted average cost method. 

An impairment is recognized to take account of any obsolescence or deterioration.

Trade and other receivables are current assets initially measured 
at fair value, which generally corresponds to their nominal value, 
unless the effect of discounting is material.

At each reporting date, receivables are measured at fair value, 
taking any impairment into account where necessary to reflect 
the potential risks of non-recovery.

An impairment loss is recognized when there are objective indi-
cations that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
under the terms of the original transaction. In case of Bankruptcies, 

creditor protection processes, insolvency or disappearance of the 
debtor, significant payment arrears are considered indicators that 
a trade receivable is impaired. 

The Group has used the practical expedient provided by IFRS 9 for 
measuring the expected losses using provisions matrix. As most 
of the Group’s customers are highly rated entities, provisions are 
calculated for all receivables more than three months overdue, 
except for justified exceptions.

Working capital is funded mainly by the sale of receivables (factor-
ing, Dailly, etc.). Analysis of the derecognition of assigned receiv-
ables is made on the basis of the decision tree provided by IFRS 9. 

The conditions enjoyed by the Group led to the cash obtained 
from such assignments being recorded under Cash and cash 
equivalents and holdbacks under Financial assets. The assigned 
receivables are derecognized from Assets in the balance sheet. 
Information on the value of receivables assigned and derecog-
nized is disclosed in Note 4.8.

This method of recognition derives in particular from the following 
criteria:

 ■  upon assignment, the rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have not expired,

 ■  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset are transferred 
to the assignee,

 ■  the risks and rewards are substantially transferred to the 
assignee,

 ■ the Group does not retain control of the receivable.
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2.13. Cash and cash equivalents

2.14.  Perpetual subordinated unsecured bonds redeemable in cash 
and/or convertible into new shares and/or existing shares 
(ODIRNANE bonds) and financial liabilities

This item includes bank current accounts (debit and credit posi-
tions), the amounts made available by the factor but not used, 
and cash equivalents.

Short-term investments (cash equivalents) are measured and rec-
ognized at fair value by reference to the most recent year-end 
price. Changes in fair value are recognized in income. 

An ODIRNANE bond is a perpetual instrument without a maturity 
date, given that its holders do not have a redemption option. These 
instruments are repayable in the event of company’s liquidation , in 
which case payment includes accrued coupons and any deferred 
coupons. Payment of the coupons is at AKKA’s discretion and may 
be deferred until AKKA decides on a dividend distribution. If cou-
pons are not paid, they remain due and take the form of arrears 
on which interest is paid at the rate applied for the purpose of 
calculating the bond coupons.

INTEREST
 ■  Until January 1, 2025, the bonds will bear interest at a fixed 

rate of 3.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 
July 1 and January 1 each year, commencing on July 1, 2020 
and ending on January 1, 2025, subject to optional interest 
deferral (as defined below).

 ■  From January 1, 2025, the bonds will bear interest at a rate 
equal to the six-month Eurobor rate plus a margin of 900 basis 
points, payable semi-annually in arrears on each interest 
payment date and for the first time on July 1, 2025, subject 
to optional interest deferral.

 ■  In the event of a change in control, the interest rate will be 
increased by 500 basis points per annum as from the next 
interest payment date.

 ■  On any Interest Payment Date, the issuer may decide, subject 
to certain conditions, to defer payment of interest in respect 
of the bonds for the relevant interest period, subject to having 
notified the bondholders at least 15 days prior to the relevant 
interest payment date (an “optional interest deferral”). All 
interest in respect of the bonds that is not paid at an interest 
payment date will constitute deferred interest.

 ■  Any amount of deferred interest will bear interest at an annual 
rate equal to the applicable fixed or variable rate, depend-
ing on the case. The amount of interest accrued in this way 
(the additional interest) in respect of the deferred interest 
will become due and payable in the same manner as the 
deferred interest.

 ■  Deferred and additional interest may be paid in whole or in 
part at any time, at the issuer’s option, but all deferred and 
additional interest in respect of all the bonds will become 
payable under certain circumstances, as described in the 
terms and conditions of the bonds.

REDEMPTION OF BONDS
The bonds are perpetual, subject to early redemption at the is-
suer’s option.

 ■  The issuer may, at its option, elect to redeem all of the bonds 
early at par plus accrued interest, plus any deferred and 
additional interest (the early redemption price):

-  for the first time on January 1, 2025 and then on each interest 
payment date thereafter;

- in the event of a change in control;

-  from January 25, 2023 to January 1, 2025, if the parity value 
of the bond on each of 20 trading days in any period of 40 
consecutive trading days preceding the publication of the 
early redemption notice is greater than or equal to €130,000 
of the conversion price; and 

-  if less than 15% of the bonds originally issued remain 
outstanding.

 ■  The issuer undertakes to convene a shareholders’ meeting to 
be held no later than June 30, 2020 (the “Longstop Date”), to 
submit a proposal for the shareholders to approve resolutions 
relating to the change in control (approving the adjustment 
in the conversion price and the change in control step-up). 
If the resolutions are not approved and the issuer has not 
given an early redemption notice by the date falling two 
business days after the Longstop date for the redemption 
of the bonds at the greater of 102% of the principal amount 
or 102% of the fair bond value, in each case together with 
interest accrued and deferred and additional interest (if any), 
then the fixed interest rate will be increased by an additional 
500 basis points as from the interest period commencing on 
January 1, 2021.

CONVERSION RIGHTS AND PRICES
Bondholders may exercise their conversion right at any time from 
the date of issue until the seventh day (inclusive) preceding January 
1, 2025, or the date set for any early redemption.

 ■  Upon the exercise of their conversion right, bondholders 
will receive, at the option of the issuer, shares, cash, or a 
combination of shares and cash.

 ■  The conversion price may be subject to customary adjust-
ments, as described in the terms and conditions of the bonds. 



137	 - Annual report 2020

2.15. Foreign currency transactions

2.16. Employee benefits

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at their equivalent value on the date of the transaction. Payables and receivables are 
recorded in the balance sheet at their equivalent value based on the relevant year-end exchange rates. Foreign exchange differences 
arising on translation are recognized in the income statement. 

Post-employment�benefit�plans�(see�Note�4.12)

Accrued post-employment benefits correspond to defined-benefit 
plans in France and in Germany:

 ■  In France, these are legal retirement allowances for all em-
ployees under the Labor Code and collective agreements, 
and determined based on seniority upon retirement,

 ■  In Germany, these take the form of a funded pension plan 
originating in the acquisition of the MBTech group, the in-
clusion of new employees to which had been frozen prior to 
its acquisition by AKKA. 

The calculation of the value of commitments takes into account:

 ■  rights acquired, including expenses, by each employee using 
the projected unit credit method based on remuneration at 
retirement,

 ■ the mortality table,

 ■ the staff turnover rate,

 ■  wage growth of 1% in France (1% in 2019) and 1.5% in Germany 
(3% in 2019).

This calculation was discounted in 2020 at the rate of 0.50% in 
France and of 0.34% in Germany compared with 0.77% in 2019 
(iBoxx AA10+ with a ceiling of 0.50%).

The cost of services rendered and the financial cost are recognized 
in income statement. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized 
in other comprehensive income, they are not recycled to income.

There is no deferred cost of past services, nor is there any change 
in regime in the years presented. The Group does not outsource 
the financing of its commitments. 

The conversion price will be adjusted downwards in the event 
of a cash distribution paid or made in respect of a financial 
year of the issuer.

The initial premium for converting bonds into shares was set at 
35% above the reference AKKA share price of €57.22, resulting in 
an initial conversion price of €77.2582. The bond conversion price 
was then adjusted to €70.2347.

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT
The characteristics of the ODIRNANE bond led the Group to rec-
ognize it as an equity instrument:

 ■  There is no contractual obligation to repay the nominal 
amount except in the event of the issuer’s liquidation. IAS 
32 stipulates that a repayment obligation in the event of 
liquidation does not call into question the classification of 
the bonds as equity instruments;

Payment of coupons to bondholders:

 ■  either depends on the issuer’s liquidation. As indicated above, 
an obligation for the issuer to make a payment in the event 
of liquidation does not constitute a debt within the meaning 
of IAS 32,

 ■  or is under the control of the issuer (payment of dividends, 
repurchase of own shares or equivalent, early redemption by 
the issuer, decision to pay the next coupon on the bonds, etc.).

A long history of dividend payments on ordinary shares automat-
ically triggering the payment of remuneration on account of the 
instrument does not call into question the absence of a contractual 
obligation in accordance with IAS 32.

Finally, the “step-up” clause which leads to a significant increase 
in the value of coupons beyond a certain date if the instrument 
has not been previously redeemed by the issuer and the interest 
on arrears clause (capitalized and bearing the same rate as the 
bonds) constitute economic constraints and not contractual ob-
ligations in application of IAS 32 and its current interpretations.

Consequently, in view of the nature of the instruments and ele-
ments mentioned above, AKKA has no contractual obligation to 
pay remuneration on the perpetual debt instrument.

Lastly, the various options mentioned above do not call into ques-
tion the classification of the bonds as equity instruments.

In accordance with IAS 32.35, interest paid is charged directly to 
equity. 
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2.17. Provisions

2.18. Financial liabilities 

2.19. Earn-out Liabilities 

2.20. Derivatives

Obligations to third parties resulting from past generating events, 
whether legal, regulatory, contractual or implicit, are subject to 
a provision as soon as the Group has a current legal or implicit 
obligation, arising from past events, existing independently of 
future actions by the Group, and which are likely to result in an 
outflow of resources. 

Contingent assets are disclosed in the Notes when their realiza-
tion is deemed probable and their value is material. Contingent 
liabilities are disclosed in the Notes when their value is material.

The categories to which these provisions relate (commercial dis-
putes, industrial tribunal disputes, restructuring programs, etc.) are 
reviewed regularly to allow any necessary adjustments to be made.

When the effects are material, the provisions are discounted.

Financial liabilities include loans from credit institutions (banks and 
leasing companies and bonds). Financial liabilities are recorded 
at amortized cost based on the effective interest rate.

The portion due within one year is classified under Current finan-
cial liabilities; that due in more than one year is classified under 
Non-current financial liabilities. 

Earn-out liabilities generally correspond to contingent consider-
ation and are recognized at their fair value at the point of acquisi-
tion, based on the facts and circumstances available at that time.

Variable additional prices usually depend on the future financial 
performance of subsidiaries, following the rules defined in the 
acquisition contract.

Fair value is determined on the basis of estimates of future cash 
flows (discounted if the reference period exceeds two years), and the 
key assumption is the estimate of the future financial performance 
of subsidiaries, normally calculated as a multiple of the company’s 
operating performance (operating income or equivalent).

At each year end closing, the initially estimated fair value of con-
tingent consideration is adjusted for the following reasons:

 ■  A change in the estimate of the operating performance of 
the company acquired,

 ■  If discounting is used, the present value of future payments 
increases over time, which requires the recognition of an 
interest cost,

 ■  In the case of additional prices expressed in foreign curren-
cies, reflecting currency exchange fluctuations. 

The impact of subsequent revaluations is recognized in Operating 
income (effects related to operating parameters) or Financial 
income (effects related to financial parameters). 

The Group uses financial instruments to hedge its exposure to fluc-
tuations in interest rates. Derivatives are initially measured at fair 
value on the date of inception and are subsequently remeasured 
at fair value at each reporting date. In accordance with IAS 39, the 
recognition of changes in fair value depends on the classification of 
the derivative as a fair value or cash flow hedge.

Fair value hedges are intended to hedge exposure to changes in the 
fair value of an asset or liability recognized in the financial statements 
or of an identified component of such assets or liabilities or a com-
mitment to purchase or sell an asset at a predetermined price, which 
is attributable to a specific risk and which could affect the income 
anticipated. Any gain or loss resulting from the remeasurement of the 
hedging instrument is recognized in the income statement.

The Group had no such contracts in the years presented.

Cash�flow�hedges are intended to hedge exposure to changes in 
cash flows attributable to a specific risk associated with an asset 
or liability recognized in the financial statements or to an intended 
transaction that could affect income. Changes in fair value as at 
the year-end are broken down into an effective portion recognized 
in Other items of comprehensive income and an ineffective portion 
that is recycled to the income statement for the period.

At the maturity of the hedging instrument, the effective portion is 
recognized in income for the period. If the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated or exercised, the gain or loss initially recognized 
in Other items of comprehensive income must be maintained sepa-
rately in Other comprehensive income until the intended transaction 
takes place. If it is no longer expected that the commitment or the 
transaction will materialize, any effect previously recognized in Other 
items of comprehensive income is recycled to the income statement.
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2.21. Subsidies

2.22. Other information on financial assets and liabilities

In accordance with IAS 20, subsidies (primarily research tax credits) 
are deducted from the expense to which they relate.

Subsidies are primarily made up of research tax credits, almost 
90% of which relate to French companies of the Group. The cor-
responding amounts are determined on the basis of the analysis 
of eligibility of expenditure for the research tax credit mechanism 
as defined by the law. This assessment is undertaken by the Group 
with the assistance of specialized consultants.

The results of this analysis may be subject to audit by the tax ad-
ministration on questions of eligibility and the valuation of the ex-
penditure selected but there are no unfulfilled conditions other than 
the submission of an annual tax return in order to benefit from it.

The amounts recognized for the 2020 and 2019 financial years are 
shown in Note 3.3. 

Treasury shares and related effects (gain or loss on disposal and 
impairment, if any) are deducted from consolidated reserves.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized within several bal-
ance sheet items (Non-current financial assets, Trade receivables, 
Other current assets, Trade payables, Other current liabilities, 
Borrowings, Cash and cash equivalents).

Financial instruments are allocated to five categories that do not 
correspond to specific balance sheet items, bearing in mind that 
their allocation determines the rules applicable to their recognition 
and measurement. 

The five categories are as follows:

 ■  Assets held to maturity: not applicable in the Group in the 
years presented,

 ■  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through income 
designated on their initial recognition: this item mainly con-
sists of cash equivalents. Changes in the fair value of items 
allocated to this category are recognized in the income 
statement on each reporting date,

 ■  Loans, receivables andpayables : these items are recognized 
at cost or at amortized cost, as appropriate, 

-  Assets and liabilities carried at cost are mainly trade re-
ceivables and payables, and non-current financial assets 
(e.g. deposits and guarantees). These items are initially 
recognized at fair value, which corresponds to their nominal 

value in the Group (short maturities). In the event of loss of 
value, these items are subject to amortization,

-  Assets and liabilities carried “at amortized cost” relate 
mainly to borrowings. The amortized cost of these items is 
the initial value of the asset or liability less repayments of 
principal, adjusted if necessary using the effective interest 
rate method and corrected for any impairment,

 ■  Assets held for sale: this only applies to non-consolidated 
investments, at cost, with the performance of impairment 
testing,

 ■ Derivatives: see Note 2.20.

Under IFRS 13, which was applicable from 2013, financial instru-
ments are presented in three categories (see Note 4.17), according 
to a hierarchy of methods for determining fair value:

 ■  Level 1: fair value determined by reference to unadjusted 
quoted prices on active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities; 

 ■  Level 2: fair value determined by reference to observable 
prices for similar assets or liabilities on active markets, either 
directly (adjusted Level 1 quoted prices) or indirectly (derived 
from prices); 

 ■  Level 3: fair value determined by reference to data not ob-
servable on a market.
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Segment reporting presentation complies with IFRS 8. The information 
provided in the segment breakdown is based on the internal report-
ing used by the chief operating decision-maker (Group Executive 
Committee) to assess the performance of the various segments.

As at the end of December 2020, the Group had identified five 
operating segments under IFRS 8 on segment reporting, repre-

senting geographic zones for historical activities, together with the 
Data Respons Group acquired at the beginning of 2020: France, 
Germany, North America, Data Respons and International (rep-
resenting the rest of the countries not detailed).

No segment other than those detailed has reached the threshold 
of 10% (in terms of revenue and income) specified in IFRS 8.

3. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT
3.1. Segment information
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December 2020  
(in thousands of euros) France Germany North 

America International (1) Data 
Respons Other TOTAL

CONSOLIDATED�
INCOME STATEMENT

External revenue 488,079 349,165 264,788 248,341 153,082 - 1,503,454

% of revenue 32.5% 23.2% 17.6% 16.5% 10.2% 0.0% 100.0%

Inter-segment revenue 14,741 10,517 1,312 22,340 - 43,478 92,387

Revenue 502,819 359,682 266,099 270,681 153,082 43,478 1,595,842

Operating income and 
expenses (586,883) (423,136) (258,517) (231,830) (143,299) (29,289) (1,672,953)

Free shares and stock 
operations - - - - - (975) (975)

Operating�profit (98,804) (73,971) 6,271 16,511 9,784 (30,264) (170,474)

Cost of net financial 
debt (19,070)

Other financial income 
and expenses (8,335)

Tax expense 29,972

Net income (167,907)

December 2019 
(in thousands of euros) France Germany North 

America International (1) Data 
Respons Other TOTAL

CONSOLIDATED�
INCOME STATEMENT -

External revenue 661,349 516,576 304,967 318,594 - 0 1,801,486

% of revenue 36.7% 28.7% 16.9% 17.7% 0.0% 0.0% 100.0%

Inter-segment revenue 18,647 10,575 1,579 23,547 - 50,310 104,658

Revenue 679,996 527,151 306,546 342,140 - 50,310 1,906,144

Operating income and 
expenses (607,240) (479,852) (293,196) (283,834) - (12,317) (1,676,439)

Free shares and stock 
operations - - - - - (3,824) (3,824)

Operating�profit 54,109 36,724 11,771 34,760 - (16,141) 121,223

Cost of net financial 
debt (16,164)

Other financial income 
and expenses (1,343)

Tax expense (30,447)

Net income 73,270

(1)  The revenue reported in Belgium, the country in which the Head Office of the Group is located, is included in the figures for the International BU 
and totals €62.7 million in 2020 vs. €68.1 million in 2019.
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The Group generates revenues above 10% of its total revenues with 
2 main customers, of which 13.5% with the 1st one, and 10.6% with 
the 2nd. The largest client in each operating segment accounts 
for 23.0% of revenue in France, 50.2% in Germany, 24.9% in North 
America, 9.9% in International and 17.8% in Data Respons, respec-

tively. The top five clients in each operating segment account for 
50.1% of revenue in France, 86.1% in Germany, 64.2% in North 
America, 30.2% in International and 42.6% in Data Respons, 
respectively.

3.2. Purchased services and goods

December 2020  
(in thousands of euros) France Germany North 

America International Data 
Respons Other TOTAL

REVENUE�BY�SECTOR

Mobility 333,022 337,704 224,643 130,165 80,014 - 1,105,547

Other 155,057 11,462 40,146 118,175 73,068 - 397,907

External revenue 488,079 349,165 264,788 248,340 153,082 - 1,503,454

December 2020  
(in thousands of euros) France Germany North 

America International Data 
Respons Other TOTAL

REVENUE�BY�SECTOR

Mobility 495,783 492,273 272,627 183,116 - - 1,443,799

Other 165,577 24,303 32,340 135,468 - - 357,687

External revenue 661,359 516,576 304,967 318,584 - - 1,801,486

December 2020  
(in thousands of euros) France Germany North 

America International Data 
Respons Other TOTAL

BALANCE�SHEET

Segment assets (1) 201,446 264,430 69,967 95,871 419,013 51,011 1,101,739

Segment financial 
liabilities (2) 49,039 65,889 11,339 18,774 21,238 627,640 793,920

December 2020  
(in thousands of euros) France Germany North 

America International Data 
Respons Other TOTAL

BALANCE�SHEET

Segment assets (1) 217,428 278,978 77,154 99,711 - 32,344 705,615

Segment financial 
liabilities (2) 58,277 72,219 12,836 18,256 - 534,030 695,617

(1) Goodwill, tangible and intangible assets, other non-current assets
(2) Financial liabilities 

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Subcontracting (164,328) (165,417)

Other purchased services and goods (201,084) (223,507)

Purchased services and goods (365,412) (388,924)
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3.3. Personnel

3.3.1. Headcount of consolidated companies

3.3.2. Personnel expenses

3.4. Depreciation and provisions

3.5. Other income and expenses

Headcount at year-end Average headcount

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

France 7,162 7,805 7,712 7,752

Germany 4,608 5,030 4,832 5,029

International 3,604 3,934 3,782 3,989

North America 4,274 4,059 4,140 3,991

Data Respons 1,376 - 1,136 -

Other 55 102 94 97

TOTAL 21,080 20,930 21,695 20,858

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Salaries and wages (894,710) (979,697)

Social security contributions (239,241) (242,495)

Employee profit sharing - (398)

Personnel expenses (1,133,951) (1,222,589)

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Net depreciation, amortization and impairment of assets (36,450) (24,801)

Amortization and impairment of rights of use - IFRS 16 (36,379) (31,596)

Net depreciation of current assets (19,435) (1,611)

Provisions for risks and expenses (80,497) 831

Net depreciation, amortization and provisions (172,761) (57,177)

The variation in Other income is due to the downward adjustment of earn-out liabilities of €8,817 thousand, the business plans of the 
companies acquired having been affected by the slowdown in activity in 2020.

Subsidies (see Note 2.21) totaling €27,737 thousand were recorded as reduction in personnel expenses during the year ending December 
31, 2020 compared with €40,154 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2019.
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3.6. Financial income

3.6.1. Cost of financial debt

3.6.2. Other financial income and expenses

3.7. Income tax

3.7.1. Breakdown of tax expense

3.7.2. Tax Reconciliation

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Income from cash and cash equivalents 1,345 528

Interest expenses (17,134) (13,418)

Interest expenses - IFRS 16 (3,281) (3,274)

Cost�of�gross�financial�debt (20,416) (16,692)

COST�OF�NET�FINANCIAL�DEBT (19,071) (16,164)

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Foreign exhange gains and losses (4,150) 1,722

Other items (*) (4,185) (3,064)

Other�financial�income�and�expenses (8,335) (1,343)

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Current income taxes (12,672) (20,758)

CVAE (Business tax on added value) (5,659) (8,611)

Deferred taxes 48,303 (1,077)

Income tax expense 29,972 (30,447)

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Consolidated net income (167,907) 73,270

Income tax expense (29,972) 30,447

Consolidated loss before tax (197,878) 103,717

Tax rate applicable to the parent company 25,00% 29,58%

Theoretical tax expense 49,470 (30,679)

Impact of permanent differences 7,869 8,040

Deferred tax assets not recognized on temporary differences and tax losses (22,305) (609)

Impact of tax rate differential on foreign subsidiaries 1,660 1,582

Other differences (1,062) (169)

CVAE (Business tax on added value) (5,659) (8,611)

Income tax expense recognized 29,972 (30,447)

*mainly bank costs

The tax rate applicable to the parent company is 25.0% in 2020 compared with 29.58% in 2019. 
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3.7.3. Nature of deferred taxes

4. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET
4.1. Goodwill 

Breakdown�by�CGU
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(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 
2020

Variation Changes  
in scope

Dec. 31, 
2019

Variation Jan.�01,�
2019

Deferred taxes resulting from local tax 
regimes 9,858 5,889 380 3,589 1,633 1,956

Deferred taxes on tax losses 65,666 39,633 720 25,313 (2,842) 28,155

Deferred taxes on consolidation entries (27,043) 955 (18,972) (9,026) 660 (9,686)

Net deferred taxes 48,481 46,477 (17,872) 19,876 (549) 20,425

Of which deferred tax assets 80,034 46,123 1,100 32,811 (1,281) 34,092

Of which deferred tax liabilities (31,553) 354 (18,972) (12,935) 732 (13,667)

Net deferred taxes 48,481 46,477 (17,872) 19,876 (549) 20,425

Cash-generating 
unit

Dec. 31, 2020 Changes in 
the scope of 

consolidation

Translation 
adjustments

Other 
adjustments and 
reclassifications

Dec. 31, 2019

Data Respons 301,629 329,729 - (28,100) -

France 136,666 (0) (0) (3) 136,669

Germany 123,814 - (0) 26,299 97,515

USA 65,396 - (6,037) - 71,432

Italy 32,011 - - - 32,011

Benelux 14,117 - - - 14,117

Spain 10,610 - - - 10,610

Switzerland 5,247 - 5 7 5,235

Austria 1,802 1,802 -

Romania 97 - (2) - 99

Total goodwill 691,390 329,729 (6,034) 7 367,689

As indicated in Note 2.4, deferred tax assets are not recognized when the probability of offsetting them against future taxable profits 
is low. Deferred taxes on deficits and temporary differences not recognized at the reporting date due to this limitation amounted to 
€37,964 thousand.

The implementation of the procedures defined in Note 2.9 did not result in the recognition of any amortization or impairment in the 
consolidated accounts at December 31, 2020, as was the case at December 31, 2019.

AKKA Technologies acquired the Data Respons group in the first half of 2020. The value of the final goodwill was recognized at €329.7 
million, and its allocation was detailled in paragraph 1.7.1. 

The goodwill of entities acquired in 2018 varied by (€6,037 thousand) compared with the 2020 financial year, solely due to the effect 
of USD/EUR conversion. 
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4.2. Impairment of assets

Impairment tests were performed on December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, with research tax credit being included in the cash 
flow for each year.

These tests were conducted:

 ■  On the basis of discounting projected after-tax cash flows, using a weighted average cost of capital after tax for each CGU in 
2020 as detailed below:

 ■ On the basis of rates of revenue growth, as listed below:

Cash-generating 
unit

Weighted average cost of 
capital before tax 12/31/2020

Weighted average cost of 
capital after tax 12/31/2020

Weighted average cost of 
capital after tax 12/31/2019

France 12.91% 9.55% 8.70%

Germany 12.09% 9.07% 8.29%

USA 11.13% 9.07% 8.29%

Italy 14.24% 11.20% 10.13%

Benelux 12.38% 9.66% 8.80%

Spain 13.57% 10.62% 9.63%

Switzerland 10.29% 9.07% 8.29%

Austria 12.05% 9.45% 8.62%

Romania 12.90% 11.20% 10.13%

Data Respons 11.24% 9.07%

Cash-generating unit Average percentage 
of revenue growth Perpetual growth rate

France 7.78% 1.50%

Germany 8.59% 1.50%

USA 7.51% 1.50%

Italy 8.10% 1.50%

Benelux 9.40% 1.50%

Spain 6.26% 1.50%

Switzerland 13.97% 1.50%

Austria 12.45% 1.50%

Romania 1.62% 1.50%

Data Respons 12.79% 1.50%
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The terminal value of the CGU or group of CGUs corresponded to the five-year net cash flows from operations discounted to perpetuity, 
assuming a growth rate of 1.5% (as was the case in 2019).

As at December 31, 2020, the AKKA Technologies Group was divided into 19 CGUs.

Only 10 CGUs or groups of CGUs have non-depreciable assets (8 in 2019). Impairment testing did not reveal any impairment to be 
recorded in the accounts as at December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2019.

The Group performed sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions on the perpetual growth rate and weighted average cost of capital 
after tax. The results of these analyses with respect to the goodwill impairment are summarized in the table below:
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Theoretical impairment

Cash-generating unit Value of goodwill Weighted average cost of 
capital +1 point Perpetual growth rate -1 point

Data Respons  301,629 -2,746  - 

France  136,666  -  - 

Allemagne  123,814  -  - 

USA  65,396  -  - 

Italie  32,011  -  - 

Benelux  14,117  -  - 

Espagne  10,610  -  - 

Suisse  5,247  -  - 

Autriche  1,802  -  - 

Roumanie  97  -  - 

4.3. Intangible and tangible assets
(in thousands of euros) Development costs Customer 

relationships 
Other intangible  

assets
Total

Total gross value 2,320 - 66,110 68,430

Total depreciation and amortization (1,930) - (46,510) (48,440)

Net�book�value,�Jan.�1,�2019� 390 - 19,600 19,990

Changes in the scope of consolidation - - (1) (1)

Acquisitions 1,926 - 8,518 10,444

Transfers - - (49) (49)

Depreciation and amortization (145) - (6,576) (6,721)

Translation differences - - 12 12

Other changes 667 - 388 1,055

Total gross value 4,818 - 72,968 77,786

Total depreciation and amortization (1,980) - (51,077) (53,057)

Net book value, Dec. 31, 2019 2,838 - 21,891 24,729

Changes in the scope of consolidation - 88,490 45 88,535

Acquisitions 12,238 - 5,190 17,428

Transfers - - (59) (59)

Depreciation and amortization (702) (9,028) (7,291) (17,022)

Translation differences - (1,027) (66) (1,093)

Other changes 170 - (218) (48)

Total gross value 17,340 87,801 75,453 180,594

Total depreciation and amortization (2,796) (9,367) (55,950) (68,123)

Net book value, Dec. 31, 2020 14,544 78,435 19,493 112,471
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The main variations of intangible assets correspond to the Customer relationships valued at €88.5 million as part of Data Respons 
acquisition (see par. 1.7.1), on one hand, and to the capitalization of the development costs for €12.2 million, mainly related to the 
Flexmove project, on the other hand. 

Changes in tangible assets corresponded primarily with new building developments in France and Germany, and to computing equipment.

The Group did not have indefinite life intangible assets.

(in thousands of euros) Land and buildings Plant, equipment 
and industrial 

tooling 

Other tangible assets Total

Total gross value 38,867 30,542 143,304 212,713

Total depreciation and amortization (10,320) (20,139) (91,094) (121,553)

Net�book�value,�Jan.�1,�2019� 28,547 10,403 52,210 91,160

Changes in the scope of consolidation - - 2 2

Acquisitions 731 1,875 19,120 21,726

Transfers (97) (293) (1,661) (2,051)

Depreciation and amortization (1,582) (2,050) (14,406) (18,038)

Translation differences 95 9 86 190

Other changes 415 131 (1,589) (1,042)

Total gross value 39,895 32,017 154,395 226,298

Total depreciation and amortization (11,787) (21,942) (100,623) (134,352)

Net book value, Dec. 31, 2019 28,109 10,076 53,762 91,946

Changes in the scope of consolidation - 1,343 306 1,650

Acquisitions 65 1,137 10,472 11,675

Transfers (127) (17) (4,815) (4,959)

Depreciation and amortization (1,450) (2,736) (15,273) (19,459)

Translation differences (240) (33) (148) (420)

Other changes (4,329) 385 (819) (4,763)

Total gross value 30,481 41,472 149,308 221,261

Total depreciation and amortization (8,453) (31,315) (105,823) (145,591)

Net book value, Dec. 31, 2020 22,028 10,156 43,485 75,669
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4.4. Rights of use (IFRS 16)

4.5. Securities of affiliated companies and joint ventures 

Consolidated financial statements06

Analysis of rights of use per category of underlying assets:

Elektronische Fahrwerksysteme GmbH (EFS) is jointly held by AKKA DSO GmbH (51%) and AEV GmbH, a subsidiary of the Audi Group 
(49%); since January 1, 2017, it has been accounted for at 51% under the equity method.

(in thousands of euros) Rights of use - real 
estate

Rights of use - 
vehicles

Rights of use - other 
assets

Total

January�1,�2019 - - - -

First-time application of IFRS 16 154,858 10,647 608 166,113

Increases 11,430 4,915 7 16,352

Reductions - (1) - (1)

Depreciation and amortization (26,198) (5,131) (266) (31,595)

Translation differences 62 4 (0) 66

Other changes (394) (868) 30 (1,231)

December 31, 2019 139,759 9,566 379 149,704

First-time application of IFRS 16 - - - -

Changes in the scope of consolidation 9,127 40 - 9,167

Increases 28,446 3,088 - 31,354

Reductions (11,460) (318) - (11,778)

Depreciation and amortization (30,515) (5,572) (263) (36,349)

Translation differences (462) (8) (2) (473)

Other changes - - 2 2

December 31, 2020 134,895 6,796 116 141,807

(in thousands of euros) EFS

Percentage interest in equity associates 51%

2020 2019

January 1 47,901 46,230

Share of net income of equity associates 1,564 2,487

Dividends received from associated companies (1,275) (816)

December 31 48,190 47,901
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4.6. Non-current financial assets

4.7. Other non-current assets

4.8. Trade receivables and related accounts 

French regulated loans are repayable 20 years after payment, and are subject to discounting, the cumulative effect of which is a 
reduction of €2,915 thousand in receivables as at December 31, 2020 and €3,034 thousand as at December 31, 2019.

As the main non-current assets are receivables towards financial institutions, landlords and public bodies, the credit risk exposure of 
these financial assets is not material. 

This item includes receivables in respect of R&D subsidies for a net amount of €30,078 thousand in 2020, compared with €27,246 in 2019.

The credit risk exposure of these assets is not material. 

Receivables transferred to the factor and derecognized amounted to €230,295 thousand (of which €195,518 thousand are non-matured) 
compared with €381,394 thousand as at December 31, 2019 (of which €273,047 thousand are non-matured). 

The breakdown of net trade receivables as required by IFRS 7 is as follows:

Gross amounts  
(in thousands of euros)

Factors’ 
holdbacks

Deposit and 
guarantees for 
lease contracts

French regulated 
loans

Other non-current 
financial assets

Total financial 
assets

1�January�2019 18,144 9,837 13,419 2,000 43,400

Changes in the scope  
of consolidation 235 23 - 51 309

Increase 4,616 698 1,270 53 6,637

Decrease - (1,305) - (932) (2,237)

Other 20 60 - (275) (195)

31 décembre 2019 23,015 9,313 14,689 897 47,914

Changes in the scope  
of consolidation - 87 - (1,208) (1,121)

Increase - 1,900 1,173 12,420 15,492

Decrease (8,569) (696) - (87) (9,352)

Other (176) (37) - 64 (149)

31 December 2020 14,270 10,566 15,862 12,086 52,784

(in thousands of euros) Total Not due Due 
0-6 months

Due 
6-12 months

Due 
Over 1 year

31 December 2020 191,984 175,684 11,591 2,018 2,691

31 December 2019 224,806 207,262 9,969 3,179 4,396

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Trade receivables 134,106 114,068

Unbilled revenue 87,186 119,851

Trade receivables and contract assets, gross amount 221,292 233,919

Depreciation (29,308) (9,113)

Trade receivables and contract assets 191,984 224,806
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4.9. Other receivables 

4.10. Provisions for current assets

Consolidated financial statements06

Other net receivables amounted to €76,173 thousand as at December 
31, 2020; this item relates mainly to receivables from tax authorities 
for the amount of €44,244 thousand (including €31,603 thousand 
of VAT and €9,653 thousandreceivables for partial unemployment 
indemnities, prepaid expenses for an amount of €12,332 thousand 
and advance payments to suppliers for €5,221 thousand.

In 2019, other net receivables amounted to €114,852 thousand; they 
related mainly to receivables from tax authorities for the amount 
of €81,032 thousand (€49,013 thousand of VAT and €16,954 thou-
sand of research tax credit), prepaid expenses for an amount of 

€14,232 thousand and advance payments to suppliers for €6,008 
thousand.

In 2020 as in 2019, following the analysis of the maturity of other 
receivables, the part due after more than one year has been re-
classified in Other non-current assets (see Note 4.7). Due to very 
low rates, no discounting was performed.

As the other assets have mainly public bodies as counterparties, 
the credit risk exposure of these assets is not material.

(in thousands of euros) Inventories Trade receivables Other receivables Total

1�January�2019 293 8,888 4,780 13,962

Changes in the scope of consolidation - - - -

Allowances included in net 
depreciation, amortization  
and provisions

1,483 3,766 - 5,249

Reversals included in net 
depreciation, amortization  
and provisions

(54) (3,555) - (3,609)

Other - (1) - (1)

Translation adjustments 1 15 - 16

31 December 2019 1,723 9,113 4,780 15,617

Changes in the scope of consolidation - 913 (360) 553

Allowances included in net 
depreciation, amortization  
and provisions

183 22,642 900 23,725

Reversals included in net 
depreciation, amortization  
and provisions

(93) (3,210) (513) (3,816)

Other - - 502 502

Translation adjustments (2) (148) - (150)

31 December 2020 1,811 29,308 5,309 36,430
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4.11. Share capital, share premium and ODIRNANE bonds

As at December 31, 2020, the share capital of AKKA Technologies comprised 31,210,078 shares of €1.53 each, i.e. a total of €47,751 
thousand, and the share premium was €183,724 thousand. These items varied as follows in the 2019 and 2020 financial years:

The amount of the share premium was net of issuance costs of €3.3 million.

As at December 31, 2020, and similarly in the previous year, all potentially dilutive instruments were included in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share.

Voting rights:

Potentially dilutive instruments: 

The General Meeting on June 15, 2017 approved the principle of stock option plans, a decision confirmed by the Extraordinary 
Shareholders’ Meeting on February 22, 2018; three of these plans are currently in operation as at December 31, 2020:

(1) Non-voting shares
(2) Shares not representing the capital, carrying one voting right per share

(in thousands of euros) Number  
of shares

Par 
value

Amount  
of share  

capital

Share  
premium

Comments

December 31, 2018 20 291 990 1,53 31 047 656

December 31, 2019 20 291 990 1,53 31 047 656

Capital increase 2 029 199 1,53 3 104 - Incorporation of reserves -  
allocation of one share for every 10 held

Capital increase 8 888 889 1,53 13 600 183 068 Capital increase of €200 million

December 31, 2020 31 210 078 1,53 47 751 183 724

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Shares with single voting rights 30,567,393 19,848,466

Treasury shares (1) 642,685 443,524

Total number of shares 31,210,078 20,291,990

Participating shares�(2) 7,927,487 7,927,487

Share purchase options Stock options Share purchase options Share purchase 
options

Grant date Nov. 19, 2018 Oct. 02, 2019 Apr. 07, 2020 May 28, 2020

Number of remaining options 20,000 110,000 80,000 21,000

Potential number of corresponding 
shares 20,000 110,000 80,000 21,000

First possible exercise date Jan. 01, 2022 Jan. 01, 2023 Jan. 01, 2024/25/26/27 Jan. 01, 2024

Last possible exercise date June 01, 2023 June 01, 2024 June 01, 2025/26/27/28 June 01, 2025

First possible disposal date Jan. 01, 2022 Jan. 01, 2023 Jan. 01, 2024/25/26/27 Jan. 01, 2024

Strike�price�in�euros�(per�option) 56.73 € 54.64 € 23.64 € 26.60 €
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ODIRNANE bonds:

On December 4, 2019, the Group issued perpetual subordinated unsecured bonds redeemable in cash and/or convertible into new 
and/or existing shares (ODIRNANE bonds). The method of accountingfor the instrument and its main characteristics are set out in 
Note 2.13. The table below describes the main financial characteristics of the instrument, including the increase in the interest rate 
from January 1, 2025:

The Group has no specific management policy in respect of share capital. The choice between debt financing or capital increase is 
made in function of the transactions. Shareholders’ equity monitored by the Group contains the same components as consolidated 
shareholders’ equity.

Dilutive instruments represented 12.82% of share capital as at December 31, 2020 as opposed to 1.59% as at December 31, 2019.

Earnings per share:

Consolidated financial statements06

Amount 
issued

Quantity 
issued

Original term Annual 
nominal 
coupon from 
12/04/2019 to 
12/31/2024

Annual 
nominal 
coupon from 
01/01/2025

Issue 
expenses 
charged 
to the 
instrument

Value in 
consolidated 
reserves

ODIRNANE 
bonds 175,000 k€ 1 750 Perpetual 3.5% Euribor 6 

months�+�9% 2,089 k€ 176,037 k€

Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Group�share�of�net�profit�(in�thousands�of�euros) (168,761) 73,041

ODIRNANE coupons (6,125) (453)

Adjusted�basic�earnings�(in�thousands�of�euros) (174,886) 72,588

Conversion of ODIRNANE bonds 6,125 453

Diluted earnings (in thousands of euros) (168,761) 73,041

Number of shares outstanding as at January 1 20,291,990 20,291,990

Effect of treasury shares (642,685) (354,469)

Weighted average number of shares as at December 31 21,160,146 21,448,362

Effect of stock options with a dilutive effect as at December 31 201,501 126,000

Pro-rata�temporis�effect�on�the�weighted�average�number�of�shares�relating�to�the�issue�of�
ODIRNANE bonds 2,491,646 167,558

Effect�of�dilutive�free�shares�as�at�December�31 20,000 22,975

Weighted average number of shares as at December 31 after dilution 23,873,294 21,764,895

Earnings�per�share�(in�euros) (8.26) 3.38

Diluted�earnings�per�share�(in�euros) (8.26) 3.36
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4.12. Current and non-current provisions

Au 31 décembre 2020, le capital social d’AKKA Technologies est composé de 31 210 078 actions de 1,53 € soit 47 751 K€ et la prime 
d’émission est de 183 724 K€. Ces éléments ont varié de la manière suivante sur les exercices 2019 et 2020 :

Provisions for litigation and risks relate primarily to restructuring operations undertaken in France and Germany (see introductory 
paragraph). These restructuring plans involve about 1,500 employees.

These provisions have been estimated on the basis of the conditions presented to the employees and employee representatives. They 
include severance payments, redeployment compensation and the supporting measures provided to this effect.

Change�in�provisions�(excluding�pensions)

(in thousands of euros) Current Non-current

Maturity Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Provisions for litigation and risks 62,470 2,005 13,872 8,505

Provisions for pensions - - 19,966 19,622

Provisions for other expenses 2,615 514 3,068 845

Total 65,085 2,519 36,906 28,972

(in thousands of euros) Litigation and risks Other provisions Total

1�January�2019 10,735 2,993 13,728

Changes in the scope of consolidation - - -

Allowances 944 298 1,242

Utilization (2,224) (643) (2,867)

Reversals of unused provisions (236) (177) (413)

Translation adjustments 4 - 4

Reclassifications and other 1,287 (1,112) 175

31 December 2019 10,511 1,359 11,870

Changes in the scope of consolidation 75 - 75

Allowances 77,134 4,790 81,924

Utilization (10,875) (448) (11,323)

Reversals of unused provisions - - -

Translation adjustments (7) - (7)

Reclassifications and other (495) (18) (513)

31 December 2020 76,342 5,683 82,025
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Change in provisions for pensions

The sensitivity analysis was determined on the basis of the balance of retirement bonuses as at December 31, 2020. The Group has 
elected to conduct a sensitivity analysis at a discount rate based on a variation of the yield curve of +/- 0.5 percentage points com-
pared with the rate as of the reporting date. An increase of 0.5 percentage points would have an impact of (€628 thousand) on pension 
obligations. A decrease of 0.5 percentage points would have an impact of €567 thousand on pension obligations.

4.13. Current and non-current financial liabilities

The current and non-current financial liabilities shown below exclude liabilities resulting from external growth operations presented 
separately in the balance sheet.

(1) Amounts for lease liabilities in 2019 totaling €4,851 thousand were recorded in Other borrowings and financial liabilities.

Consolidated financial statements06

Change in the discounted value of the bond (in thousands of euros) France Germany Other Total

Present value of the obligation, beginning of period 12,045 7,338 239 19,622

Service cost 1,013 73 20 1,106

Interest cost 321 55 375

Curtailment (1,463) - (1,463)

Benefits paid - (198) (198)

Actuarial (gains) / losses during the year 377 148 524

Actuarial (gains) / losses based on experience (348) 148 (200)

Actuarial (gains) / losses due to changes in assumptions 725

Present value of the obligation, end of period 12,293 7,415 259 19,966

(in thousands  
of euros)

Borrowings and other 
financial liabilities (1) Leases Total financial liabilities

Maturity Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Current (less than 
one year) 10,102 74,769 33,623 29,721 43,725 104,490

1 to 5 years 630,523 460,748 77,863 73,632 708,386 534,381

More than 5 years 5,000 6,964 36,808 49,783 41,808 56,747

Total 645,625 542,481 148,294 153,136 793,920 695,617
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The�change�in�financial�liabilities�is�broken�down�as�follows:��

Cash changes Non-cash changes

(in thousands 
of euros)

Jan.�01,�
2020

Increase Reduction Changes in 
the scope of 

consolidation

Translation 
adjustment

Change 
in fair 
value

Change in 
method

Other 
non-cash 
changes

Dec. 31, 
2020

Loans from 
credit institu-
tions 

536,964 96,806 (570) 11,452 (771) (122) - 1,771 645,530

 Restatement 
of leasing 
contracts 

4,851 - 670 - - - - (5,521) -

 Debenture 
loans - - - - - - - - -

 Other finan-
cial liabilities 82 (1) (103) 105 - - - 12 94

 Bank over-
drafts 584 - (584) - - - - - -

Financial 
liabilities 542,481 96,806 (587) 11,557 (771) (122) - (3,739) 645,625

 Cash equiva-
lents (1,276) - 1,292 - - - - - 16

 Cash (467,955) - (32) - - - - - (467,987)

Cash 
and cash 
equivalents

(469,231) - 1,261 - - - - - (467,970)

 Net debt 
excluding 
IFRS 16 lease 
liabilities 

73,250 96,806 674 11,557 (771) (122) - (3,739) 177,654

IFRS 16 lease 
liabilities 153,136 - (34,826) 9,147 (488) 117 - 21,209 148,294

Net debt 226,386 96,806 (34,152) 20,704 (1,259) (5) - 17,471 325,949
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Cash changes Non-cash changes

(in thousands 
of euros)

Jan.�01,�
2019

Increase Reduction Changes in 
the scope of 

consolidation

Translation 
adjustment

Change 
in fair 
value

Change in 
method

Other 
non-cash 
changes

31 Dec. 
2019

Loans from 
credit  
institutions 

545,624 57,000 (64,695) - 401 (533) - (833) 536,964

Restatement 
of leasing 
contracts 

4,723 965 (837) - - - - - 4,851

Debenture 
loans - - - - - - - - -

Other finan-
cial liabilities 668 - (541) - 1 - - (46) 82

Bank  
overdrafts - 584 - - - - - - 584

Financial 
liabilities 551,015 58,549 (66,073) - 402 (533) - (879) 542,481

Cash  
equivalents (243) - (1,033) - - - - - (1,276)

Cash (271,542) - (196,413) - - - - - (467,955)

Cash 
and cash 
equivalents

(271,785) - (197,446) - - - - - (469,231)

Net debt 
excluding 
IFRS 16 lease 
liabilities 

279,230 58,549 (263,519) - 402 (533) - (879) 73,250

IFRS 16 lease 
liabilities - - (27,494) - 85 (725) 166,113 15,157 153,136

Net debt 279,230 58,549 (291,013) - 487 (1,258) 166,113 14,278 226,386
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On October 30, 2014, the Group placed a “Schuldscheindarlehen” 
debt instrument (placement subject to German law). This funding 
related initially to an amount of €140 million with a 5- to 7-year 
maturity, comprising fixed and floating portions (fully hedged by 
a swap contract). At the end of December 2017, partial payments 
were made for all floating portions, i.e. €67 million for the 5-year 
tranche and €13.5 million for the 7-year tranche; as at December 
31, 2020, there was still one tranche of €7.5 million, with an October 
2021 maturity date .

On October 31, 2017, the Group issued a further Schuldscheindarlehen 
debt instrument for an amount of €450 million, comprising five 
fixed and floating tranches of 5-, 7- and 10-year maturities, with 
an average cost of financing slightly below 1.5%.

Short-term credit facilities :

 ■  On June 30, 2016, AKKA Technologies signed a revolving 
credit facility for €200 million for a five years period, replacing 
the 2014 contract. The two extension options (2x1 year) have 
been exercised, extending maturity to seven years;

 ■  During the first quarter of 2017, AKKA Technologies also set 
up a NEU CP (Negotiable European Commercial Paper) 
program with a maximum envelope of €300 million as at 
the reporting date;

 ■  On August 1, 2019, AKKA Technologies signed an additional 

revolving credit facility contract for an amount of €355 million 
and a period of five years. The first extension option (1 year) 
was exercised in August 2020, extending maturity to six years. 
A second extension option is exercisable in August 2021;

 ■  On September 30, 2019, AKKA Technologies signed an ad-
ditional revolving credit facility contract for an amount of 
€15 million and a period of five years. The first extension 
option (1 year) was exercised in September 2020, extending 
maturity to six years. A second extension option is exercisable 
in September 2021;

 ■  AKKA Technologies is also a co-borrower with its subsidiary 
PDS Tech in a revolving contract for an amount of USD 50 
million, expiring in 2022;

 ■  Following the acquisition of Data Respons in March 2020, a 
revolving contract for NOK 450 million, expiring in 2023, was 
incorporated into the Group’s financing capacity.

As at December 31, 2020, amounts drawn on these short-term 
credit facilities are €183.7 million, the entire RCF of €15 million, 
€150 million out of the €355 million RCF, €7.3 million out of the USD 
50 million RCF and €11.4 million out of the NOK 450 million RCF.

Pledges and guarantees amounted to €0 as at December 31, 2019. 
As at December 31, 2020, the loan of NOK 450 million is guaranteed 
by the pledge, on the one hand, of 100% of the securities of the 
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significant subsidiaries of Data Respons, and on the other hand, 
of its current and non-current assets for an amount of NOK 67 
million. In addition:

 ■  In the context of acquisitions, no vendor guarantees nor 
any warranty clauses covering assets and liabilities through 
sureties are in force as at December 31, 2020;

 ■  With the application of IFRS 16, off-balance sheet commit-
ments related to property lease guarantees are no longer re-
quired because these commitments are included in Liabilities 
in the balance sheet.

As at December 31, 2020, the “covenants” negotiated with the 
Group’s banks were as follows:

 ■ The two Schuldscheindarlehen debt instruments:

-  Leverage ratio (definition excluding the effects of IFRS 16): 
Net financial debt covenant / adjusted EBITDA <4.0x as at 
December 31 of each year;

-  Gearing ratio (definition excluding the effects of IFRS 16): 
Net financial debt covenant / equity <1.75x as at December 
31 of each year.

 ■ The revolving credit facility:

 -  Leverage ratio (IFRS definition): Net financial debt covenant 
/ adjusted EBITDA <4.5x (<5.0x for acquisitions) as at June 
30 and December 31 of each year.

The calculation of financial aggregates used to determine the 
ratios above is defined contractually with the investors, and ad-
justments are made to the aggregates on the basis of the financial 
statements according to the contractual rules.

The Group was in compliance with these ratios as at December 
31, 2020.

Schuldscheindarlehen debt instrument to hedge the risks of a 
possible increase in future 6-month Euribor interest rates.

The derivative financial instrument is a swap contract with the 
following characteristics: 

 ■  Swap at a fixed rate of 0.710% (matures on October 30, 2021) 
for an amount of €13.5 million.

This hedging instrument meets the definition of a cash flow hedge: 
the hedging classification was maintained given that the floating 

rate tranche of the new Schuldscheindarlehen instrument has 
the same underlying instrument and interest payment dates as 
the previous one, with a higher notional value. Its fair value was 
recorded as €122 thousand in Other comprehensive income as 
at December 31, 2020.

Consolidated gross debt excluding IFRS 16 as at December 31, 
2020, was €645,567 thousand, of which €7,500 thousand falls 
due within a year.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group 
borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. As at 
December 31, 2020, 22% (€139.4 million) of Group’s net financial 

debt was at a fixed rate, and 78% (€ 508.8 millions) at a floating 
rate. A 1% increase in market interest rates would have had an 
impact of €2.5 million of loss for the Group.

4.13.1. Interest rate risk

Nature of loans taken 
(in thousands of euros)

Company 
bearing 
the loan

Initial  
amount 

Currency Total amount  
of loans taken out 
as at Dec. 31, 
2020

Maturity

2014 SSD loan AKKA Technologies 21,000 Euro 7,500 Oct.-21

2017 SSD loan AKKA Technologies 317,500 Euro 317,500 Oct.-22

2017 SSD loan AKKATechnologies 127,500 Euro 127,500 Oct.-24

2017 SSD loan AKKATechnologies 5,000 Euro 5,000 Oct.-27

RCF EUR AKKA Technologies n.a. Euro 150,000 August-25

RCF EUR AKKA Technologies n.a. Euro 15,000 Sept.-25

RCF USD PDS Tech n.a. USD 7,334 May-23

RCF NOK Data Respons n.a. NOK 11,370 April-22

Other non-material loans - - - 4,421 -

Total�financial�liabilities� 
as at December 31, 2020 645,625
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As at December 31, 2020, the AKKA Technologies Group had 
available cash of €467,970 thousand, entirely composed of cash. 
There were no cash equivalents as at December 31, 2020. 

The Group issued ODIRNANE bonds for €175 million during the 2019 
financial year to ensure the growth of its business. The ODIRNANE 
bonds’ main characteritics and accounting analysis leading to 
record this financial instrument in equity, including the existence 
of “step up” for interests at 9% + EURIBOR (vs fixed rate of 3.5% 
until this date) are described in Note 2.14 

Consequently, the amount of ODIRNANE bonds is not included 
in the net debt number presented above. 

The Group has conducted a specific review of its liquidity risk and 
considers itself able to meet its future payment commitments.

Since current assets were substantially greater than current liabili-
ties as at December 31, 2020, no detailed disclosures are provided 
in respect of maturities of less than one year.

4.13.3. Foreign Exchange risk

Outside the Euro Zone, the Group has operations in the United 
Kingdom, Norway, Switzerland, Romania, Turkey, the Czech 
Republic, Morocco, China, Japan, Singapore, Dubai, Qatar, the 

United States and Canada. These operations accounted for 33.4% 
of the consolidated revenue in 2020, compared with 24.8% in 2019. 

Purchases and Sales Flows in local currency are more or less bal-
anced, except for operations in the Czech Republic, where services 
are billed in euro but expenses are incurred in local currency.

Investments made using currencies other than the euro accounted 
for 9.2% of consolidated investments in 2020, compared with 
4.8% in 2019.

4.13.4. Investment and 
counterparty risk

There is no counterparty risk as investments are confined to 
front-ranking financial institutions.

Owing to its position as a service provider and to the factoring 
agreement, the cash management policy of the AKKA Technologies 
Group does not include the acquisition of cash equivalents by the 
operating subsidiaries. 

AKKA Technologies is therefore not exposed to investment risk 
at this time.

4.13.2. Liquidity risk

Consolidated financial statements06

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Non-current financial liabilities 635,523 467,712

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 114,671 123,415

Current financial liabilities 10,102 74,769

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities 33,623 29,721

Consolidated�gross�financial�debt 793,919 695,616

Cash and cash equivalents (467,970) (469,231)

Consolidated�net�financial�debt 325,949 226,386
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Liabilities due in less than one year totaled €279,145 thousand.

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Current social security liabilities 170,064 109,231

Non-current social security liabilities 66,415 -

Total social security liabilities 236,479 109,231

Current tax liabilities excluding income tax 109,081 108,277

Non current tax liabilities excluding income tax 634 -

Total tax liabilities excluding income tax 109,715 108,277

Total tax and social security liabilities excluding income tax 346,194 217,507

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Deferred revenue 26,895 23,734

Advances received from customers 13,431 9,948

Other items 14,219 7,810

Total other liabilities 54,545 41,491

4.14. Tax and social security liabilities excluding income tax

4.15. Other liabilities

4.16. Earn-out liabilities 
(in thousands of euros) Current Non current TOTAL

January�1,�2020 2,314 0 2,314

Changes in the scope of consolidation 10,264 30,616 40,880

Payments (13,510) (13,510)

Changes related to operating parameters (8,817) (8,817)

Changes related to financial parameters 1,594 1,594

Translation adjustments 3 10 13

Reclassifications 12,564 (12,564) 0

Other (47) (47)

December 31, 2020 11,588 10,839 22,427
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4.17. Financial instruments

(in thousands of euros)

December 31, 2020

Book value Fair value

Hedge 
accounting

Fair value 
through 

the income 
statement

Amortized 
cost

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Securities held for sale - -  - - - -

Other non-current assets - - 49,867 - - -

Trade receivables and contract 
assets - - 191,984 - - -

Other current assets related to 
operating activities - - 35,161 - - -

Cash and cash equivalents - 467,971 467,971 - -

ASSETS - 467,971 277,012 467,971 - -

Non-current borrowings and 
derivatives - - 635,523 - - -

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities - - 114,671 - - -

Non-current earn-out liabilities - 10,839 - - - 10,839

Current borrowings and derivatives - - 10,102 - - -

Current IFRS 16 lease liabilities - - 33,623 - - -

Trade payables - - 125,373 - - -

Current earn-out liabilities - 11,588 - - - 11,588

Other current liabilities - - 27,650 - - -

LIABILITIES - 22,427 946,943 - - 22,427

(1) Designated upon initial recognition

Consolidated financial statements06



161	 - Annual report 2020

(in thousands of euros)

December 31, 2019

Book value Fair value

Hedge 
accounting

Fair value 
through 

the income 
statement

Amortized 
cost

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Securities held for sale - 366 - 366 - -

Other non-current assets - - 44,513 - - -

Trade receivables and contract 
assets - - 224,806 - - -

Other current assets related to 
operating activities - - 28,078 - - -

Marketable securities and other 
current financial assets - 1,276 - 1,276 - -

Cash and cash equivalents - 467,955 - 467,955 - -

ASSETS - 469,598 297,396 469,598 - -

Non-current borrowings and 
derivatives - - 463,511 - - -

Non-current liabilities on finance 
leases - - 4,201 - - -

Non-current IFRS 16 lease liabilities - - 123,415 - - -

Current borrowings and derivatives - - 74,247 - - -

Current liabilities on finance leases - - 522 - - -

Current IFRS 16 lease liabilities - - 29,721 - - -

Trade payables - - 114,560 - - -

Current liabilities on company 
acquisitions - 2,314 - - - 2,314

Other current liabilities - 17,792 - - -

LIABILITIES 2,314 827,969 - - 2,314

(1) Designated upon initial recognition

The Group’s assets are mainly Level 1 (term deposits) and Level 2 (quoted market price in an active market). Level 2 (fair value determined 
by reference to observable data) relates to derivative contracts. Level 3 (fair value determined by reference to data not observable 
on a market) is applicable only for earn-out debt. 
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5.  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS 
STATEMENT 
5.1. Net cash position at year-end

5.2. Change in working capital

5.3. Impact of changes in the scope of consolidation

5.4. Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company

Consolidated financial statements06

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Cash 467,970 467,955

Cash equivalents (0) 1,276

Cash and cash equivalents 467,970 469,231

(in thousands of euros) Dec. 31, 2020 Dec. 31, 2019

Inventories 3,591 3,214

Trade receivables and contract assets 82,763 46,429

Other receivables 14,543 (14,991)

Other non-current assets (2,831) 13,307

Trade payables (25,732) (10,860)

Tax and social security liabilities 145,685 (20,364)

Other liabilities (excluding liabilities related to the acquisition of fixed assets) 6,361 2,395

Change in net working capital 224,380 19,131

in 2020 in 2019

Amount of dividend paid (in thousands of euros) - 14,026

Dividend per share (in euros) - 0.70

Adjusted dividend per share (in euros) (*) - 0.64

Cash includes funds made available by the factor but not utilized for an amount of €21,481 thousand as at December 31, 2020 and 
€50,264 thousand as at December 31, 2019.

The effect of changes in the scope of consolidation corresponds to earn-out and acquisition price paid net of cash contributed by 
the acquired companies.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board of Directors decided that no dividend would be paid for the 2020 financial year. 

* after taking into account the allocation of one free share per every 10 after distribution
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6. FEES PAID TO AUDITORS
The following table provides information about the fees paid by AKKA Technologies SE, its fully consolidated subsidiaries and its joint 
activities to each of the statutory auditors, responsible for auditing the annual and consolidated financial statements of the AKKA Group.

None.

7. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Amounts in thousands of euros 2020 2019

EY EY

Statutory audit

AKKA Technologies SE 102 97

Fully consolidated subsidiaries 694 498

Statutory audit - Total 796 595

% of total fees 61.8% 54.2%

Non-audit services 492 502

% of total fees 38.2% 45.8%

TOTAL� 1.288 1.097

% of total fees 100.0% 100.0%
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8. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES  
8.1. Transactions between the Group and related parties

8.2. Directors’ and executive officers’ Compensation 

Transactions between the Group and its fully consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated in the financial statements and are not detailed 
in the Notes.

The Ricci Family Group held 38.9% of the shares and 51.3% of the voting rights as at December 31, 2020.

With the exception of remuneration transactions shown in paragraph 8.2, the effects on the consolidated accounts of the main trans-
actions between the Group and the companies controlled by the main shareholder were as follows:

With the exception of shares allocated as Directors’ fees in 2020 and 2019 (see above), no free shares were granted to the Directors’ 
and Executive officers’ of AKKA Technologies, and no options were exercised as part of a stock option plan. 

(*) Contract termination indemnity
(**) In 2020, 25% of the amount indicated was paid in the form of company shares

(in thousands of euros) 2020 2019

Consolidated income statement

Amortization of IFRS 16 rights of use 6.3 6.3

IFRS 16 interest expenses 1.3 1.4

Consolidated balance sheet

IFRS 16 rights of use 50.2 54.1

Security deposit on leases 2.8 1.1

Loans given 12.0 -

IFRS 16 lease liabilities 51.4 54.6

(in thousands of euros) 2020 2019

Fixed remuneration 5,529 5,545

Variable remuneration - -

Exceptional remuneration (*) 947 -

Directors’ fees (**) 160 145

Benefits in kind - -

Supplementary pension plans Néant Néant

TOTAL�COST�TO�THE�COMPANY 6,636 5,690

Consolidated financial statements06
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9. OTHER INFORMATION
9.1. Financial instruments

9.2. Information relating to risk management

There was no reclassification between the different classes of financial instruments as at December 31, 2020.

In the course of their operations, some companies within the Group 
are subject to audit by tax and social security authorities. The 
Group is subject to regular audits of all its accounting, tax (income 
tax, subsidies, research tax credits, VAT, etc.) and social security 
(social security contributions and wages-based taxes ) reporting 
obligations, for subsidiaries operating both in France and abroad.

Ongoing disputes with the tax administration relate mainly to 
research tax credits (“CIR”) and, in particular, to the manner in 
which expenses incurred by approved subcontracting companies 
for the determination of their own research tax credit are taken 
into account.

The Group has reassessed the value of research tax credit receiv-
ables recoverable as at December 31, 2020 to take account of the 
developments of ongoing disputes and of law case.

As a reminder, €13.3 million of additional receivable was recorded 
in 2019 related to the litigation from 2008 to 2009, in accordance 
to the decision of the Paris administrative court of Appeal (CAA) 
in December 2019.

Recent favorable developments of jurisprudence (Cap Gemini 
/ Altran decision of Versailles administrative court of January 

2019, the AKKA decision of December 2019, Takima judgment by 
the Council of State of September 2020) enabled the Group to 
recognize in 2020 additional receivables of €2.3 million related 
to the years 2008 to 2009, and of €7.7 million related to the years 
2010 to 2013. Having consulted its advisors, the Group estimated 
that the unfavorable decision of Versailles administrative court of 
March 17, 2021 related to years 2010-2011 doesn’t call into question 
recoverable amount of receivables recognized as of December 31, 
2020. The Group believes it has solid grounds to obtain cancella-
tion of the above judgment by the Council of State and a positive 
outcome at the end of the legal procedure.

The effects above are included in the subsidies’ amounts men-
tioned in Note 3.3.

In addition, net research tax credit receivables recognized in the 
2020 accounts amount to €29.9 million (recognized in Non-current 
other assets) compared with €44.2 million as at December 31, 2019 
(€27.2 million of which was included in Non-current other assets 
and €17 million in Other receivables).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF AKKA TECHNOLOGIES SE FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
As required by law and the Company’s articles of association, we report to you as statutory auditor of AKKA Technologies SE (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”). This report includes our opinion on the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 
December 2020, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated state-
ment of cash flows, the statement of changes in consolidated equity for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the notes (all elements 
together the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) as well as our report on other legal and regulatory requirements. These two reports 
are considered one report and are inseparable. 

We have been appointed as statutory auditor by the shareholders’ meeting of 3 May 2018, in accordance with the proposition by the 
Board of Directors following recommendation of the Audit Committee. Our mandate expires at the shareholders’ meeting that will de-
liberate on the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ending 31 December 2020. We performed the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Group during 3 consecutive years. 

This report is a free translation of the French original 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Unqualified�opinion�

We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of AKKA 
Technologies SE, that comprise of the consolidated balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated income statement, 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the con-
solidated statement of cash flows, the statement of changes in 
consolidated equity of the year and the disclosures, which show 
a consolidated balance sheet total of € 1.975.152 thousand and 
of which the consolidated income statement shows a loss for the 
year of € 167.907 thousand. 

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated net equity and financial position 
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated results for the 
year then ended, prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 
(“IFRS”) and with applicable legal and regulatory requirements 
in Belgium. 

Basis�for�the�unqualified�opinion�

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. 

We have complied with all ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements in Belgium, 
including those with respect to independence. 

We have obtained from the Board of Directors and the officials of 
the Company the explanations and information necessary for the 
performance of our audit and we believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judg-
ment, were of most significance in our audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the current reporting period. 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and consequently we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. 

Revenue�recognition�on�fixed-price�contracts

Description of the key audit matter 

The Group executes amongst others fixed-price contracts and the 
contribution of those contracts to the total consolidated revenues 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 is significant. 

As indicated in note 2.1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
the revenues and the margins of such contracts are recognized 
based on the basis of work completed. 

For fixed-price contracts, the services are recognised on the basis 
of work completed, taking into account an estimate of the amount 
remaining to complete the contract. For fixed-price contracts, 
where the work completed plus what remains to be done to fulfil the 
contract exceeds the total revenue from the contract, the excess 
amount is recognised as “provision for losses on completion” in 
liabilities, under the heading “current provisions”. 

The recognition of the revenues and margin of fixed-price contracts 
was considered to be a key audit matter due to their volume and 
significance on the Consolidated Financial Statements and due to 
the inherently judgmental estimations used on the determination 
of the progress et the expected costs to complete the contract, 
as indicated in note 1.3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Summary of the procedures performed 

 ■  We have examined the internal control system, including 
management review controls, relating to the process of con-
tract follow up, the revenue and margin recognition, and, 
when applicable, the provisions for losses on completion. We 
have performed tests, on a sample basis, on the key internal 
controls implemented in the main companies of the Group.

 ■  We have tested, on a sample basis, the consistency between 
the accounting data and the analytical and management 
data on which contract management and follow-up are 
performed.

 ■  For a selection of contracts, we have determined on the basis 
of multiple criteria deemed relevant in relation to the risks 
incurred, corroborated the main assumptions used for their 
recognition at the reporting date (percentage of completion, 
costs already incurred and costs yet to be incurred) with 
the information obtained during interviews with the teams 
in charge of contract management and follow-up, as well 
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as with the information and the technical and commercial 
documentation collected.

 ■  We have also assessed the adequacy and completeness of the 
information disclosed in notes 2.1, 1.3 et 3.1 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Impairment test on goodwill 

Description of the key audit matter Goodwill resulting from the 
Group’s acquisitions was recognised as an asset in the consolidated 
balance sheet for a total amount of € 691,4 million, or 35% of total 
assets as of 31 December 2020. 

It is allocated to 10 cash-generating units (CGU) corresponding 
to geographical areas. In conformity with IAS 36 “Impairment of 
Assets”, the Group carries out impairment tests at least once a 
year, in accordance with the methods described in notes 2.9 and 
4.2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

These tests are performed by CGU or group of CGUs, based on a 
5 year projection of free cash flows related to the activity (oper-
ating cash flows, movements in working capital and investments) 
when applicable increased with related Research & Development 
grants. This projection is determined using the CGU's budget data 
and taking into account past experience and future prospects, 
considering the effect of Covid-19 on the budgets. Beyond this 
horizon, the Group calculates a terminal value of the CGU cor-
responding to the discounting of the net cash flows linked to the 
activity to infinity. 

The discount rate is determined in accordance with IFRS and cal-
culated taking into account a risk-free rate, a risk premium linked 
to the equity market and a sector beta. Based on the localization 
of CGUs or groupings of CGUs presenting goodwill, a country risk 
premium has been taken into account. 

The determination of the recoverable amount of the CGUs is based 
on significant estimates and assumptions made by Management, 
relating in particular to the discount rate, 5-year projections and 
the perpetual growth rate, to which the valuation is sensitive. 

These various factors led us to consider the valuation of goodwill 
as a key audit matter. 

Summary of the procedures performed 

 ■  We examined the internal control environment and the com-
pliance with prevailing accounting standards of the methods 
used by management to measure goodwill.

 ■  We have compared the cash flow projections with the budgets 
and medium-term plans drawn up by management, and ana-
lysed their consistency with the Group’s past performance and 
the economic environment in which it operates, considering 
the impacts of Covid-19 on the budgets;

 ■  We have critically examined the methods and parameters 
used to determine the discount rates applied to projected 
cash flows, by recalculating them, comparing them with those 
used by leading financial analysts and comparing them with 
our internal databases, with the support of our valuation 
specialists;

 ■  We have assessed the relevance of the sensitivity scenarios 
used by management and the relative information presented 
in the note 4.2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

 ■  We also have assessed the adequacy and completeness 
of the information included in notes 2.9, 4.1 et 4.2 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Accounting for restructuring provisions 

Description of the key audit matter

The Group's performance was strongly impacted by the Covid-19 
pandemic and led the Group to initiate restructuring plans. As 
of 31 December 2020, a provision for restructuring is recognized 
for an amount of € 80 million. As described in Note 4.12 of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, this provision mainly concerns 
restructuring actions undertaken in France and Germany. 

As described in Note 2.18, obligations towards third parties result-
ing from past events, whether legal, regulatory, contractual or 
constructive, are subject to the recognition of a provision when 
the Group has a current obligation, legal or constructive, resulting 
from past events, existing independently of future actions of the 
Group, and that it is probable that they will give rise to an outflow 
of economic resources. 

The measurement and disclosure of these restructuring plans are 
a key audit matter since they include significant judgment from 
management and because it has a significant impact on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Summary of the procedures performed 

 ■  We obtained an understanding of the conditions and time-
tables of the restructuring plans,

 ■  We assessed whether the recognition criteria for the rec-
ognition of provisions as defined by IAS 37 were met at 31 
December 2020,

 ■  We reviewed the assumptions used by management to de-
termine the provisions,

 ■  We tested the accuracy of the calculations of the provisions 
and compared the base salary data used in the calculations 
with average annual salaries of the applicable categories 
of workers.

 ■  We also have assessed the adequacy and completeness of the 
information included in notes 4.12 et 2.18 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.
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 ■  obtaining insight in the system of internal controls that are 
relevant for the audit and with the objective to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control;

 ■  evaluating the selected and applied accounting policies, and 
evaluating the reasonability of the accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board of Directors as well as 
the underlying information given by the Board of Directors;

 ■  conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ 
use of the going-concern basis of accounting, and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether or not a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s or Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 
to cease to continue as a going-concern;

 ■  evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements, and evaluating 
whether the Consolidated Financial Statements reflect a 
true and fair view of the underlying transactions and events.

We communicate with the Audit Committee within the Board of 
Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also 
responsible for directing, supervising and performing the audits of 
the subsidiaries. In this respect we have determined the nature and 
extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. 

We provide the Audit Committee within the Board of Directors 
with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee within 
the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our report, unless the law 
or regulations prohibit this.

Responsibilities�of�the�Board�of�Directors�for�the�prepa-
ration of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with IFRS and with applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements in Belgium and for such internal controls relevant to 
the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements, 
the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, and provide, if applicable, 
information on matters impacting going concern, The Board of 
Directors should prepare the financial statements using the going 
concern basis of accounting, unless the Board of Directors either 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease business operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
Consolidated Financial Statements are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error, and to express an opin-
ion on these Consolidated Financial Statements based on our 
audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and considered ma-
terial if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

In performing our audit, we comply with the legal, regulatory and 
normative framework that applies to the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements in Belgium. However, a statutory audit does 
not provide assurance about the future viability of the Company 
and the Group, nor about the efficiency or effectiveness with which 
the board of directors has taken or will undertake the Company's 
and the Group’s business operations. Our responsibilities with 
regards to the going concern assumption used by the board of 
directors are described below. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and we maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. We also perform the following tasks:

 ■  identification and assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the Consolidated Financial Statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, the planning and execution of audit pro-
cedures to respond to these risks and obtain audit evidence 
which is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting material misstatements 
resulting from fraud is higher than when such misstatements 
result from errors, since fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control;

07 Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Responsibilities�of�the�Board�of�Directors�

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and the 
content of the Board of Directors’ report on the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and the non-financial information attached 
to the Board of Directors’ report. 

Responsibilities of the auditor 

In the context of our mandate and in accordance with the addi-
tional standard to the ISAs applicable in Belgium, it is our respon-
sibility to verify, in all material respects, the Board of Directors’ 
report on the Consolidated Financial Statements, the non-financial 
information attached to the Board of Directors’ report, as well as 
to report on these matters. 

Aspects�relating�to�Board�of�Directors’�report�

In our opinion, after carrying out specific procedures on the Board 
of Directors’ report, the Board of Directors’ report is consistent with 
the Consolidated Financial Statements and has been prepared 
in accordance with article 3:32 of the Code of companies and 
associations. 

In the context of our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
we are also responsible to consider whether, based on the infor-
mation that we became aware of during the performance of our 
audit, the Board of Directors’ report contains any material incon-
sistencies or contains information that is inaccurate or otherwise 
misleading. In light of the work performed, there are no material 
inconsistencies to be reported. 

The non–financial information required by article 3:32, § 2, of 
the Code of companies and associations has been included in 
the Board of Directors’ report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The Company has prepared this non-financial in-
formation based on Global Reporting Initiative. However, we 
do not comment on whether this non-financial information has 
been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with Global 
Reporting Initiative. 

Independence matters 

Our audit firm and our network have not performed any ser-
vices that are not compatible with the audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and have remained independent of the 
Company during the course of our mandate. 

The fees related to additional services which are compatible with 
the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements as referred to 
in article 3:65 of the Code of companies and associations were duly 
itemized and valued in the notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Other communications 

 ■  This report is consistent with our supplementary declaration 
to the Audit Committee as specified in article 11 of the regu-
lation (EU) nr. 537/2014.

Diegem, 26 April 2021 

EY Bedrijfsrevisoren BV Statutory auditor Represented by 

Eric Van Hoof * 

Partner 

*Acting on behalf of a BV/SRL
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I, the undersigned, Mauro Ricci, Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, hereby declare 
that, to the best of my knowledge:

a)  The financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and earnings of the issuer and the entities included 
in the consolidation;

b)  The management report includes an accurate review of the business developments, earnings and financial po-
sition of the issuer and of the entities included in the consolidation, as well as a description of the main risks and 
uncertainties faced by these entities.

Mauro Ricci

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

1. CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ANNEX08
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